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Introduction
The Marine Institute is the national agency for marine research, 
technology, development and innovation. It seeks to assess 
and realise the economic potential of Ireland’s marine resource, 
promote sustainable development of marine industry through 
strategic funding programmes and essential scientific services, 
as well as safeguard Ireland’s natural marine resource through 
research and environmental monitoring.

Ireland has a marine area of approx 880,000 km2 under the 
sea, which is over ten times its land area. This represents an 
enormous seabed and marine resource.  The Marine Institute 
promotes the sustainable development of this vast marine 
resource through research, the application of new technologies 
and by providing credible science-based advice to industry, the 
Government and the EU.

The Institute provides essential marine research services 
including:

• National research and development funding programmes
• Fish stock assessment and management advice
• Fish health services
• Marine food safety monitoring
• Environmental monitoring
• Research vessel operations
• Seabed mapping
• Data management
• Maritime development services.

The Marine Institute has six service areas and the Office of the 
CEO. The service areas include:

• Corporate Services
• Ocean Science and Information Services
• Marine Environment and Food Safety Services
• Fisheries Ecosystems Advisory Services
• Irish Maritime Development Office
• Policy, Innovation and Research Support.

The organisation is supported by a strong focus on corporate 
governance, integrity and ethical conduct, with an emphasis 
on prudent financial management, which was an important 
contributor to the success of the Institute during the challenging 
economic period up to 2016. This report highlights the key 
deliverables and progress made towards our vision during 2016.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Marine Institute Headquarters, Galway. Photographer Johnathan White
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Board Members

Dr John Killeen is an engineer and a native of County 
Roscommon who became an Honorary Freeman of 
Galway City in 2012. His career spans working with 
Local Government, with a multi-national construction 
company (which built the Grand Canal tunnel in Dublin 
in 1973) and seven years with a Shell International 
subsidiary. Dr Killeen was President of Engineers 
Ireland 1995-1996 and founding President of the 
Academy of Engineering in Ireland 1996-1998. He is a 
retired CEO of the Colas Group in Ireland and a retired 
managing director of Cold Chon Galway Ltd. Dr Killeen 

was appointed to the West Northwest Hospitals Group 
Board in 2013 and is currently acting as the Interim 
Chair. In 2009 he was chairman of the Volvo Ocean 
Race event in Galway and in 2012 was president of 
the Volvo Ocean Race Festival and finale. This event 
broke all attendance records for a sporting event in 
Ireland and was worth about €80m in tourism and 
business income to the city. Dr Killeen is President of 
the Timoney Leadership Institute - a charity which 
promotes international leadership training for Irish 
CEO’s.

Dr John Killeen (2014 – 2019)

Professor Patricia Barker is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Ireland, having qualified 
in 1973. Prof Barker completed an MPhil in Gender 
Studies at Trinity College Dublin. Her PhD developed 
a paradigm of disclosure of financial information to 
employees in organisations. She served her articles 
with Stokes Bros & Pim in Dublin and worked for 
Peat Marwick Mitchell in Manchester. Prof Barker 
later became a partner in an accounting practice in 
Manchester for six years, and worked in Manchester 
University as a principal lecturer. 

Prof Barker was appointed lecturer in Dublin City 
University (DCU) in 1980 and progressed through 
senior lecturer, Associate Dean (Business School) 
and University Vice-President (Academic). She has 
worked as a visiting professor in universities in New 
York, Boston, Angers, Malawi, Dar es Salaam, Sydney 
and Cape Town and has been an external examiner for 
universities and professional bodies. She served as 
Chairman of the Institute of Chartered Accountant’s 
Accounting Committee for eight years and on the 
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants for 
four years in the 1990s. She is currently a member of 
the Council. She represented Ireland on the Accounting 
Standards Board in London for nine years and chaired 

the expert group reporting to the European Union on 
the role, structure and functions of the European Court 
of Auditors. She had several tours of duty as Election 
Supervisor for the Organisation for Security and Co-
operation in Europe (OSCE) in Bosnia-Herzegovina, 
Republika Srpska, South Africa, Kosovo, Kazakhstan 
and Belarus. 

Prof Barker worked as a Human Rights Monitor in 
Israel and Palestine. She has been a member of the 
Boards of Women’s Aid, Sonas Housing Association, 
the National Chamber Choir and the Higher Education 
Authority (chairing the Audit Committee), and was the 
Chairman of the Irish Blood Transfusion Service for 
three years. 

Prof Barker is currently a Director of Dublin Bus Ltd 
and Tallaght Hospital, and is Chair of the Education 
Board of Chartered Accountants Ireland. In addition, 
she is Chair of the Internal Audit Committees for 
the Marine Institute, Dublin Bus and Rehab. She is 
currently a voluntary counsellor and trainer for the 
Dublin Rape Crisis Centre. She has written books on 
Group Accounting, Flexible Working in the profession 
and, more recently, on women who have succeeded 
in the accountancy profession, and on Corporate 
Governance and Professional Ethics. 

Professor Patricia Barker (2013 – 2018)

Mr Dermot Clohessy (BSc Eng) is an engineer by 
profession with post graduate qualifications in both 
Business Strategy & Finance. He has an extensive 
understanding of foreign direct investment having 
spent 28 years with Industrial Development Authority 
Ireland (IDA). 

Mr Clohessy was the IDA’s Executive Director/COO 
from 2006 to 2015 and was directly involved in the 
development and successful implementation of the 
IDA’s corporate strategies during this period. His 
broad responsibilities included expanding the global 
markets in which Ireland competes for investment 
and developing new business areas for foreign direct 

investment into Ireland.

Mr Clohessy was a member and a subcommittee 
chairman of the Development Task Force established 
to support the implementation of Harnessing Our 
Ocean Wealth - an integrated marine plan for 
Ireland. Prior to joining the IDA in 1987, Mr Clohessy 
worked with an engineering design consultancy 
and as technical director of a construction-related 
manufacturing company. 

He is now a strategic advisor with International 
Development Ireland (IDI) - the Irish-based 
International Economic Development Consultancy. 

Mr Dermot Clohessy (2015 - 2020) 
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Professor Alan Dobson studied biochemistry at the 
National University of Ireland, Galway (NUI Galway) 
and following his PhD worked as a Post-Doctoral 
Research Fellow at Baylor College of Medicine in 
Houston, Texas. Professor Dobson then moved to 
the School of Microbiology at University College Cork 
(UCC) where he is currently Chair of Environmental 
Microbiology. 

From 2005 - 2014 Professor Dobson was Director 
of the Environmental Research Institute at UCC. 
His main research interest focuses on the study 
of microorganisms in marine and terrestrial 
environments and their potential biotechnological 
exploitation. His research group have published 
numerous scientific papers in this area. 

Prof Dobson was a Fulbright scholar in 1992 and 
was awarded the Royal Irish Academy Medal in 
Microbiology in 1999. He was subsequently awarded 
a DSc in Microbiology and Molecular Biology in 2005 

from the National University of Ireland and was elected 
as a member of the Royal Irish Academy in 2013.

Prof Dobson has previously been a member of the 
European Space Agency’s Life and Physical Science 
Advisory Committee, 2003 – 2005.  From 2009 - 
2012 was a member of the panel of Experts which 
advised the then Chief Scientific Adviser to the Irish 
Government, Prof Patrick Cunningham. He has also 
been a member of the working group which prepared 
the European Science Foundation and Marine Board 
position paper Marine Biotechnology: A European 
Strategy in 2010 and has been a Member of External 
Review Working Group, monitoring the Quality of 
the Scientific Outputs of the European Food Safety 
Authority  (2012 - 2015). He is currently a member 
of the International Advisory Group of the Marine 
Biotechnology ERA-NET (ERA-MarineBiotech) 
and a Board Member of the International Marine 
Biotechnology Association.

Professor Alan Dobson (2015 - 2020)

Dr Berna Grist BL, a barrister and chartered town 
planner, is Adjunct Professor in the School of 
Architecture, Planning and Environmental Policy at 
University College Dublin. She holds a PhD from the 
University of Ulster on The Legislative and Regulatory 
Framework for Development in the Republic of Ireland 
and has published widely in the fields of planning 
and environmental law, public policy and governance. 
Together with the late James Macken SC, she coedited 
the Irish Planning Law Factbook (2003), which 
she continues to update annually, and in 2012 she 
published the second edition of An Introduction to Irish 
Planning Law.

Dr Grist was appointed Deputy Chairperson of 
the Aquaculture Licences Appeals Board on its 
establishment in 1998. During the period 2001-2006 
she served as a member of An Bord Pleanála and, in 
2013, she was appointed to the Expert Group advising 
the Minister for Housing and Planning on a successor 
to the National Spatial Strategy 2002-2020. She has 
contributed to a number of environmental research 
projects sponsored by the Environmental Protection 
Agency and is a member of the Irish Environmental 
Law Association.

Dr Berna Grist (2016 – May 2017)

Mr Donal Kelly is Managing Director of Fast Fish Ltd, 
a successful fish sales and oil supply business based 
in Castletownbere, County Cork. Mr Kelly served on 
the Celtic Sea Herring Management Committee for ten 
years, and on the West Pelagic Committee for 3 years.

Mr Kelly has served on a number of boards, both 
in the private and voluntary sector including: the 

Cork County Community and Voluntary Forum; the 
Cork County Development Board; and has acted 
as Chairman of Castletownbere GAA Management 
Committee. He is also a member of Berehaven Golf 
Club and the Castletownbere Community Development 
Association.

Mr Donal Kelly (2013 - 2018) 

BOARD MEMBERS  
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Mr Lorcán Ó Cinnéide is currently National Secretary 
of the Irish Fish Processors’ and Exporters Association  
and Board member of the European Fish Processors 
Association. He is a former member of the board of 
the Aquaculture Licences Appeals Board  and a former 
CEO of the Irish Fish Producers Organisation  and 
has participated in many forums and management 
structures related to the fishing industry in Ireland and 
at EU level over the past two decades. He is a member 
of the Sea Fisheries Protection Authority Consultative 
Committee (SFPA). He has also been involved in the 
evaluation of various marine science programmes on 

behalf of the EU Commission.

A former fishing vessel owner, Mr Ó Cinnéide has 
a degree in Economics and Politics from Trinity 
College Dublin. He maintains a wide range of local 
development and conservation interests including TV 
production, and his role as Secretary of the Blasket 
Foundation. He lives in the Dingle Peninsula, County 
Kerry. 

This is Mr Ó Cinnéide second term as a Board member 
of the Marine Institute, and he is a former Chairman of 
the Institute’s Audit Committee.

Mr Lorcán Ó Cinnéide (2015 - 2020)

Mr David Owens FCA is currently Senior Vice 
President, Finance and Operations for SolarWinds. 
Prior to joining SolarWinds, Mr Owens worked for 
Red Hat Inc., an enterprise software company, for over 
seven years, where he served initially as Director of 
Global Logistics and Production and later as Senior 

Director of Finance Europe, Middle East and Africa 
EMEA.

Mr Owens qualified as a chartered accountant with 
Ernst and Young and is a member of Chartered 
Accountants Ireland.

Mr David Owens (2012 - 2017)

Professor J Owen Lewis is Emeritus Professor of 
Architectural Science, University College Dublin (UCD). 
He is Vice President, and chair of the Royal Dublin 
Society Board of Management (founded 1731) and chair 
of the Irish Green Building Council (founded 2011). 
He is a member of the Boards of the Grangegorman 
Development Agency, the National Gallery of Ireland, 
and the Tipperary Energy Agency. 

Prof Lewis is the former Chief Executive Officer of 
Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI) (2009 
– 2012), and was chair of inter-departmental and 

inter-agency Ocean Energy Steering Committee. As a 
qualified architect, engineer, and energy technologist 
he has practised professionally in Ireland, England 
and Zambia. Prof Lewis was Executive Director for 
Innovation and Research and Development at Bord 
na Móna from 2006 to 2008. He was Dean of the 
Faculty of Engineering and Architecture at UCD and 
later Principal of the UCD College of Engineering, 
Mathematical and Physical Sciences 2001 - 2006. In 
1976 he cofounded the Solar Energy Society of Ireland.

Professor J Owen Lewis (2015 - 2020)
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Chairman’s Statement
The Board of the Marine Institute maintained a 
strong focus on corporate governance, during 
2016, focussing on strategic planning and risk 
management with effective engagement with 
the executive management team. The Board 
established a new strategic planning subgroup 
to review the Marine Institute’s Strategic 
Plan and guide the development of a new 
strategy 2018-2022. The Board’s Audit and 
Risk Committee (ARC) also established a new 
business continuity planning process during 
2016. 

The Marine Institute continued to evolve and 
develop during 2016. We are very proud of the 
role that it plays in national and international 
spheres, driving the sustainable development 
of our marine economy and furthering our 
understanding of the ocean.

The organisation prepared a draft plan setting 
out Ireland’s marine research and innovation 
strategy for the period 2017-2021. It provides 
a unified view of marine related funding 
requirements across a range of areas such as 
transport, food, energy and biodiversity. It aims 
to provide a guide for government and funding 
agencies to where there are gaps in marine 
research to meet the needs of society as stated 
in national strategies such as Innovation 2020. 
A draft version of the plan was made available 
for public consultation during November so that 
as many people as possible could contribute 
their feedback, and the final version will be 
published in 2017. 

SeaFest, Ireland’s national maritime festival, 
took place for the first time in Galway (having 
taken place in Cork during 2015) and was highly 
successful. More than 60,000 visitors attended 
over the three days in late June/early July and 
the event enjoyed excellent media coverage and 
engagement on social media. SeaFest is a vital 
outreach event and realises the Harnessing Our 
Ocean Wealth goal of encouraging the public 
to engage with the sea. During SeaFest, global 
leaders in the maritime field came together at 
NUI Galway for Our Ocean Wealth Conference. 
Planning for SeaFest 2017 began during the 
second half of 2016. 

The SmartBay Subsea Observatory in Galway 
Bay was officially launched at SeaFest. As 
Ireland’s first ocean observatory, it collects 
valuable data and will be a critical component 
of a world-class maritime infrastructure in 
Ireland. Ocean energy developers can monitor 
how their devices perform in the ocean and it 
also allows real-time access to monitor ongoing 
changes in the marine environment. The project 
is a collaboration between the Institute, SEAI, 
SmartBay Ireland, MaREI, UCC and DCU. 

In 2016, the Marine Institute launched a Human 
Resources Charter for 2016 –2019, which 
sets out ambitious goals that will support and 
enable a culture of high performance. It also 
focuses on employee engagement, wellbeing, 
career development and recognition. The 
2016 Learning and Development Programme 
continued to ensure programme delivery and 
support of the Great Place to Work initiatives.

These achievements show both the abilities 
and dedication of the people that make 
up the Marine Institute and I’d like to take 
this opportunity to acknowledge Dr Peter 
Heffernan and the Marine Institute staff for their 
achievements this year and their commitment 
to the delivery of excellence in the services they 
provide.   

Dr John Killeen

Chairman, Marine Institute

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 
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2016 was another year of growth and 
innovation for the Marine Institute as it 
delivered key projects relating to national 
marine research infrastructure and continued 
to expand on its international collaborative 
achievements in marine research. 

It was a very busy year for the Institute’s 
research programmes. The RV Celtic Explorer 
and RV Celtic Voyager collectively completed 
637 science days and 63 surveys, including 
several internationally co-ordinated surveys. 
The RV Celtic Voyager completed 69 days 
of INFOMAR (INtegrated Mapping FOr the 
Sustainable Development of Ireland’s MArine 
Resource) survey and 3,140 km2 of seabed 
was surveyed in total off the south and west 
coasts. There were significant advances in 
oceanographic activity in 2016 particularly 
in the area of operational modelling, marine 
climate change and in development of potential 
new EU funded projects. Undergraduate and 
postgraduate students from a wide range of 
third level institutions took part in training 
onboard the RV Celtic Voyager and both of 
our research vessels were key attractions to 
visitors at SeaFest. As the RV Celtic Voyager 
approaches her twenty year anniversary in 
2018, lifecycle issues coupled with forward 
planning have resulted in preparatory work 
being undertaken by the Institute for the 
replacement of the vessel. A detailed business 
case has been forwarded to Government for 
consideration.  

The Marine Institute led Atlantic Ocean 
Research Alliance Co-ordination and Support 
Action (AORA-CSA) had a productive year. 
Three more Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance 
(AORA) Atlantic survey transects were 
undertaken including the RV Celtic Explorer 
conducting a transect from Newfoundland, 
Canada, to Galway, Ireland, in May and a survey 
undertaken by a Canadian Coast Guard vessel 
from Nova Scotia, Canada, to Tromsø, Norway, 
in July and August.

The Institute was involved in two award 
winning projects during 2016. In September, 
AORA-CSA received the first Atlantic Project 
Award for International Cooperation. The 
project was recognised as an outstanding 
success story in the Atlantic area, highlighting 
international best practice and promoting the 
key priorities of the European Union’s Atlantic 

Strategy and Atlantic Action Plan.

In November, the Marine Institute and IMERC 
(Irish Maritime and Energy Resource Cluster) 
were awarded the International Maritime 
Partner Award at the Blue Tech and Blue 
Economy Summit in San Diego. The award 
shows the high regard for the work that the 
Institute is doing with our colleagues at IMERC 
to bring together marine innovators and create 
an environment that promotes collaboration to 
develop BlueTech solutions for a global market. 

We maintained a strong focus on the delivery of 
key scientific services, including seafood safety 
and protection of the marine environment. We 
provided scientific and technical advice to a 
range of agencies including the Department 
of Agriculture Food and the Marine, Food 
Safety Authority of Ireland, Environmental 
Protection Agency and the Department 
of Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment. Internationally, our scientists 
continue to participate in scientific and 
technical fora such as the International Council 
for the Exploration of the Seas (ICES) and the 
Oslo and Paris Convention 1992 (OSPAR). 

We produced the annual Stock Book which 
contains the latest scientific advice on 
those stocks fished by the Irish fleet.  This 
was delivered to the Minister in October 
and was a key component in the Minister’s 
sustainability assessment which was presented 
to the Oireachtas in November. It was also a 
valuable reference during EU negotiations that 
determined Ireland’s fishing opportunities for 
2017. 

The Marine Institute continued to perform 
excellent research across a number of 
competitive research funding programmes 
internationally in 2016 with approximately 
€3.5M over 8 projects achieved.

The UK’s decision to leave the EU was a key 
unforeseen feature of the 2016 Fisheries 
Ecosystems Advisory Services (FEAS) work 
programme. FEAS worked closely with the 
Department of Agriculture Food and the Marine 
to provide detailed spatial information on the 
activity of the Irish and international fleets 
operating in EU and UK waters. This provided 
baseline information to assess the impacts of 
Brexit on Ireland’s seafood industry. 

Chief Executive’s Report
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Chief Executive’s Report

Brexit was also examined by the Irish 
Maritime Development Office in terms of the 
business development and inward investment 
opportunities that it presents for the Irish 
maritime sector. In addition, the Harnessing 
Our Ocean Wealth integrated plan has created 
a pipeline of business development projects 
ranging from port development projects to 
opportunities in cruise tourism and marine 
renewable energy. Progress was made on these 
during 2016.

The Institute carried out a public consultation 
process for its application for a new foreshore 
lease for the Galway Bay Marine and Renewable 
Energy Test Site. The site allows technology 
innovators to test the viability of small scale 
prototypes in an ocean environment and has 
been in operation since 2006.

We continued our outreach and education 
programmes during 2016, including our open 
day in November when 250 people visited 
our headquarters in Oranmore, as part of the 
Galway Science and Technology Festival. The 
Explorers Education programme expanded into 
eleven counties, reaching over 6,000 primary 
school students, promoting the importance 
of our ocean through interactive classroom 
and fieldwork projects. The programme also 
ran a pilot student teacher training module in 
collaboration with DCU St Patrick’s Campus.. 

The Marine Institute participated in a number 
of events aimed at promoting awareness of 
science and technology including TeenTech at 
the National University of Ireland Galway (NUI 

Galway) in April, a major science exhibition 
at SeaFest in July, the Galway Science and 
Technology Festival Exhibition, and the Mayo 
Science and Technology Festival during 
November.

My sincere thanks to all the staff at the Marine 
Institute for their commitment and consistently 
high standard of service delivery provided.  I 
would also like to thank the Board for their 
oversight and diligence in maintaining the 
highest standards of corporate governance 
throughout 2016. 

Dr Peter Heffernan

Chief Executive, Marine Institute

Dr Peter Heffernan, CEO of the Marine Institute presents the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine Michael Creed, TD with the Stock Book which contains the latest scientific advice Irish fish stocks. 
Photographer Jason Clarke Photography

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT 
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The steady improvement in the economic 
environment and the success of the Marine 
Institute in securing competitive research 
projects resulted in continued recruitment and 
a period of significant growth. Throughout 
the year, the focus was on providing an 
efficient, cost effective service to internal and 
external customers.  This was achieved by 
maximising value for money by providing a 
highly-responsive, customer-driven service 
with a clear focus on best practice corporate 
governance.

Highlights of 2016 included:

• Retention of the Excellence Through 
People (ETP) accreditation under the 
NSAI Standard – ETP 1000:2012. ETP is 
Ireland’s only national human resource 
management scheme dedicated to 
the role of people and their impact on 
business. The Marine Institute has held 
this prestigious award continuously since 
2005. It reflects the Institute’s investment 
in our staff that plays a key role in 
maximising the efficiency of our business 
and building organisational capabilities.

• Launch of a Human Resources Charter 
(2016-2019), setting out ambitious goals 
aligned with Marine Institute strategy 
to support and enable a culture of high 
performance.

• The Institute complied with the Code 
of Practice for the Governance of State 
Bodies with governance oversight 
including three internal audits, all of which 
reported high levels of assurance to the 
Board.

• Risk management is an integral part of the 
Institute’s corporate governance and this 
is reported quarterly to the Internal Audit 
Committee and forms part of planning 
and decision-making throughout the 
organisation. Understanding the risks we 
face and managing them appropriately, 
enhances the Institute’s ability to make 
better decisions, deliver on objectives and 
improve performance.

• An organisation-wide energy team was 
established which produced an energy 
reduction strategy and policy. Energy 

reductions of 11 per cent were achieved 
and this continues to be a priority in 2017.

• Hosting of SeaFest 2016 - Ireland’s 
national maritime festival - in Galway from 
29 June to 3 July. The weekend festival 
attracted more than 60,000 visitors and 
is an important outreach event in realising 
the Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth goal of 
engaging the public with the sea.

• Constant focus on health and safety 
practices resulted in no significant 
accidents, and four minor incidents. 
Promotion of health and safety and 
employee wellbeing remains a priority to 
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace.

Mrs Caroline Bocquel

Director:  Corporate Services

Corporate Services 
Director’s Statement
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CORPORATE SERVICES 

Corporate Services Human Resources
2016 saw the launch of the Marine Institute Human Resources 
Charter 2016 - 2019, setting out the objectives and goals 
aligned with the Marine Institute Strategic Plan. The Human 
Resources Team remained committed to supporting a culture 
of high performance while focusing on employee engagement, 
wellbeing and recognition.  The Human Resources programme 
delivered services and supports including recruitment and 
retention; supporting staff to achieve their best through 
continuous learning and development; managing performance; 
promoting positive working relationships; engagement and 
wellbeing; risk management and business continuity planning.  
Significant investment was made in time and focused on 
employee engagement and working with our Great Place to 
Work Group, to support the implementation of programmes and 
policies recommended by staff.

Forty-eight opportunities were filled under the recruitment 
and selection programme. This included core posts and 
consequential vacancies; 24 EU and externally-funded 
temporary posts and a number of graduates under our 
work experience programme across scientific, technical and 
administration disciplines. 

We successfully ran our second Transition Year Week 
programme that offers work experience and training for 20 
students from schools in the local community and across Ireland.

Our Learning and Development Programme continued to ensure 
programme delivery and support of the Great Place to Work 
Initiatives.  Focus was placed on management and personal 
development; helping individuals develop the technical skills to 
settle into new roles, as well as in Information Communications 
Technology (ICT) and career development (encouraging 
employees to look to the future).  Investment of €400,000 
supported mandatory training, essential work-related skills, 
coaching programmes upskilling, retraining and personal 
development, third-level programmes and our graduate 
programme. Our Management Development Programme 
was reinvigorated with a certified programme for recent 
managers and the addition of a module on effectively managing 
performance.

In November, we retained our Excellence Through People 
Certification under the NSAI Standard ETP 1000:2012. 

The Health and Safety committee held six meetings with 
representatives from all locations delivering an ETP Certified 
Programme. More than 18 risk assessments were completed 
of which four minor accidents or incidents were recorded and 
assessed. Our annual Health, Safety and Employee Wellbeing 
promotions took place throughout the year with a focus in 
November and December on physical and mental wellbeing. 
These included workshops on mindfulness, resilience and work-
life balance, counselling, as well as dealing with and managing 
mental health and first-aid.

The management of business risk was independently audited. 
On a quarterly basis, the risk register and quarterly risk 
management report were presented to the internal audit 
committee and Board, and a business continuity policy and 
schedule were reviewed, revised and completed.  

Finance
The Marine Institute continues to comply with and operate 
in accordance with the Code of Practice for the Governance 
of State Bodies 2009 and has made substantial progress in 
meeting the requirement under the new Code of Practice which 
will be effective from January 2017.  The Marine Institute has in 
place a range of procedures, policies and guidelines to ensure 
compliance with the code. The Marine Institute has a properly 
constituted internal audit function in accordance with the 
principles set out in the code of practice and has a formal charter 
that has been approved by the board.

Under the stewardship of the internal ARC, an effective system 
of internal financial controls is maintained and operated by 
the Marine Institute. The three internal audits undertaken 
throughout the year affirmed the Institute’s high standards of 
governance, and ensured that an effective system of internal 
control is maintained and operated. Audits included: internal 
financial controls on bank and cash procedures and fixed assets; 
travel and subsistence; and a risk register review.

All internal audit recommendations arising were actioned and 
reported to the Internal Audit Committee and to the Board. 
The internal audit committee met five times and also met 
with the Comptroller and Auditor General to discuss the audit 
certification received for 2016. The internal audit plan for 
2016-2017 reflects the risks identified in the Marine Institute 
risk register, the requirements of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General and the internal audit committee. 

The Marine Institute has an appropriate public procurement 
process which is compliant with the current value thresholds for 
the application of EU and national rules. Centralised purchasing 
and the use of the Office of Government Procurement has 
proved to be an efficient and effective means of reducing costs 
and generating savings, and will continue into 2017. In 2016, 57 
tenders were issued, of which eight were published in the Official 
Journal of the European Communities. 

It is the Marine Institute’s policy to ensure that all invoices 
are paid promptly within the terms of the Prompt Payment 
of Accounts Act, 1997 and the European Communities (Late 
Payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations, 2012.
Systems and procedures are in place enabling invoices to be 
tracked and to ensure that payments are made in a timely and 
efficient manner. 84 per cent of invoices totalling €25.7m were 
paid within fifteen days to suppliers pursuant to Government 
Decision No. S29296 of 19 May 2009. Procedures are in place 
however, to ensure that late interest is paid, if appropriate.

Facilities
The facilities team provides support, assistance and advice to all 
service areas across the Institute. Its core function is to ensure 
the smooth running of facilities to enable services to be provided 
in an efficient manner. The buildings and their environs are key 
to promoting the Institute as a world-class organisation, and the 
team ensures that general service operates at the same level of 
excellence.

Facilities team members are involved in committees including 
catering, laboratory management, health and safety and energy. 
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Procurement and tendering are key components of the team’s 
areas of expertise, and the team works closely with the Office of 
Government Procurement for tenders and centralised purchases. 

Contractual agreements for operational functions such as 
maintenance, catering, security, grounds maintenance and 
cleaning have been under review and are routinely monitored 
for performance and efficiencies with some of these being re-
tendered in 2017.

The Corporate Services team was tasked with setting up an 
Institute-wide energy team and producing an energy reduction 
strategy and policy. From 2009, all public sector bodies are 
being monitored and tracked for a 33 per cent energy reduction 
by 2020, in line with Ireland’s third National Energy Efficiency 
Action Plan (NEEAP 3).  The Marine Institute was accepted onto 
the Energy Awareness Programme run by SEAI and the Office of 
Public Works (OPW) Optimising Power at Work Programme.

Energy reduction targets and an operational plan were compiled 
by the multi-disciplinary energy team, comprising all levels of 
staff within the laboratory and office teams. The 14 energy goals 
targeted through the policy 2016-2020 are from the following 
areas of the business:

• Lab monitoring and evaluation / operations
• Office/IT equipment
• Behaviour
• Education/awareness
• Building infrastructure.

Behavioural change is key to the success of the programmes and 
this, along with modifications to existing plant and equipment, 
will bring about significant savings to 2020. The team has 
undertaken a full energy audit; two out-of-hours audits in each 
of the three main locations; a heating audit of our headquarters 
in Oranmore as well as laboratory energy reviews and a very 
successful Energy Awareness Day.

Library Services
The Oceanus Library continues to provide Marine Institute 
staff with a sustainable access model to research publications, 
to renew all necessary journal subscriptions and to provide an 
inter-library loan service. The Open Access Repository (http://
oar.marine.ie/) performed well in 2016, providing free online 
full text access to Marine Institute and staff publications. By year 
end, the Repository had provided access to over a thousand 
publications and 12,414 visits from around the globe.

During 2016, the library took on a student through the Institute’s 
Bursary Programme to archive the Commander William King 
collection, which had been donated to the library by Commander 
King’s daughter, Leonie Finn. The library collaborated with 
the applications development team to create a demonstration 
website to showcase the collection.  The website will be 
launched in 2017.

Communications
The Communications team covers activities including media 
relations, online communications, events, education and 
outreach, and library services. 

The Marine Institute hosted and supported a number of events 
throughout the year including SeaFest 2016 - Ireland’s national 
maritime festival, Galway 29 June to 3 July. SeaFest, an initiative 
of the inter-departmental Marine Coordination Group, attracted 
more than 60,000 visitors over the weekend, and incorporated 
events including the annual Our Ocean Wealth Conference (NUI 
Galway, 1 July).  

Open days during the year involved 250 visitors visiting our 
headquarters at Oranmore.  150 primary school students also 
visited our research facility in Newport during the year. 

The Marine Institute participated in events aimed at promoting 
awareness and updating science and technology, including 
TeenTech at the NUI Galway in April; the Galway Science and 
Technology Festival Exhibition, and the Mayo Science and 
Technology Festival during November.

Our website www.marine.ie continues to be a key 
communications platform, where we published 93 news stories 
throughout 2016, attracting 196,540 visits and over 460,000 
page views. We continued to develop social media engagement 
on platforms such as Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter, and our 
scientists@sea blog http://scientistsatsea.blogspot.ie/ where 
scientists aboard RV Celtic Explorer and RV Celtic Voyager share 
their experiences of carrying out scientific research at sea.

The Marine Institute’s Explorer’s Education Programme reached 
over 6,000 primary school students in Donegal, Sligo, Galway, 
Mayo, Clare, Cork, Limerick, Kerry, Waterford, Dublin and 
Wicklow in 2016. This programme promotes the importance 
of our ocean to primary school children through saltwater 
aquariums in classrooms, seashore safaris, marine projects, 
marine workshops and special science and art projects. These 
are delivered along with eight education partners nationwide. 
The Explorers Education Programme also ran a pilot student 
teacher training module in collaboration with DCU St Patrick’s 
Campus.

Accessibility
The Institute was fully compliant with the Disability Act during 
2016.

Mr Craig McLean, NOOA Assistant Administrator for Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Research, USA and Dr Peter Heffernan, CEO of the 
Marine Institute review the ocean literacy artwork produced as 
part of the Explorers Education Programme at the third national 
Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth conference held in July 2016. 
Photograph Andrew Downes, Xposure
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Growth of the Irish economy resulted in a 
commensurate increase in traffic through 
Ireland’s ports.  Ireland relies heavily on the 
maritime sector to provide the port capacity 
needed to meet the needs of our economy, as 
well as providing the shipping services required 
to connect Ireland to important international 
markets.  By promoting Ireland’s maritime 
industry, the IMDO fulfils its statutory mandate 
and plays a vitally important role in facilitating 
economic growth.  It also ensures that the many 
indigenous industries reliant on international 
trade are well served by efficient ports and 
a competitive shipping sector. The IMDO’s 
mandate extends to promoting and supporting 
the development of ports and shipping services 
to include training and education, as well as 
developing the increasingly important maritime 
commerce sector. Maritime commerce is an area 
of high potential, given Ireland’s expertise in 
financing mobile assets, our highly competitive 
tonnage tax regime, and the opportunities that 
will be precipitated by Brexit.

The embeddedness of the maritime industry 
in other industry sectors amplifies the effect 
it has on national competitiveness. As an 
island economy heavily reliant on exports, the 
efficiency of our ports and shipping services 
influences international trade volumes and as 
a result, potential job creation in many sectors 
of the Irish economy. The influence that the 
maritime industry has on the national economic 
performance means that the IMDO’s activities 
extend into related areas, including, but not 
limited to, transport and logistics, marine 
renewable energy, tourism, and financial 
services.

In 2016 the IMDO fulfilled its statutory mandate 
by:

• Promoting the developing shipping 
services to and from Ireland.

• Supporting the growth of Irish ports in line 
with National Ports Policy.

• Encouraging investment in the maritime 

sector from indigenous and international 
sources.

• Carrying out market and economic 
analysis to support policy formulation, 
business development and decision 
making.

• Providing policy advice on the 
development of the industry to the 
Minister and the Department of Transport, 
Tourism and Sport.

• Advancing the highest standards of 
education and training in the industry by 
working closely with education partners 
to develop bespoke courses and modules 
for the maritime sector, and supporting 
continuous professional education in the 
industry.

• Promoting employment and career 
opportunities in the maritime industry 
as set out in the Government’s integrated 
plan for the marine industry, Harnessing 
Our Ocean Wealth.

The IMDO remains centrally involved in 
advancing the ambitions of the Harnessing 
Our Ocean Wealth initiative. In 2016, the 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine 
established the Marine Development Team 
(MDT) to advance the ambitions of this 
initiative and, more specifically, to implement 
the recommendations of the Development 
Task Force that reported in 2015.  This new 
development team reports to the Director of the 
IMDO.

The IMDO continues to both support and 
conduct applied economic research to formulate 
policy advice to the Minister for Transport, 
Tourism and Sport.  Policy advice in this area 
must take into account the implications of 
Brexit. This required the IMDO to review port 
policy and the use of the UK land bridge as a 
route to markets beyond the UK, along with a 
study into the broader implications of Brexit on 
Irish ports and on related shipping and transport 

Irish Maritime 
Development Office 
Director’s Statement

IRISH MARITIME DEVELOPMENT OFFICE 
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sectors.  This research commenced in 2016 and requires access 
to industry information.  The IMDO continues to enjoy the 
confidence and support of the industry, without which this work 
would not be possible.

Recognising the over-arching importance of education to 
the success of the industry, the IMDO continues to serve 
on the advisory board of the National Maritime College of 
Ireland (NMCI), and supports the training of its students 
through the Irish Seafarers Education Assistance Scheme  
Programme, which secures training places for NMCI cadets 
with international shipping companies. The IMDO also values 
the work of professional bodies such as the Chartered Institute 
of Shipbrokers and the Institute of Master Mariners, and 
supports their efforts to improve standards of training and 
professionalism in the industry. The combined efforts of these 
bodies have earned Ireland an excellent reputation as a centre 
for training and educating maritime professionals.

2016  was busy by any standards, evidenced by the number 
of projects that were advanced, the number of conferences, 
events and functions organised, and increased engagement 
across all areas of the marine industry. The coming year will 
be equally challenging as the ambitious achievements of the 
Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth initiative place new demands 
on our organisation.  By retaining the confidence and support 
of industry and working closely with the wider development 
community, the IMDO is well equipped to fulfil its mandate, and 
we look forward with confidence to the challenges that 2017 will 
bring.

Finally, it must be acknowledged that the IMDO relies heavily 
on its talented and motivated staff. I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank all my colleagues for their hard work and 
unwavering commitment.

Mr Liam Lacey

Director: Irish Maritime Development Office

Business Development
Responding to improved economic environment and 
opportunities created by the UK’s decision to leave the European 
Union, the IMDO intensified its business development activities 
nationally and internationally in 2016. Nineteen international 
events and conferences were arranged or attended in the UK, 
Belgium, the Netherlands, Poland, Latvia, USA, Hong Kong, 
China and Singapore. These engagements provided a platform 
to communicate a clear message to international audiences 
that Ireland has unique competitive advantages in the marine 
industry and to welcome the interest of international investors.  
Our coordinated approach to business development engages all 
relevant Government departments and development agencies. 
It appeals to international investors and inspires confidence that 
our respective strategies for developing the marine industry are 
carefully aligned.  

The impact of the IMDO’s international engagement is greatly 
enhanced by the professionalism and cooperation of Ireland’s 
diplomatic corps throughout the embassy network.  The 
collaboration of Enterprise Ireland and IDA personnel in overseas 
offices is also invaluable and contributes greatly to the success 
of our international missions. The IMDO also works closely 
with colleagues in Bord Iascaigh Mhara, Fáilte Ireland, National 
Maritime College of Ireland, SEAI, Irish ports, and many other 
industry stakeholders.  This collaborative endeavour culminated 
in a 30 per cent increase in visits by foreign companies in 2016, 
the creation of the Maritime Commerce Forum and participation 
at more than 100 industry events.  Importantly, working closely 
with colleagues in Enterprise Ireland, the IMDO created the 
Marine Industry Network, which brings indigenous companies 
together to promote a common agenda for growing Ireland’s 
marine industry.  

Inward investment decisions and new business start-ups are 
significantly influenced by the advice of professional services 
firms. The IMDO greatly values its relationship with this sector 
and relies heavily on professional expertise when framing a 
winning investment proposition for inward investment. Our 
experience has been that Ireland’s professionals can compete 
with the best in the world - whether in the legal arena, financial 
services or advisory services.  We remain committed to 
strengthening our relationships with firms in this sector.

The IMDO remains supportive of the concept of an International 
Shipping Services Centre that will establish Ireland as an 
international shipping hub. The centre has the potential to create 
3,500 high quality jobs in Ireland, and to catalyse investment in 
the maritime industry. The project’s potential was recognised in 
the publication Our Ocean Wealth Development Task Force - 
Report to the Inter-Departmental Marine Coordination Group, 
published in July 2015.  Brexit presents a unique opportunity to 
welcome financial institutions to Ireland that will leave the UK 
in order to escape the uncertainty that Brexit creates.  Ireland 
has not precipitated the exodus of financial services firms from 
the UK, but is in a very strong position to benefit, based, inter 
alia, on our reputation for good regulation, our commitment 
to the EU, our expertise in asset leasing and the demographic 
characteristics of our workforce.
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Economic Analysis
The IMDO recognises the importance and value of economic 
and socio-economic research.   Quarterly bulletins are issued 
that comment on trade volumes and the performance of Irish 
ports. The IMDO also issues bespoke reports and submissions 
requested from time to time by the Department of Transport, 
Tourism and Sport, or are made necessary by changing industry 
circumstances. The IMDO’s economic analysis culminates in the 
annual publication of the Irish Maritime Transport Economist, 
the 13th edition of which was issued in 2016.  This edition adds 
to an invaluable time series that charts the development of the 
maritime industry in Ireland and benchmarks its performance 
against that of other maritime economies. 

In 2016 the Irish maritime sector continued to grow strongly.  
Closer examination shows that unitised trade, driven by increased 
consumer demand, rose by over 6 per cent while the volume 
of commodities shipped through our ports fell by 9 per cent as 
demand for imported fossil fuels, animal feed and fertilisers fell 
as a result of milder than average weather conditions.  The iShip 
index is a composite index combining five traffic types in a single 
indicator of total port throughput.  Although the index shows 
that total port volumes grew by 2 per cent overall, the growth 
was not equally distributed across all of the State’s ports. Growth 
in unitised trade was concentrated in Dublin and Cork, while the 
decline in bulk traffic was regionally dispersed.

Policy Support and Port Development
The IMDO continues to provide policy support and advice to the 
Minister and the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport 
in the form of regular market briefings, economic analysis and 
facilitating engagement between industry and the Department.  

In pursuit of the policies set out in National Ports Policy, the 
IMDO:

• Provided training programmes for the Directors of State 
ports in line with the recommendations set out in National 
Ports Policy.

• Worked closely with port companies to maximise 
development funding that is drawn down from EU 
programmes.

• Undertook research into the performance of port 
companies. This research concentrates on generating 
port performance metrics and is at an advanced stage.  It 
will inform policy in relation to future port capacity and 
assist with framing the national response to the likely 
re-instatement of border controls when the UK leaves the 
European Union.      

• Worked with partners in the Insight Research Institute to 
engage port companies in Smart Ports research that relies 
on increased use of data analytics in the management of 
port logistics. 

• Partnered with the Ports Observatory for Performance 
Indicator Analysis, (PORTOPIA) Project in research into 
improved port performance at an EU level.

Education, Training and Outreach
The IMDO has a specific remit to support education in the 
maritime sector. In addition, it has responsibilities to increase 
awareness of career and investment opportunities that exist in 
the marine industry. In pursuit of these objectives, the IMDO: 

• Serves on the advisory board of the NMCI, and promotes 
the college nationally and internationally as a centre of 
excellence in maritime education. 

• Promotes the training of professional mariners through the 
Irish Seafarers Education Assistance Scheme that provides 
training opportunities for cadets from the NMCI. In 2016, 
more than €200,000 was paid out under this scheme, 
enabling more than 80 cadets to undertake training with 
prestigious international shipping companies and to find 
employment in the maritime industry.

• Provides outreach programmes to primary and secondary 
school students through the Follow the Fleet programme 
and Transition Year familiarisation programme 
respectively.

• Supports professional training and education by funding 
the activities of strategically important professional bodies.

• Highlights career opportunities in the maritime industry 
through the jobs portal on its website.

Conclusion
The range of business development activities carried out by the 
IMDO increased significantly.  Particular emphasis was placed 
on capitalising on inward investment opportunities arising from 
the UK’s decision to leave the European Union.  In addition, 
the Government’s integrated plan for the marine, Harnessing 
Our Ocean Wealth, has created a separate pipeline of business 
development projects ranging from port development projects 
to opportunities in cruise tourism and marine renewable energy. 
The IMDO also used the platform created by the annual Our 
Wealth Conference to advance these projects and to create a 
national and international profile for the opportunities that exist 
in Ireland’s marine industry.

The IMDO is also committed to delivering the Government’s 
Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth ambitions through its involvement 
with the MDT established at the end of 2016.  The MDT is a key 
recommendation of the Development Task Force that reported 
to the Marine Coordination Group in 2015 on how to address 
Ireland’s underperformance as a marine economy.  The MDT 
is housed within the IMDO and is funded from the European 
Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) to the end of 2020.  The 
MDT represents a unique opportunity to galvanise the support of 
development agencies to create a coordinated national response 
to harnessing Ireland’s marine resources for the benefit of the 
national economy, regional development and in the interest of 
sustainable growth. These projects and initiatives will ensure that 
2017 will be a busy, exciting and challenging period for the IMDO.

IRISH MARITIME DEVELOPMENT OFFICE 
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Marine Environment and 
Food Safety Services 

Director’s Statement

The work of Marine Environment and Food 
Safety Services (MEFS) focuses on ensuring 
consumer protection through seafood safety 
monitoring and testing services. It provides 
monitoring services to support the protection 
of marine environmental legislation and 
obligations, as well as providing advisory 
services to support sustainable development 
and management of the marine environment. 

This work is delivered via three core functions: 
monitoring, advice and technical support and 
research.

Our monitoring focus included:

• National shellfish biotoxin monitoring 
programme

• National residues control programme 
(seafood component)

• Inspections and monitoring of movements 
of fish and shellfish stocks as required 
under fish  health legislation

• National sea-lice monitoring programme
• Water Framework Directive monitoring 

programme (transitional and coastal 
waters elements).

In support of these programmes, the 
Marine Institute is the national reference 
laboratory for diseases in shellfish, finfish and 
crustaceans; shellfish biotoxins; microbiological 
contaminants in shellfish and certain chemical 
substances in aquaculture products.

Advisory and technical services to a range of 
Departments and Agencies included:

• Department of Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine (DAFM)

 » Appropriate Assessments of fisheries 
and aquaculture activity in Special 
Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs)

 »  Aquaculture licensing
 » Single Bay Management 

• Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority 
(SFPA) and Food Safety Authority of 
Ireland (FSAI)

 »  Food  safety
• Department of Housing, Planning, 

Community and Local Government 
(DHPCLG)

 » Marine Strategy Framework Directive 
(MSFD) 

 » Foreshore lease/licensing decisions
• Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

 »  Dumping at sea applications and 
engagement with OSPAR

• Department of Communications, Climate 
Action and Environment (DCCAE)

 » Implementation of the Offshore 
Renewable Energy Development Plan.

2016 also saw great improvements in our 
quality management system. Through 
successful audits within allowed timeframes, 
we retained our Irish National Accreditation 
Board laboratory accreditation under ISO 17025 
and our certification under ISO 9001 for the 
work of the Fish Health Competent Authority 
office, ensuring a high standard of service 
delivery of our laboratory services.   The Marine 
Institute currently has 35 accredited scientific 
methods. Further, our quality integration team 
consolidated 18 standard operating procedures 
down to three, removing redundancy and 
improving efficiency.  Further efficiencies 
were realised by the further expansion of the 
Paradigm 3 Electronic Document Management 
system.  This system enables all documents 
and records associated with laboratory 
analyses to be viewed in one location.  The 
Kelsius Temperature Monitoring was also 
tendered and installed in 2016, ensuring reliable 
and consistent monitoring of temperature 
equipment and is a major improvement to the 
Quality System.
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Finally, active participation in research programmes and 
projects that support our core environmental and seafood 
safety monitoring and advisory roles was a key feature in 2016, 
as briefly summarised below.  

Dr Jeff Fisher

Director: Marine Environment and Food Safety Services

Monitoring

Shellfish Safety
Under our remit as the EU designated Irish National Reference 
Laboratory for both marine biotoxins and shellfish microbiology, 
the Shellfish Safety Unit of MEFS carries out a number of 
programmes to ensure Irish compliance with EU regulations 
on shellfish safety and to protect consumer safety.  The unit 
provides a continuous year round monitoring service that 
assesses over 100 inshore shellfish production sites and offshore 
fishing grounds as part of these programmes. The work is carried 
out in close co-operation with the SFPA and the FSAI with strong 
industry collaboration as part of national official controls on 
seafood safety. 

Programmes of activity include testing for biotoxins in shellfish 
flesh; monitoring seawater for harmful phytoplankton species 
and assessing microbial contamination in classified shellfish 
production areas.

Naturally-occurring biotoxins in shellfish are monitored using 
chemical analyses supported by phytoplankton monitoring and 
molecular biological assays, to detect the presence of toxins and 
their causative organisms. In 2016, some 3,019 shellfish samples 
were analysed for shellfish toxins, on which 13,965 analyses were 
completed. These tests included the most important toxin groups 
found in Ireland: 

Diarrhetic Shellfish Poisoning (DSP), Azaspiracid poisoning 
(AZA), Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning (PSP) and Amnesic shellfish 
poisoning (ASP). The pattern of toxicity was somewhat similar 
to the previous year with a toxic period mainly restricted to the 
summer months in the south west. In contrast however, the toxin 
was mostly DSP rather than the AZA which caused problems in 
2015.

A total of 3,636 seawater samples were analysed for toxic 
and harmful phytoplankton species in 2016.   These data are 
considered along with the biotoxin data to ensure toxic shellfish 
do not enter the human food chain. Daily reports are produced 
to indicate the open status of production areas. These data are 
also used to produce a weekly online report that gives a synopsis 
of toxin and harmful algal bloom presence, and a short-term 
forecast of the likelihood of changes in status. These synoptic 
reports have been well received by regulatory authorities and 
aquaculture industry stakeholders.

Ongoing microbiological testing of E. coli levels in shellfish 
production areas was used to update the classification of shellfish 
production areas.  Advice was again provided to the SFPA to 
assign appropriate classification to each area. Commercial testing 
service for norovirus (NoV) in oysters was continued as a service 
to industry. Over 1,000 samples of NoV were analysed as NoV 
is an important food safety concern and the testing service 
provides support to industry wishing to give quality assurance to 
customers in sensitive markets such as the Far East.

MARINE ENVIRONMENT AND FOOD SAFETY SERVICES 



18 MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Residues and Contaminants Monitoring in 
Seafood
The chemistry team carried out the farmed finfish component 
of the 2016 National Surveillance Monitoring Programme for 
Residues in Farmed Fish to ensure compliance with European 
Commission legislation and to ensure farmed fish are fit for 
human consumption. The results will be reported in 2017. The 
2015 results, of more than 676 tests and 1,845 measurements, 
were published in 2016 and show full compliance with European 
standards with the exception of two trout samples reported 
as non-compliant due to levels of sulphonamide above the 
maximum residue limit. Additionally, fishery samples from non-
EU countries collected at border inspection posts were tested for 
contaminants and veterinary residues. Monitoring and additional 
surveys of levels of environmental contaminants in Irish shellfish, 
crustaceans and wild fish were also undertaken on behalf of 
the FSAI and SFPA, demonstrating compliance with European 
regulatory limits.

Finfish Farm Monitoring
The Benthos Ecology Group carried out its annual review of 
reports from finfish growers arising from benthic surveys to 
examine seabed conditions below fish cages in accordance 
with DAFM Benthic Monitoring Protocols.  A review is prepared 
annually by the Benthos Ecology group and is submitted to 
DAFM. 

The Benthos Ecology Group initiated a review of the Monitoring 
Protocol No. 1 for Offshore Finfish Farms - Benthic Monitoring 
(subject to revision from time to time) in order to clarify certain 
technical issues and to modify sampling requirements to ensure 
greater certainty and confidence in the outputs and subsequent 
interpretation. A review group comprising the Marine Institute, 
DAFM-AFMD, DAFM-MED and Bord Iascaigh Mhara (BIM) was 
established and a draft protocol was prepared in December 2016 
to be circulated for consultation to industry, among others, during 
Quarter 1 2017. 

Fish Health
Mortality events affecting Pacific oysters were recorded in 2016 
but were in a limited number of bays and generally resulted in 
significantly lower mortality than had been recorded in 2015. 
In the main, these mortality events were associated with the 
presence of the bacterial pathogen Vibrio aestuarianus. In 
total, 2,776 molluscs were tested for diagnostic, research or 
surveillance purposes.   

In December, Bonamia ostreae was detected in native oysters, 
Ostrea edulis, in Kilkieran Bay, County Galway during routine 
surveillance. As this disease is listed in Council Directive 
2006/88/EC, a report was sent to the EU Commission and to the 
OIE (World Organisation for Animal Health). An epidemiological 
investigation is under way, and movement restrictions have been 
put in place in relation to susceptible and vector species.

Over 4,500 finfish, primarily Atlantic salmon, but also trout, 
wrasse, lumpfish and coarse fish, were screened for pathogens. 
A case of Koi Herpes Virus (KHV) was detected in koi carp in 
a garden pond in County Dublin in July, and as this disease is 

listed in Council Directive 2006/88/EC, all fish were culled and 
the case was reported to the EU Commission and to the OIE. An 
epidemiological investigation was carried out.  

176 samples of the velvet crab, Necora puber, were also tested 
following reports of a collapse in the fishery in inner Galway Bay. 
47.5 per cent of the samples tested positive for the Paramyxid 
species Paramarteilia orchestiae which was thought likely to be 
associated with the decline in the fishery. Proposals have been 
prepared to develop the sampling programme further in 2017 in 
association with colleagues in Fisheries Ecosystems Advisory 
Services.  

Environmental Monitoring
On behalf of the EPA and DHPCLG, the Marine Institute 
conducted environmental monitoring as part of the 2016-
2020 cycle of the EU Water Framework Directive to assess 
the ecological and chemical status of transitional and coastal 
waters.  Selected Water Framework Directive water bodies and 
designated shellfish growing waters were sampled for a variety 
of water quality indicators to determine whether they met ‘good 
ecological and chemical status’ under this Directive’s criteria. 
Physico-chemical parameters were sampled for on 521 occasions; 
priority substances and other pollutants on 289 occasions and 
phytoplankton on 196 occasions. Additionally, 481 benthic fauna 
samples were collected from 39 water bodies. Monitoring data 
was also reported to the ICES database and included in the 
annual OSPAR assessment of trends and status of pollutants 
in the North-East Atlantic, and contributed to the development 
of common indicators under the Marine Strategy Framework 
Directive.

In January, staff carried out the annual winter environmental 
survey on board RV Celtic Voyager, sampling at 299 inshore and 
shelf stations in the Irish Sea and along the north and west coasts 
for nutrients, carbon, trace metals and other oceanographic 
and water quality parameters. 88 samples for benthic fauna 
and sediment analysis were also collected and subsequently 
analysed.   

Advice and Technical Support
MEFS provided advice to the Department of Agriculture, Food 
and the Marine, in support of aquaculture licensing, including:

•  Completion of eleven full Appropriate Assessments 
for marine SACs and SPAs at Wexford Harbour and 
Slobs SPA, The Raven SPA, Slaney River Valley SAC, 
Raven Point Nature Reserve SAC, River Barrow and 
River Nore SAC, Sheephaven SAC, Bannow Bay SPA, 
Bannow Bay SAC, West of Ardara/Maas Road SAC, Slyne 
Head Peninsula SAC, Slieve Tooey /Tormore Island/
Loughros Beg Bay SAC. This will allow progression of 
approximately 152 licensing decisions. 

• Monitoring of mitigation measures in relation to oyster 
culture and bird interactions in Dungarvan SPA.

• Environmental Impact Assessment screening for 
non-salmonid licence applications and Appropriate 
Assessment screening for licence applications in non-
NATURA sites.
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•  Advice on over 98 aquaculture licence applications, 
covering 129 individual sites.

•  Development of technical protocols for aquaculture 
structures.

•  Advice and support to Single Bay Management 
committees.

The Shellfish Safety team provided advice on shellfish food 
safety to the SFPA and the FSAI for ongoing official controls 
under the monitoring programmes for shellfish biotoxins and 
microbiological classification.  

We continued to provide support to competent authorities 
in Ireland and at a European level on microbiological food 
safety issues associated with bivalve shellfish. In particular, we 
participated in an ongoing European Food Safety Authority  
technical group aimed at providing support for a planned 
EU-wide baseline survey to determine the prevalence of NoV 
contamination in oysters.  This survey is an important step 
towards establishing European regulatory controls.

Other areas where our advisory functions focused: 

• Disposal of dredge material at sea by providing pre-
application technical advice to ports, assessment of 
sediment suitability, and providing recommendations to 
the EPA. MEFS also participated on the EPA Dumping 
at Sea Advisory Committee and prepared the 2015 
annual national report on dumping at sea for OSPAR. 

• Applications for foreshore leases/licences by way of 
participation on the Department of the Environment, 
Community and Local Government.

• Marine Licence Vetting Committee. Advice was provided 
on 27 applications in 2016.

• Environmental aspects of offshore hydrocarbon 
exploration and production through advice to industry 
on the use of offshore chemicals and monitoring, and 
advice to DCCAE on chemicals and permit conditions. 
MEFS prepared the Assessment of discharges, spills and 
emissions from offshore oil and gas operations in Irish 
Waters from 2010-2014 for OSPAR, and also compiled the 
2015 OSPAR annual returns.

• Support and advice to Department of Communications, 
Energy and Natural Resources on the implementation of 
the Offshore Renewable Energy Development Plan.

• Input into and review of relevant Strategic Environment 
Assessments on behalf of DAFM.

Internationally, our scientists continue to participate in 
scientific and technical fora such as ICES and OSPAR on topics 
including aquaculture; food safety; hazardous substances and 
eutrophication; ocean acidification; environmental aspects of the 
offshore industry; encounters with dumped munitions; disposal 
of dredged material; marine spatial planning; common indicators 
under the MSFD, and fish health.

Competent Authority for Fish Health
The Marine Institute is the competent authority in Ireland for the 
implementation of Council Directive 2006/88/EC.  This deals 
with the health of aquaculture animals and the prevention and 
control of certain aquatic diseases. The Fish Health Unit directs 
the work of the DAFM Veterinary Inspectors who work in the 
aquaculture field. In 2016, 297 inspections were completed 
under the legislation; 1,989 movements (imports, exports and 
internal movements) of live aquatic animals were authorised; 
five Compliance Notices were issued and 14 new Fish Health 
Authorisations were granted, bringing the total number of 
authorised aquaculture production businesses in the country to 
461.  

Research
Our team continued their involvement in European and national-
funded research programmes; carrying out applied research to 
support delivery of our monitoring programmes and advisory 
services.  

Some 2016 highlights include:

• Completing Year 2 of the REPOSUS project, funded 
by DAFM under the Food Industry Research Measure 
initiative. The main focus related to infection trials 
designed to assess the pathogenicity of Vibrio 
aesturianus in relation to Crassostrea gigas and 
the impact of salinity and temperature on Vibrio 
aestuarianus-related mortality in C. gigas.

• Completing Year 1 of the VIVALDI (Preventing and 
mitigating farmed bivalve diseases) project, funded under 
Horizon 2020 (H2020). Trials were completed in three 
bays around the coast to investigate the importance of 
management factors in relation to mortality in C. gigas.

• Completing Year 3 of a Marine Institute-funded PhD 
project on Amoebic Gill Disease in Atlantic salmon.  The 
main emphasis was on diagnostic assay development and 
validation; investigating host response to Neoparamoeba 
perurans using proteomics and the role of other 
pathogens in Amoebic Gill Disease related mortality. 

• Jointly supervising Year 3 of a PhD project on 
epidemiology alongside UCD, University of California 
(UC), Davis and Marine Harvest Ireland. The main focus 
of research related to network analysis;   import  risk  
assessment and biosecurity benchmarking relating to the 
Irish salmon industry. 

• Success in two large collaborative H2020 research 
projects:

 » TAPAS (Tools for Assessment and Planning of 
Aquaculture Sustainability) – A 4-year project, led 
by the University of Stirling to develop tools for the 
sustainable development of aquaculture (value to 
Marine Institute €0.5m). 

 » Completion of an Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) funded research partnership with DCU that 
investigated the use of passive sampling as a novel 
technique for marine pollution monitoring.

• Completing Year 1 of the AsMara project with NUI Galway, 
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funded by DAFM under the Food Industry Research 
Measure initiative. This involved establishing a method 
for determining inorganic arsenic in marine algae of 
commercial interest, and initial studies of total and 
inorganic arsenic in Irish seaweeds.

• An ongoing partnership with NUI Galway on a post-
doctoral project on biogeochemical cycling of carbon 
and nutrients in marine and estuarine waters examined 
seasonal carbon dynamics of selected estuaries.

• SIMCelt – A 2 year project co-funded by the EC 
Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries. 
This project supports the implementation of maritime 
spatial planning in the Celtic Seas to enhance cross-
border cooperation between Member States (value 
to Marine Institute €0.1). By addressing the strategic 
and jurisdictional barriers to marine spatial planning 
implementation, the SIMCelt project aims to enhance 
transnational cooperation on implementing marine spatial 
planning; effective management and sustainable use of 
marine resources across the entire Celtic Seas region. 

The Marine Environment and Food Safety Services team provide transition year students, teachers as well as leaving certificate students and 
parents the opportunity to see their innovative work relating to phytoplankton, marine environment and food safety at the Institute’s open 
day held in November 2016.  Photographer Andrew Downes, Xposure

• Four Cullen Fellowships were initiated with Galway-
Mayo Institute of Technology (GMIT) partnership.  This 
included focussing on the use of biological oceanography 
parameters to predict harmful algal bloom dynamics; 
marine spatial planning; norovirus risks in shellfish; and 
contaminants in seabird eggs. 
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Fisheries Ecosystems 
Advisory Services 
Director’s Statement

Throughout 2016 the Fisheries Ecosystems 
Advisory Services (FEAS) team continued 
to work closely with many national and 
international partners to ensure a strong 
science-based advisory product for our 
key client, the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine (DAFM).  The scientific 
advice provided by FEAS underpins the 
implementation of the Common Fisheries 
Policy for the waters around Ireland. Annually, 
this natural resource delivers one million 
tonnes of fish, worth an estimated €1 billion 
for all fleets working around Ireland.  FEAS 
data and scientific advice also supports the key 
ecosystem policy areas of NATURA 2000 and 
the MSFD.  Brexit introduced new unforeseen 
demands for the team requiring DAFM to 
carry out detailed spatial analysis of fishing 
fleet activity and catches for UK waters and 
for the EU waters around Ireland. New surveys 
commenced on anglerfish and megrim to 
improve scientific advice on these valuable 
stocks. Staff also provided widespread scientific 
support to DAFM in the annual Coastal States 
and EU Fisheries Council negotiations on 
fishing opportunities for 2017. 

Highlights of 2016 included:

• In October, the Stock Book was presented 
to the Minister for Agriculture Food and 
the Marine. It provides a summary of 
the latest scientific advice on the status 
of the marine fisheries resources in the 
waters around Ireland. This was a valuable 
reference during EU negotiations that 
determined Ireland’s fishing opportunities 
for 2017.  The fish stock summary 
information in the Stock Book was a key 
component of the Minister’s sustainability 
assessment which was presented to the 
Oireachtas in November.

• Brexit was a key unforeseen feature of the 
2016 work programme.  The team worked 
closely with DAFM to provide detailed 
spatial information on the activity of the 
Irish and international fleets operating in 

EU and UK waters. This provided baseline 
information to assess the impacts of 
Brexit on Ireland’s seafood industry. 

• In order to improve stock assessment 
and advice for anglerfish and megrim, a 
dedicated survey programme commenced 
in 2016 on RV Celtic Explorer.   

• The Underwater TV Survey team was 
invited to provide technical expertise to 
support Iceland’s new survey programme 
to assess their Nephrops resource.  

• Staff responded to more than ten 
international data calls for fisheries-
related data. Responding in an 
efficient and effective manner to 
these international data calls is a key 
performance indicator for Ireland in 
relation to EU funding.

• Research is a key component of FEAS 
work by providing scientific advice of 
the future. FEAS secured more than €6 
million additional funding from nationally 
and internationally funded projects 
that addressed issues.  This includes: 
discarding; incentives to reduce fishing 
in sensitive areas; and genetic impacts of 
escapees and Maximum Sustainable Yield 
(MSY). 

• In 2016, the FEAS remit was widened to 
include some aquaculture areas (sea lice 
monitoring, advice and research, single 
bay management) and taking the Marine 
Institute lead role for the MSFD.  These 
new programmes involved working closely 
with our Institute colleagues in Marine 
Environment and Fish Safety Services 
(MEFS).

• The team worked closely with Institute 
colleagues in OSIS; IMDO and MEFS; as 
well as BIM; National Parks and Wildlife 
Service and the SFPA on various EMFF 
projects focused on Biodiversity.  

• There was also close cooperation with 
the third-level sector through supervising 
joint PhD and MSc students, including 8 

FISHERIES ECOSYSTEM ADVISORY SERVICES 



22 MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Cullen PhD Fellowships.  
• A considerable amount of staff time 

was spent at sea, port sampling, and 
participating in key national and 
international meetings.  Planning and 
communications were critical components 
of service groups work programmes. 
Regular staff and management 
meetings throughout 2016, coupled 
with implementing staff performance 
management and development system, 
ensured an efficient and effective service 
delivery to our key client, DAFM.   

Dr Paul L Connolly

Director: Fisheries Ecosystems Advisory 
Services

Data Collection Framework
Data is the main raw material used by FEAS to deliver its main 
output: impartial scientific advice on the fisheries resources in 
the waters around Ireland. FEAS worked closely with other EU 
Member States to finalise the new Data Collection Regulation. 
Implementing Ireland’s obligations under the Data Collection 
Multi Annual Plan (DCMAP) supports the science needed to 
conduct the Common Fisheries Policy, and is a central part of 
the FEAS work programme.  EMFF funding of €40 million was 
secured for the period 2014-2020 to conduct the broad DCMAP 
programme.  DAFM have given the Marine Institute responsibility 
for data collection, data management and formulation of 
scientific advice required to meet Ireland’s DCMAP obligations. 
The DCMAP national work programme for 2017-2019 which 
FEAS submitted to the EU in 2016 was approved.  This national 
programme includes a comprehensive research vessel survey 
programme; port sampling of landings; sea sampling of catch; 
age profile of the main stocks and mapping international fleet 
activity in the waters around Ireland.  It also includes a seafood 
economic component carried out by BIM.   FEAS carried out 139 
sea sampling trips on commercial fishing vessels, resulting in 
605 sea days.  These trips provided valuable “on the ground” 
contact with the fishing industry.  A total of 551,000 fish and 
shellfish were measured, and 53,000 were aged to provide data 
for input to the models used in the assessments of fish stocks. 
The STOCKMAN Database, which houses DCMAP sampling data, 
was further developed to ensure that data are quality controlled 
to the highest levels.  Ireland implemented a new statistically 
sound sampling protocol to improve the quality of data from port 
sampling.  

The cost statement for Ireland’s 2015 DCMAP programme was 
compiled and sent to DAFM.  The Annual Report on Ireland’s 
2015 DCMAP activities was reviewed and approved by the EU. In 
2016, projects under the EMFF Biodiversity scheme that support 
NATURA, MSFD and biodiversity issues were developed with 
DAFM. FEAS worked closely with DAFM, EU and stakeholders on 
the EMFF monitoring committee.  

Research Vessel Surveys
Research vessel surveys are a key component of FEAS work 
programmes and are carried out on RV Celtic Explorer, RV Celtic 
Voyager and chartered commercial vessels in the waters around 
Ireland. These surveys have a strong international dimension, and 
FEAS collaborated with scientists from Norway, Iceland, Belgium, 
Holland, Germany, Denmark, UK, France and Spain. A total of 15 
research vessel surveys were carried out in 2016, comprising 417 
sea days and 1,635 scientific sea days. These surveys represent 
a major human resource commitment from staff in terms of 
preparations, vessel mobbing, survey, demobbing, and results 
analysis. The team work very closely with the research vessel 
management team in OSIS to ensure an efficient and effective 
delivery of the research vessel survey programme. 

The acoustic survey programme focused on assessing the 
blue whiting, boarfish and herring resources worth over €18 
million to the Irish fleet.  In co-operation with industry, the Celtic 
Sea herring acoustic survey was redesigned to accommodate 
changing fish distributions.  The new design maintained the 
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survey time series, which is an important input to the stock 
assessment and management plan for herring. Nephrops is a 
very valuable resource for the Irish fishing industry, and the 
results from our underwater TV surveys were critical to advising 
on fishing opportunities for this resource worth over €52 million 
to the Irish fleet. The Irish groundfish survey was carried out over 
a 40-day period in Quarter 4 on fish stocks in the Celtic Sea and 
off the west coast of Ireland. This survey monitors the abundance 
and distribution of fish and benthic communities in the waters 
around Ireland, and provides samples, data and logistical support 
for 10 additional projects covering genetics, jelly fish, and deep 
water hydrophones.   The international mackerel egg survey was 
carried out in 2016 and Ireland contributed three surveys to this 
programme which covered an area from the coast of Portugal 
to the south east of Iceland and southern Norway. All of these 
surveys were coordinated through ICES who also ensure that 
protocols and methodologies are standardised across countries.  
The data from these surveys were used in international 
stock assessment that informed scientific advice on fishing 
opportunities for 2017 and 2018. 

Stakeholder Interactions 
FEAS conduct regular meetings with the fishing industry 
through the Irish Fisheries Science Partnership.  This forum 
meets quarterly and has operated since 2008.  The main issues 
addressed at the Irish Fisheries Science Partnership include 
the state of the fisheries resource; identifying gap areas in 
research and monitoring; funding additional surveys; Marine 
Protected Areas (MPAs), the DCMAP; sea bass; bluefin tuna; 
MSFD; NATURA; priority research projects; gear trials and 
selectivity (with BIM).   FEAS also meets the environmental 
Non-Governmental Organisations every quarter to discuss a 
similar range of issues around fisheries and their impacts on 
the marine ecosystem. There is also considerable cooperation 
and interactions with the EU Advisory Councils (North Western 
Waters Advisory Council and the Pelagic Advisory Council). 
FEAS also participates at the regional Inshore Fisheries Fora and 
the National Inshore Fisheries Forum on issues relating to stock 
assessment and advice for the inshore shellfisheries resources. 

Scientific Advice 
Scientific Advice is the core business of Fisheries Ecosystems 
Advisory Services. During 2016, scientists participated in 
over 107 international expert groups, workshops and training 
courses. These meetings primarily focused on data collection 
collaboration (including research vessel survey coordination); 
stock assessments and formulating scientific advice.  Other 
issues addressed included NATURA 2000; the MSFD; MPAs; 
MSY reference points; mackerel egg survey programme; rays 
and skates assessments; management plans; the landings 
obligation and deep-sea fisheries.  Most of the meetings were 
funded by the EU through the DCMAP.  In 2016, DAFM requested 
FEAS to assume responsibility of the albacore tuna assessment.  
This work involved close collaboration with the International 
Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic tunas.  Following 
consultations with our key client DAFM, the format of the Stock 
Book was revised to present the scientific advice in a less detailed 
and easier to understand format. Work on evolving the format 

and utility of the Stock Book will continue. The 2016 Stock Book 
provided the latest scientific assessments and advice for 74 fish 
stocks exploited by the Irish fleet, with fishing opportunities 
worth an estimated €201 million for the Irish fleet.  FEAS 
provided scientific support to DAFM for many national and 
international meetings and prepared a broad range of scientific 
briefing material during the year.

Inshore Shellfisheries  
FEAS completed a comprehensive inshore shellfisheries 
programme on stocks that are not subject to quotas under the 
Common Fisheries Policy.   Data collection and advice was 
formulated for stocks of whelk, razor clams, cockle, lobster, 
crab and scallop.  The landings from these resources are over 
15,000 tonnes, valued at more than €45 million for the mainly 
smaller inshore fleet.  Working with industry and the Inshore 
Management Forum, razor clam stocks were surveyed in 13 
areas along the west coast of Ireland. The surveys produced 
biomass estimates and outtake limits for new local fisheries. New 
appropriate assessments (fishing impacts) were completed for 
Dundalk and Castlemaine harbour.  This represented the closure 
of the first cycle of fishery management plans in NATURA sites, 
demonstrating successful implementation of the protocols 
for fishery planning, appropriate assessment, monitoring, 
review and mitigation as detailed in Ireland’s roadmap towards 
compliance with the Habitats Directive. Field work on two studies 
investigating the effects of fishing gears on seafloor habitats, 
were completed.  One examined the effects of winter dredging 
and potting-on summer sea grass growth and biomass. The 
second investigated how hydraulic dredging in the north Irish 
Sea affects sedimentary marine communities. The results will be 
analysed in 2017.

Aquaculture Finfish Monitoring 
Work continued on implementing the DAFM Strategy for the 
Improved Pest Control on Irish Salmon Farms. The strategy 
outlines a comprehensive range of measures to enable enhanced 
sea lice control. These measures draw on the on-going Single 
Bay Management process (cooperative management plans 
between farms sharing the same waterbody) and through 
a comprehensive action plan and list of recommendations, 
seek to advance the suite of tools necessary for improved sea 
lice control on farms.  Continuous on-farm sea lice checks 
facilitated early intervention, resulting in better sea lice control 
generally during 2016. The use of alternative approaches to 
complement husbandry and medicinal treatments, coupled with 
rigorous proactive regulatory oversight, has led to a continuous 
improvement in sea lice levels in Ireland. The results of the sea 
lice monitoring and control programme are published in full in the 
Marine Institute’s Irish Fisheries Bulletin series. The Report for 
2015 (Irish Fisheries Bulletin No. 46) is available on 
www.marine.ie and was circulated in printed format to 
stakeholders in March. The results from the 2016 sea lice 
monitoring programme will be available on the web and in 
printed format from April 2017. Alternative approaches to 
complement medicinal treatments, coupled with a rigorous 
proactive regulatory oversight, meant that sea lice levels in 
Ireland during 2016 were generally managed well. There is a 
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growing trend toward using cleaner fish, with anecdotal evidence 
suggesting they are working at reducing the numbers of egg-
bearing female lice. Their use is becoming more widespread in 
Ireland, and in fact, their presence was noted at 50per cent of all 
salmon farm sites in Ireland in 2016.

Marine Institute Newport Research Facility
The FEAS group based at Newport continued their work on and 
developing long-term physical, chemical and biological datasets 
characterising the freshwater component of the Burrishoole 
ecosystem. The census work programme on salmon, sea trout 
and eel continued from the fish traps. A total of 7,362 salmon 
smolts were recorded moving out of the Burrishoole catchment 
ecosystem.  In partnership with Inland Fisheries Ireland, FEAS 
staff continued to work on the Standing Scientific Committee 
for Eel and the Standing Scientific Committee for Salmon to 
formulate national scientific advice for these valuable resources.  
The team also participated at many international meetings of 
ICES to assess the international state of these stocks and to 
propose international management measures.  FEAS also worked 
closely with Inland Fisheries Ireland and the DCCAE on salmonid-
related issues at the North Atlantic Salmon Commission 
(NASCO).  In 2016, the stock assessment and advisory work at 
Newport was broadened to include pollock, sea bass and bluefin 
tuna.  Research work by FEAS staff on the Newport catchment 
saw the publication of 10 international peer-reviewed papers in 
2016. Funding was also secured for research projects including a 
Marie Curie PhD focused on climatic extreme events in rivers and 
lakes across Europe. 

The Marine Institute Board adopted the Newport strategy in 
September 2015. The strategy is based on 13 research clusters, 
composed of third level researchers and Marine Institute staff.  In 
2016 these clusters have continued to build research proposals 
that target various funding sources in order to maximise the use 
of the Newport research facility and its data assets.  

Funding of €2.5 million was secured for two new catchment 
research clusters lead by Dundalk Institute of Technology (DkIT) 
and GMIT.  The Genetics Cluster, led by a joint Marine Institute 
and UCC Principal Investigator, secured over €3.5 million from 
sources including the EU and Science Foundation Ireland. These 
projects focused on the impact of environmental factors on gene 
expression and the impacts of gut bacteria on fish growth and 
energetics (which has applications to fish feeding in aquaculture). 
Four Cullen PhD projects commenced at Newport in collaboration 
with UCC; GMIT; NUI Galway and DkIT. These projects focused on 
freshwater and marine fish telemetry, carbon cycling and coastal 
lagoon ecology, and are co-supervised by FEAS staff.  Under the 
Newport Strategy more than 20 new scientists and researchers 
are based at the research facility. 

A considerable amount of damage was caused to the Newport 
facility during the severe winter storms of 2016. The Mill Race 
channel had to be rebuilt and the fish passage restored. The 
rearing unit also underwent considerable repairs with dislodged 
ponds reinstated and roadways and paths replaced.  

Applied Research 
Evolving scientific advice through the application of the results 
from research projects is an important element of the FEAS 
strategy.  In 2016, FEAS secured funding to continue the work of 
the Beaufort Project Principal Investigator on marine ecosystems. 
The Principal Investigator and other FEAS staff secured funding 
for projects that examined ways to avoid fishing in sensitive 
areas; DISCARDLESS (strategies for the gradual elimination of 
discards in European fisheries); FISHKOSM (Fisheries Knowledge 
for Optimal Sustainable Management) (); SEERAC(Spatially 
Explicit Ecological Risk Assessment for Conservation of Coastal 
waters); BLUEFISH (Building Resilience into Blue Growth) and 
TAPAS.

In cooperation with NUI Galway, DkIT, UCC, GMIT, Queens 
University Belfast and the Scottish Association of Marine Science, 
eight Cullen PhDs are co-supervised by FEAS staff.  The projects 
include genetics to assess the impact of the lobster “v notching” 
programme; monkfish management strategy evaluation; 
oceanographic modelling of Nephrops populations around 
Ireland; development of indicators to support the MSFD; and 
modelling of food webs in the Irish Sea.  

FEAS carried out a bluefin tuna tagging programme in 
partnership with Stanford University (USA), University of Exeter 
(UK) and the Centre for Fisheries, Environment and Aquaculture 
Science (UK CEFAS). The work was focused on Donegal Bay and 
used chartered vessels to satellite tag 15 bluefin tuna in October 
and November.  Sea bass were also tagged in the Celtic Sea area 
and results indicated fish movements from the south coast of 
Ireland to the western Irish Sea. A cod tagging project was funded 
by the EU to examine cod movements in the Irish Sea. These 
research projects will provide valuable data on the seasonal 
and temporal distribution of these species in the waters around 
Ireland.

Blue-mouth redfish (Helicolenus dactylopterus) caught during a 
trawl survey on RV Celtic Explorer. Photographer Hans Gerritsen.
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Ocean Science and 
Information Services 
Director’s Statement

High quality data are the fundamental building 
blocks used for marine research, technology, 
development and innovation as well as to 
manage the marine resource. Ocean Science 
and Information Services (OSIS) provides a wide 
range of services – from  providing platforms, 
infrastructures and programmes to support the 
digital value chain to acquire data – through to 
data analytics. This includes data integration 
as well as data tool and service developments 
for national and international marine clients. It 
also includes programmes involving much of 
the activity of the Marine Institute.  2016 was a 
very busy year during which significant activity 
took place in our work programmes, such as 
oceanographic services, advanced mapping, 
research vessel operation, information services 
and development, and ocean energy. 

The OSIS teams participated in wide range 
of national, European and international 
programmes and were particularly active across 
a range of EU-funded programmes including 
new projects. This improves our capacity to 
provide support services tailored to the needs 
of integrated science programmes that inform 
cross-sectoral policy advice. 

The research vessels RV Celtic Explorer and 
RV Celtic Voyager had a busy year with many 
notable programmes summarised below. 
Advanced Mapping Services with our partners, 
Geological Survey Ireland (GSI), delivered many 
survey days to the INFOMAR and value-added 
activity. Significant advances in oceanographic 
activity included operational modelling, marine 
climate change and developing potential new 
EU-funded projects. 

OSIS was responsible for operating the cabled 
observatory in Galway Bay which operates 
as part of the Ocean Energy Test Bed and 
technology test and demonstration platform. 
We continued to provide a wide range of 
services as part of our Service Level Agreement 
with SEAI. As part of this service, the Marine 
Institute applied for a revised lease for the 

test site to support testing of quarter-scale 
renewable ocean energy devices, marine 
sensors and ICT. A notable success was the 
installation of the SeaPower wave energy 
device in October – the first quarter-scale 
device deployment for some years.

The Information Services and Development 
(IS&D) team continued to support a wide range 
of activities and put significant effort into 
developing new data services. This included 
the evolution of the Irish Digital Ocean portal 
www.digitalocean.ie, developed to showcase 
an integrated approach to data services with 
data contributed by new partners. Recognising 
the critical importance of quality-assured data, 
the IS&D team also led the development of a 
new Marine Institute Data Strategy to support 
development of data capabilities within the 
Institute over the next four years. This involved 
significant input from a large number of 
individuals across the Institute, and will be a 
central element of Institute programmes going 
forward. 

Mr Michael Gillooly

Director: Ocean Science and Information 
Services
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Research Vessel Operations 
The Research Vessel Operations team coordinate and manage 
the operation of the Marine Institute’s two research vessels, RV 
Celtic Voyager, RV Celtic Explorer and the deep-water Remotely 
Operated Vehicle, ROV Holland I, as well as provide support 
services to the users of the vessels, including instrumentation 
and engineering support services. 

Highlights 
The vessels had an intensive year of activity in 2016 with 637 
science days completed on both vessels and 45 days operation 
on several chartered vessels. The ROV Holland 1 completed five 
surveys in 2016 including a commercial survey from the ILV 
Granuaile.

RV Celtic Explorer
RV Celtic Explorer completed 19 surveys during 2016, following 
an early start on January 4 with the new Fisheries Ecosystems 
Advisory Services (FEAS) Anglerfish and Megrim Trawl survey.  
Large commercial monkfish trawling gear was used to survey 
areas off the north and west coasts.  The vessel also undertook 
an internationally coordinated 21-day Mackerel Egg survey that 
extended from Irish waters through the Bay of Biscay to the 
Spanish coast.

Following the annual Blue Whiting survey on behalf of FEAS, 
the vessel completed a NUI Galway-led 14-day transatlantic 
survey that focussed on studying the deep sea scattering layer 
and a multidisciplinary investigation of a large mid-Atlantic 
cold water eddy to investigate its oceanographic and biological 
characteristics. 

The vessel completed a three-day NDP ship-time funded 
survey led by the University of Ulster with Canadian partners.  
This survey aimed to examine the formerly glaciated 
continental shelf in an area of Newfoundland’s inner southern 
shores using the ship’s multibeam and vibrocore sampling. 
This survey produced excellent data of previously unsurveyed 
moraine systems with targeted sampling of glacial deposits for 
sedimentological and geochronological analyses.

A 16-day fisheries survey (CE16013) under charter to the Centre 
for Fisheries and Ecosystem Research of Memorial University, 
Newfoundland and Labrador, was completed before the vessel 
returned to Ireland.  During the passage, the Transatlantic 
Mapping Survey (TRASNA)  GSI scientists undertook 
multibeam and sub-bottom seismic acquisition, as well as 
acquisition of drop camera imagery and rock sampling at the 
mid-Atlantic Ridge.

Following mobilisation of the ROV Holland I, the vessel 
completed three surveys including CE16015 on behalf of UCC 
and a Submarine Canyon ecosystem survey led by NUI Galway. 
The ROV completed a short visual inspection of a wellhead 
for Kinsale Energy Ltd that relayed live video data to shore to 
allow the company examine the wellhead in real-time without a 
representative onboard.

The vessel completed the Western European Shelf Pelagic 
Acoustic Survey (WESPAS) that was a combined Northwest 

Herring and Boarfish survey over 42 days in June and July. The 
survey had a break to visit SeaFest 2016 in late June which was 
a highly successful event with 7,200 visitors to the vessel for 
tours over the two open days. 

The vessel also completed a 39-day North Sea Oceanographic 
survey under charter to BSH (Federal Maritime and 
Hydrographic Agency of Germany) before completing a nine-
day INFOMAR survey that focused on the southern Celtic Sea 
covering 715 km2 of survey area.

The vessel completed the annual Groundfish and Celtic Sea 
Herring surveys, as well as an additional nine-day charter for 
BSH in German waters before ending the year in Galway on 18 
December. 

RV Celtic Voyager
RV Celtic Voyager completed one of its busiest years to date 
with 44 surveys completed. Notable surveys included the 
deployment of an Ocean Bottom Seismometer (OBS) network 
in the Rockall Trough in mid-January (CV16001), followed by 
recovery of the OBS units in late August (CV16030). This work 
was on behalf of the Dublin Institute of Advanced Studies 
(DIAS).

The vessel completed 69 days of INFOMAR survey during 
which 3,140 km2 of seabed were surveyed off the south and 
west coasts. 

In early May the vessel completed a Langolf Under Water TV 
(UWTV) Nephrops survey on behalf of the French Research 
Institute for Exploitation of the Sea (Ifremer) in the Bay of 
Biscay for the third successive year and completed the first of 

Over 7,000 visitors enjoyed a tour of the Marine Institute’s 
research vessel RV Celtic Explorer during Seafest, Ireland’s 
maritime festival held in Galway 2016.  Photographer Tom 
Szumski
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three DCCAE funded OBSERVE passive acoustic surveys off the 
south-west shelf en-route from France. 

The vessel completed all three FEAS Nephrops UWTV surveys, 
including the Porcupine survey (CV16024) without issue; full 
coverage of all grounds was achieved over the course of the 
three surveys. The vessel completed the NUI Galway-led DINO 
16 survey during which it made a series of Oceanographic 
transects, including deployment of a fine-scale sampler off 
the Irish, UK and French coasts to investigate the distribution 
of toxic phytoplankton including Dinophysis. A similar 
Oceanographic survey investigating the distribution of toxic 
Azadinium spinosum was completed in a MEFS-led survey off 
the south and west coast of Ireland in August (AZBO survey 
CV16029). 

The vessel completed 36 days of SMART (Strategic Marine 
Alliance for Research and Training) training on behalf of third 
level institutions in Spring and Autumn from Cork Harbour. 
GMIT and NUI Galway separately completed twenty-two 
training days for undergraduate and postgraduate students, 
totalling more than 655 students training days.  

Charter Vessels 
The Agri-Food & Biosciences Institute (AFBI) vessel RV 
Corystes was chartered to undertake a 21 day Mackerel Egg 
survey on behalf of FEAS due to a clash with the WESPAS 
survey, and this was successfully completed in June.

The 20-metre research vessel Song of the Whale was chartered 
on two occasions to complete passive acoustic surveys as 
part of the OBSERVE programme MV Ocean Bank was also 
chartered, to deploy and recover static acoustic moorings as 
part of the OBSERVE programme and an associated industry-
funded study on cetaceans.

ROV Holland 1 
ROV Holland I completed the research surveys CE16015 and 
CE1600, totalling 23 days. It was provided to the Marine 
Robotics Centre in University of Limerick under the ship-time 
programme for five days. This included trial and testing of 
new automated manipulator control technology and image 
processing technologies. The work was completed in an 
abandoned slate quarry in Portroe, Co Tipperary, offering 
perfect conditions in terms of visibility and calm water. 

The ROV was also mobbed onto the ILV Granuaile in late 
February.  The system initially completed survey works at 
the SmartBay site and was chartered to ESB International to 
complete cable burial survey work at the Shannon high voltage 
cable crossing at Moneypoint.  The ROV was then tasked with 
locating the damaged Emerald Bridge fibre optic cable in the 
Irish Sea. The ROV team successfully located both ends of the 
cable and assisted with the repair and redeployment of the cable 
and restoring the UK-Ireland Data link. The ROV completed 49 
operational days in 2016.

Foreign Vessel Observer Scheme 
Under the foreign vessel observer scheme, 42 foreign vessels 
conducted marine research surveys in Irish waters. The 

Northern Ireland RV Corystes, which has blanket approval to 
operate in Irish waters, accounted for 10 of these surveys. Of 
the remaining 32 surveys, 14 were UK vessels and the rest were 
French (2), Norwegian (2), Spanish (1), Dutch (4), Russian (1), 
Danish (1), German (3) and Belgian (1). Additionally, a training 
vessel from the USA, Corwith Cramer, conducted two training 
surveys while in Irish waters. The Marine Institute placed 13 Irish 
observers, mostly recent marine science graduates, on foreign 
vessel surveys, totalling 268 days at sea.

Advanced Mapping Services
The advanced mapping services team continued to develop 
the strategy for Phase 2 of the DCCAE-funded INFOMAR 
programme to 2026, investigating opportunities and 
approaches to augment value-added aspects as well as 
developing measures to define annual mapping targets and 
monitor progress. Significant effort focussed on assessing 
engagement with stakeholders, and along with prioritising and 
aligning outputs and data to meet user requirements. 

Operationally, the team supported shallow water inshore seabed 
survey activity in the Irish Sea along with mapping off County 
Mayo and the Celtic Sea on board RV Celtic Explorer and RV 
Celtic Voyager. The team also resumed offshore shelf mapping 
as part of Phase 2 of INFOMAR. 

As part of INFOMAR’s Value Added Exploitation programme 
the team coordinated research, training, education, outreach 
and strategic value-added survey initiatives. Mapping of 
Kilmakilloge Harbour was scoped and delivered in support of 
the H2020 TAPAS project and Marine Institute/BIM catchment 
carrying capacity modelling study. A Celtic Sea based research 
collaboration with University of New Hampshire, UK focused on 
multi-frequency acoustic data acquired by RV Celtic Explorer, 
and assessing oceanographic and seabed variability with a view 
to supporting future fisheries and ecosystem studies. 

Oisin McManus, Marine Institute shows how to forge land 
features that are thousands of metres beneath the Atlantic 
Ocean using the INFOMAR Sandbox with Anne Casserly and 
Simon Lenihan from the 2016 Galway Science and Technology 
Festival. Photograph Andrew Downes, Xposure

OCEAN SCIENCE AND INFORMATION SERVICES 
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Programme 1 – Data Acquisition, Management, 
and Interpretation:
• Survey targets with over 3,850 km2 surveyed onboard the 

RV Celtic Explorer and the RV Celtic Voyager, comprising 
11,919 line km acquired during 83 days of INFOMAR 
survey. Inshore mapping supported and undertaken on 
GSI vessels focussed in the Irish Sea between Wexford 
and Dundalk.

• Additional third-party projects and surveys were 
supported and/or coordinated by advanced mapping 
services. These included: 

 » Nearshore hydrographic surveys west of the Aran 
Islands undertaken by Hydromaster in support of an 
SFI (Science Foundation Ireland, Ireland) and NSF 
(National Science Foundation, USA) funded initiative.

 » Ulster University quaternary geology / climate change 
coring research offshore Newfoundland.

 » Multidisciplinary oceanographic and fisheries focussed 
NUI Galway lead transatlantic research onboard RV 
Celtic Explorer.

 » INFOMAR lead transatlantic multibeam survey in 
support of Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance.

Programme 2 – Data Integration and Exchange: 
• Advanced mapping services provided extensive training 

to two undergraduates in multibeam data processing to 
increase national capacity and to underpin future support 
and to improve the lead time between acquisition and 
product availability. All 2016 INFOMAR data acquired 
onboard  the RV Celtic Explorer and the RV Celtic Voyager 
have been fully processed and are available to download, 

and will be posted to the bathymetric web map viewer.
• In response to stakeholder feedback and 

recommendations in the Risk Solutions external 
programme review report, the INFOMAR website has 
been redesigned and developed with work ongoing. A 
launch date end Quarter 1 2017 is anticipated for the new 
website. This will incorporate significant improvements in 
data and product interrogation, access and download.  

• A new story map was launched to highlight the 
difference in historical mapping information and is now 
available through the INFOMAR programme http://
www.arcgis.com/apps/StorytellingSwipe/index.
html?appid=20fd626677ef4c75ab126105c12152a6#

Examples of the data projects are listed below. 

• Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) undertaking 
gaming technology based outreach contracts for port 
companies.

• Clare coast data for third-level research and separately for 
ocean energy development support.

• Transatlantic data for deep-water seabed classification 
software development.

• Research applications included quaternary geology and 
climate change studies, geological and environmental 
investigations and shipwreck studies.

Programme 3 – Value Added Exploitation
Significant activity has been ongoing under the Value Added 
Programme, in line with recommendations from the 2016 Risk 
Solutions programme review. 

The focus of this sub-programme includes: 

• Raising public awareness of INFOMAR through social 
media, conferences, events and outreach.

• Focus on capacity building across the skill set shortage 
areas relating to seabed mapping required to underpin 
Irish SME commercial and third-level research 
opportunities.

• Engaging research and industry in INFOMAR value-
added research activity, through the GSI run research call 
(Quarter 4, 2015).

Some highlights include: 

• Completion of a pilot hyperspectral aerial survey in 
support of the INFOMAR Cullen PhD on Seaweed 
Resource Assessment.

• Participation in an ICES review of the Norwegian seabed 
mapping programme, MAREANO.

• Completion of the GSI-led Atlantic Ocean Research 
Alliance focussed TRASNA Atlantic Transect onboard RV 
Celtic Explorer, incorporating student participation and 
training from USA, EU and Canada.

• Participation in the first marine component of the 
National Biodiversity Data Centre led BioBlitz initiative, in 
partnership with AquaFact International Services Ltd.

• Panel and rapporteur role in the first GEBCO (General 

The map shows areas of the ocean seabed surveyed by the 
INFOMAR programme during 2016
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Bathymetric Chart of the Oceans) Forum on Future Ocean 
Floor Mapping.

• Supporting role in development and delivery of SeaFest’s 
marine scientific gallery and ship tours.

• Launch of a series of seminars aimed at third level 
students to promote the use of INFOMAR data and 
encourage student involvement with the programme.

Research activity and effort aligns with INFOMAR programme 
activities and challenges. While projects will require 
supervision, data access, and field survey support, this value-
added programme activity will continue to build key research 
capacity, and encourage technology development in niche areas 
related to INFOMAR.

Oceanographic Services 
The Oceanographic Services (OS) team delivered all elements 
of the significant work programme of the SEAI Ocean Energy 
Service Level Agreement on time and within budget. The team 
continued to manage the test and demonstration facilities at the 
quarter-scale ocean energy test site in Galway Bay with further 
operational services provided at the Galway Bay, Belmullet 
and Westwave ocean energy test sites. The foreshore lease 
application for the Galway Bay Marine and Renewable Energy 
Test Site was submitted in April. Public consultation on the 
application ran from May to September. The Marine Institute is 
hopeful of a new 35-year lease being granted for the test site in 
early 2017.

October saw the successful installation of the SeaPower wave 
energy device at the test site and is due to remain on site 
until 19 March 2017. The Galway Bay Observatory, which was 
installed in August 2015, was officially launched at SeaFest 
2016 in June with a publicly accessible data portal displaying 
real-time information. The Observatory was recovered from 
the seabed on 29 November for maintenance and to install new 
instruments and cabling, and will be re-deployed in early 2017.

The modelling team continued to deliver the Copernicus 
Marine Environment Monitoring Service (CMEMS) for the 
Ireland-Biscay-Iberia region. The modelling team is part of 
the Ireland-Biscay-Iberia Marine Forecasting Centre (IBI-MFC) 
consortium and is responsible for delivering the biogeochemical 
marine forecasting service. Service delivery was smooth 
throughout 2016 and the consortium is one of the most highly 
praised marine forecasting centres in CMEMS. The Marine 
Institute operational models were upgraded over the course 
of 2016. Changes included implementing a higher resolution 
atmospheric forcing supplied by the European Centre for 
Medium-range Weather Forecasts, and an upgraded tidal 
forcing. 

The team supported search and rescue activities that included 
requests for model simulations, and was involved in a local 
Galway Bay inter-agency initiative led by An Garda Síochána. 
The H2020 TAPAS project commenced in 2016 and will see 
the team develop models for three bays and work closely with 
colleagues from BIM. 

The team also supported the use of the ICHTHYOP larvae 

transport model in the Marine Institute in conjunction with 
ocean forecasts and provided freely available regular ocean 
wave and storm surge forecasts and hindcasts to end users in 
the Marine Institute and beyond.  

Work also proceeded on the European Marine Observation and 
Data Network (EMODnet) ProAtlantic sea-basin checkpoints 
(data availability and appropriateness in the Atlantic basin) 
project. 

Oceanographic Services continues to work with the information 
services and development team to make oceanographic 
data available and adaptable through a new data dashboard 
and portal environment. Argo floats deployed by the Marine 
Institute are now included on the Irish Digital Ocean, as is data 
from the Irish National Tide Gauge Network, which has been 
further augmented by additional gauges and the Irish National 
Weather Buoy Network.

Key elements of EU-funded projects were met and delivered by 
the Marine Institute throughout 2016 including: FixO3 (linking 
EU activities on fixed point marine observatories); AtlantOS 
(Optimising and Enhancing the Integrated Atlantic Ocean 
Observing Systems); EMSOdev (European Multidisciplinary 
Seafloor Observatory); and JERICO-Next (Towards a joint 
European research infrastructure network for coastal 
observatories). 

Building on Marine Institute effort throughout 2015 to develop 
a case for Ireland to join the EMSO and Euro-Argo European 
Research Infrastructure Consortiums (ERIC), 2016 saw 
significant progress with Ireland, represented by the Marine 
Institute, officially joining both the Euro-Argo and EMSO ERICs. 

This membership will ensure Ireland’s place as a key player in 
international observational monitoring of the European marine 
area, and will leverage future funding.

A number of European-funded projects either began or received 
funding confirmation during 2016. These included COOP+ (a 
H2020 follow-on project from COOPEUS - FP7,  to develop 
the cooperation of Research Infrastructures to address global 
challenges in the environmental field) and EMSOlink (a H2020 
funded project led by the EMSO ERIC which will support the 
development of EMSO ERIC governance and facilitate the 
coordination of EMSO construction, operation, extension 
and maintenance). Throughout 2016 the Marine Institute has 
been active in submitting several European funded research 
proposals (H2020, INTERREG Atlantic Area, INTERREG VA, 
and and JPI Climate) which may also be funded, on completion 
of their respective evaluations early in 2017. 

The team remains active on the ICES, the European Global 
Ocean Observation System (EuroGOOS), Ireland-Biscay-
Iberia Regional Operational Oceanographic System (IBIROOS), 
North-West European Shelf Operational Oceanographic System 
(NOOS), and the management group of Euro-Argo - the 
European contribution to the international Argo network of 
autonomous floats to monitor key ocean variables. 

Together with the Marine Operations and MEFS chemistry 
teams, national funding was secured to plan and lead a GO-SHIP 
A02 transatlantic hydrographic section from Canada to Ireland 
in 2017, in partnership with scientists from Ireland, Germany, 

OCEAN SCIENCE AND INFORMATION SERVICES 
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UK, USA and Canada.    

During 2016, climate change became an increasingly important 
issue on the national policy agenda and the OS team provided 
support to DAFM towards preparing its Marine Sectoral 
Adaptation Plan. The Marine Institute has worked to instigate 
efforts towards a coordinated, multi-disciplinary and needs-
driven national approach, to addressing the challenges of 
climate change with relevant agencies such the EPA, Met 
Éireann, OPW and third level institutions.

Information Services and Development
The information services and development  team develops and 
manages ICT and data infrastructure and capabilities across the 
Marine Institute to provide a robust operational ICT and data 
platform in support of Institute operational and research service 
delivery.

IS&D manages a user service desk which serviced over 2,150 
internal support requests in 2016. Requests covered hardware, 
software and data management, and internal training. The 
team also coordinates the Marine Institute Data Request 
Service which processed 147 manual data requests from 
external sources in 2016. These requests came from many data 
users and included requests from the BBC for its forthcoming 
Oceans series and from web app developers to display local 
sea temperature information. Accessibility to data is increasing, 
with more data being made available online through services 
such as http://data.marine.ie, www.digitalocean.ie, 
http://atlas.marine.ie and www.oceanenergyireland.ie 
which have displayed regular usage throughout 2016.

IS&D was also involved in significant projects to develop 
Institute ICT capabilities or to support projects with external 
partners. These projects included:  developing a server 
infrastructure and streaming data system to support the Galway 
Bay Cabled Observatory; key ICT infrastructure upgrades in 
Oranmore and Wilton Park House to improve server, storage 
and communications capabilities; updates to the Fish Health 
management system and the harmful algal blooms service 
data system to support improvements in service delivery; and 
working with SEAI to develop an online atlas specifically for 
marine renewable energy development. 

The team was also involved in leading the development of the 
Irish digital ocean concept through the Digital Ocean portal 
with the addition of OPW and Argo data to www.digitalocean.ie. 
This also included developing new online data visualisations to 
provide more usable information to end-users. 

The team participated in successful EU research data 
management-related proposals as part of the EMODnet 
Ingestion and SeaDataCloud consortia, and continues to work 
with Insight-NUI Galway on the OpenGovIntelligence project 
which will publish “linked” oceanographic data from the subsea 
observatory.

A key activity for the IS&D team was leading the development 
of a new Marine Institute data strategy to support development 
of data capabilities within the Institute over the next four years. 
The strategy has been developed and will be implemented in 
conjunction with relevant staff members and is designed as 
an agile and adaptive strategy. It has put in place a plan and 
framework for optimising the value of marine data, including 
improved governance, data expertise and systems and an ability 
to leverage the value of our data through data re-use.
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Policy, Innovation and 
Research Support
Director’s Statement

Policy, Innovation and Research Support 
Services (PIRS) work to stimulate Irish 
marine research and to promote national and 
international collaboration. It also carries out 
policy and industry foresight which informs 
policy development and supports sustainable 
development. PIRS promotes the Marine 
Institute’s role as a research partner and 
ensures that Irish marine researchers are 
aware of relevant national and international 
developments.

The team works closely with the research 
community in Ireland to ensure maximum 
participation in international and national 
programmes. This includes aligning Marine 
Institute funding with national and EU 
programmes to ensure maximum impact, 
while minimising gaps in key marine funding.

Incorporated within PIRS is the Institute’s 
participation in the AORA-CSA. This is a 
European Union coordination and support 
action project, funded under the H2020 
programme for research. It supports the 
implementation of the Galway Statement, 
signed by the United States, Canada and the 
EU in 2013. During 2016, PIRS also took over 
from the Socio Economic Marine Research 
Unit (SEMRU) at NUI Galway as the Irish 
National unit of the support team for the 
Atlantic Action Plan.

Other noteworthy activities involving PIRS:
• Convening and supporting an 

implementation group focused on 
the actions arising from the 2015 
Development Task Force report, which led 
to the formation of a Marine Development 
Team.

• SeaFest 2016, Galway Harbour, County 
Galway and the Our Ocean Wealth 
conference at NUI Galway, which included 
the launch of the SmartBay subsea 
observatory in Galway Bay.

• Three Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance 
(AORA) Atlantic survey transects.

• Continued development of the 
SmartOcean industry cluster, and profiling 
of Irish Marine technology companies at 
international events.

• Investments of €9.8m under the Institute’s 
Marine Research Measure include €3.0m 
for ship-time on research vessels and the 
Remotely Operated Underwater Vehicle 
and €7.8m on new research projects.

• Irish researchers won H2020 funded 
awards of €6.6m.

Mr John Evans
Director: Policy, Innovation and Research 
Support

POLICY, INNOVATION AND RESEARCH SUPPORT



32 MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Policy Support
PIRS continued to support the Interdepartmental Marine 
Coordination Group with specific focus on implementing 
Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth – Ireland’s Integrated Marine 
Plan. This included organising and supporting the annual Our 
Ocean Wealth conference in NUI Galway as part of the SeaFest 
2016 programme of events. Also coinciding with the conference, 
PIRS was responsible for coordinating and publishing the 
Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth Annual Review of Progress as 
well as managing related online communications including 
ouroceanwealth.ie and social media.

Following the publication of the Our Ocean Wealth 
Development Task Force report in 2015, an implementation 
work group was established in January 2016 to progress 
the recommendations with specific focus on establishing an 
integrated Marine Development Team (MDT). Working across 
a range of development and marine-related agencies (IDA, 
Enterprise Ireland, BIM, Bord Bia, Fáilte Ireland, IMDO, GSI), 
PIRS provided secretariat support to the group which reported 
back to the Marine Coordination Group, culminating  in an 
announcement in June that the IMDO would host the MDT. 

PIRS also completed a draft of a new Marine Research and 
Innovation Strategy for Ireland. The Strategy comprises fifteen 
research themes and its preparation included an assessment 
of Ireland’s marine research maturity in these themes across 
three dimensions: capacity, infrastructure, networks and 
relationships. Following a public consultation in November and 
December, the Strategy is due to be completed and published 
in 2017. As part of the preparation process, the Marine 
Institute established a third-level marine contact group with 
representatives from Irish Higher Education Institutes and 
other research performing organisations. The group met twice 
during the year to discuss the Strategy and Ireland’s position on 
marine-related H2020 work programmes.

PIRS continued to work with the Socio-Economic Marine 
Research Unit (SEMRU) in NUI Galway on the ongoing collection 
and analysis of economic data aimed at valuing Ireland’s Ocean 
economy. PIRS also worked with other Institute colleagues in 
a pilot project on promoting marine-related careers as part 
of the National Careers Portal. The project aims to support 
recommendations arising from the report of the Expert Group 
on Future Skills Needs, supporting Goal Three and specific 
actions contained in Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth, and by 
addressing recommendations arising from the Development 
Task Force.

Finally, following a workshop in April, the task force on marine 
biotechnology finalised its work and presented its report to the 
Marine Institute. The report, which will form the basis for the 
Institute’s approach to topics such as marine biodiscovery, will 
be published in 2017.

Office of Research and Development 
The Office of Research and Development managed €9.8m 
in investments under the Marine Institute’s Marine Research 
Measure: €3.0m for ship-time on the research vessels and 
remotely operated vehicle; and €7.8m on new research projects. 

The ship-time investment funded the research vessels and 
the remotely operated vehicle for multi-disciplinary marine 
research and student training in Irish waters and beyond 
(further details provided in Appendix 1). Under the programme 
93 days were supported for research and 63 days were provided 
for training on-board RV Celtic Explorer and RV Celtic Voyager. 

Highly competitive co-funded programmes with SFI and the 
Marine biotechnology ERAnet (ERA-MBT) were undertaken 
through investments of €1.8m and €0.3m respectively. 
These programmes provide springboards for the Principal 
Investigators to leverage further funding through H2020 and 
future rounds of national funding. 

Three calls inviting Irish researchers to use Marine Institute 
managed national infrastructure were also awarded. The first 
of these was the National infrastructure access programme. 
This programme enables researchers funded access to the 
SmartBay test and demonstration facility. A total of €0.2m was 
awarded to nine projects. A Discovery call on Bioresources saw 
the National marine biodiscovery laboratory in Ireland project 
awarded €0.9m to expand and run the national biodiscovery 
laboratory at the Marine Institute. Finally, two projects were 
awarded €2.6m under an Industry measure supporting fisheries 
resources. These projects will undertake research at the Marine 
Institute’s Newport Catchment facility where these programmes 
will work alongside and add value to the programmes and 
extensive data series at Newport. 

Two policy support calls saw projects on Valuing Ireland’s Ocean 
Economy and Understanding Ocean Acidification funded by 
€0.5m and €0.65m respectively. The six newly funded Cullen 
Fellowships brought the total to eighteen, and investment in 
this programme to €0.15m. The researcher mobility programme 
(networking grants and Fulbright scholarships) continued 
through an investment of €82,000 to support Irish researchers 
to build collaborations, and to promote their research in Ireland, 
the EU and globally.

Research projects initiated under the SeaChange programme 
were also brought to a conclusion. The final reports from the 
EIRCODi and Nutramara projects will be published shortly and 
will be available on the Marine Institute Open Access Repository. 
During SeaFest 2016 a SeaChange Researcher workshop took 
place at the Marine Institute and provided young researchers 
from these and other SeaChange projects the opportunity to 
present their work.

Sadly, December 2016 saw the death of Dr Richard FitzGerald of 
NUI Galway who was the Principal Investigator on the EIRCOD 
project. Dr FitzGerald was a marine scientist of great knowledge 
and a leading figure in marine science in Ireland who will be 
greatly missed by his colleagues in the Marine Institute.

Internally, the Research Office also supported Marine Institute 
colleagues in financial management and administration of 
EU-funded research projects.  Support is currently provided 
for nineteen projects (including the new H2020 projects), 
valued in excess of €4.2m in grant-aid to the Marine Institute. 
The Irish support unit of the Atlantic Action Plan, within PIRS 
assisted with organising the 3rd Atlantic Stakeholder Platform 
conference: Promoting Entrepreneurship and Innovation in 
the Atlantic Area (Croke Park, Dublin, 27th September). This 
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annual conference is the central hub for stakeholders in the 
Atlantic Strategy to network and explore areas for cooperation; 
share information and good practices; promote and identify 
interesting project ideas as well as funding opportunities and 
partnerships for their projects.

The Irish Support Unit also organised the 3rd Irish National 
Event: Linking the Atlantic Strategy and Current Funding 
Opportunities in Galway on 24 November.   The event explored 
current EU funding opportunities available to Irish researchers 
that address Priority 2 of the Atlantic Action Plan: Protect, 
Secure and Enhance the Marine and Coastal Environment. The 
aim was to clarify the link between the Atlantic Strategy and 
available opportunities, and to introduce the new Irish Support 
Unit team to Irish stakeholders.

International Programmes
In addition to the international collaborations carried out by the 
other services areas in the Marine Institute, PIRS takes the lead 
in international research coordination and policy support. This 
function involves representing Ireland in international research 
fora and ensuring that Irish researchers are kept informed and 
involved in international initiatives and developments. 

John Evans continued his role as national delegate to the 
Programme Committee for Societal Challenge 2 of the EU 
H2020 research funding framework dealing with marine 
aspects of the committee’s work. Dr Fiona Grant, the 
International Programmes Manager, continued to act in her role 
as national contact point for marine aspects of H2020 funding 
and was also appointed a national expert to the Programme 
Committee.

Other representation provided by PIRS included the 
European Marine Board; EurOcean and the Intergovernmental 
Oceanographic Commission hosted by UNESCO, all of which 
are supported by Dr Grant. In addition, John Evans is a member 
of the Management Board of JPI Oceans. A key achievement in 
2016 related to Ireland’s signature of two European Research 
Infrastructure Consortia in the marine; EMSO, relating to 
deep sea observatories, and Euro-Argo, profiling floats. The 
background to this work was undertaken over an extended 
period with colleagues in OSIS. Ad hoc, but nationally important 
initiatives in relation to marine biotechnology, were also 
supported as required.

Information events were held in the Marine Institute 
headquarters to promote open H2020 calls in January and 
as part of a broader Atlantic Strategy event in Galway in 
November. In January, sixty-seven researchers, engineers 
and SMEs attended the information event which included a 
dedicated session on proposal writing. Thirty people attended a 
separate marine-funding session of the Atlantic Action Plan day 
in November. Dr Grant also co-hosted roadshow events in the 
Higher Education Institutes with Societal Challenge 5 National 
Contact Points (NCP) and in Northern Ireland with Inter-trade 
Ireland.

2016 saw a number of awards across the range of H2020 
funding instruments representing continued success by the 
marine research community in Ireland.

Under the Blue Growth calls, GENIALG (GENetic diversity 
exploitation for Innovative macroALGAL  biorefinery) involving 
NUI Galway and Aqua TT as partners, received €1,027,172. 
Under the Research and Innovation Action topic on the Arctic, 
National University of Ireland, Maynooth was successful and 
the only Irish applicant in the INTAROS project with a budget of 
€88,339 to achieve a 100per cent success rate. The MarTERA 
co-fund application was also successful with a nominal value 
of €471,946 (and additional funding of approximately €1m to 
be disbursed to successful projects with Irish partners). The 
Blue Growth awards totalled €1,587,457, giving an overall take 
of 2.2per cent from the Blue Growth calls. In addition, Aqua TT 
was listed as a third-party under an SFS call on aquaculture 
development for South East Asia.

Other important funding wins for marine-related topics 
included a series of Erasmus+ for learner and staff mobility, 
including an International Masters in Marine and Biological 
Resources (IMBRSea) run by GMIT. Under the Infrastructures 
calls, the Marine Institute is a partner in EMSO-Link (value 
€357,055) and SeaDataCloud (value €119,375). Significant 
awards for strategic renewable ocean energy infrastructure 
projects were won by the MaREI centre hosted by UCC – 
namely the Marinet 2 (value (€1,622,610) and Marinerg-i (value 
€433,062) projects. Both NUI Galway-DERI (value €475,000) 
and the Marine Institute (value €117,362) are partners in 
OpenGovIntelligence. Dare Technology was successful under 
the SME Phase 1 instrument (value €50,000) while a large 
award went to OpenHydro under the Fast Track to Innovation 
Pilot that looked at a tidal turbine industrial capability (value 
€1,773,297).

The total awards for all Irish marine-related H2020 funded 
projects was €6,661,467.

National Advanced Marine Technology 
Programme
The National Advanced Marine Technology (AMT) Programme 
continued to support development of a critical mass of 
research and innovation activities in marine technologies.  
The programme focused on supporting innovation clusters 
and world-class development infrastructure. This included 
areas such as sensor technologies and platforms, advanced 
communications, computer vision and robotics, as well as data 
management and information systems.

Events promoted by the programme included Oceanology 
International 2016 at ExCel London in March, and the Digital 
Ocean conference in June. At the Oceanology event, the Marine 
Institute hosted a pavilion to promote some of Ireland’s most 
innovative marine technology organisations.  The Digital Ocean 
conference took place in Galway as part of SeaFest 2016. The 
event was organised by the Marine Institute; Department of 
Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation; IDA; Enterprise Ireland; Science 
Foundation Ireland; Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland; 
Irish Maritime Development Office and SmartBay Ireland. 

The conference promoted Ireland’s digital ocean opportunity by 
highlighting how technology companies can drive new forms of 
innovation in the blue economy, using Ireland as a test-bed with 

POLICY, INNOVATION AND RESEARCH SUPPORT
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its significant marine resource and world-class expertise and 
infrastructure. It also featured insights from companies in the 
technology sector and showcased national infrastructure and 
expertise that are supporting Ireland’s growing reputation as a 
compelling location to do business. 

The SmartBay Subsea Observatory in Galway Bay was also 
launched during the year. The observatory, supported by the 
Marine Institute, SEAI and Science Foundation Ireland, will be 
used to collect valuable data from the ocean and will be a critical 
component of a world-class maritime infrastructure in Ireland.

A key element of the work of the AMT has been to support 
the work of Ireland’s development agencies in working in 
the marine sphere. The programme supported an IDA trade 
mission to the UK undertaken in October while November saw 
the launch of the Irish Marine Industry Network by Enterprise 
Ireland, an initiative of strategic importance for positioning 
Ireland at the forefront of marine innovation through 
maximising collaboration and cross-sectoral opportunities.

Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance Coordination 
and Support Action
Once more, demonstrating commitment to implementing the 
Galway Statement and the subsequent Atlantic Ocean Research 
alliance between the European Union, Canada and the United 
States, three more AORA Atlantic survey transects were 
undertaken. The French Ifremer Research Vessel L’Atlante left 
port at the end of January and mapped close to the mid-Atlantic 
Ridge from south to north in the zone 26°N to the limits of the 
Portuguese Exclusive Economic Zone  south of the Azores. In 
May, the Irish research vessel RV Celtic Explorer conducted 
a parallel transect to that performed in 2015 from St John’s, 
Newfoundland, Canada to Galway, Ireland. Finally, the third 
survey was undertaken by the Canadian Coast Guard vessel, 
CCGS Louis S. St-Laurent, on a line parallel to that taken on last 
year’s transect from Halifax, Nova Scotia to Tromø, Norway. 
Blogs of these activities were organised and supported by the 
AORA-CSA Secretariat.

In March, the AORA-CSA Secretariat participated in significant 
networking opportunities during the St Patrick’s Day 
celebrations in Washington D.C. Meetings were organised 
between the AORA-CSA, EU and NOAA, NASA, USA National 
Science Foundation, USA Business Leaders, the USA 
Consortium of Ocean Leadership and the EU Delegation to the 
USA.  

The AORA-CSA and the H2020 Ocean Literacy projects 
(ResponSEAble and Sea Change) met in Athens, Greece in 
May and began to coordinate activities among the projects.  
The AORA-CSA was invited to present at a regional PLOCAN 
conference in Gran Canaria, Spain on Ocean Observation and 
Sensors: synergies with energy industries. 

A Trilateral Galway Statement Implementation Committee 
meeting took place in Brussels 13 June - again with the 
participation of Canada, Europe and the United States as well 
as South Africa, Brazil and JPI Oceans. At the end of June, 
the Atlantic Seabed Mapping International Working Group 
(ASMIWG) met at the Marine Institute, Galway, and used the 

full suite of supports offered by the Coordination and Support 
Actions. The second board meeting of the AORA-CSA took 
place in Galway, followed by an Atlantic Researcher Mobility 
scoping workshop.

Significantly, 2016 was a major reporting year during which 
the 18-month technical and financial reports to the European 
Commission were submitted, along with workshop reports and 
inventories of trans-Atlantic research activities in the AORA 
prioritised research areas.

In October, the AORA-CSA held a special session on Perception 
of Aquaculture at the European Marine Science Educators 
Association conference (EMSEA2016) in Belfast. Also in 
October, the coordination and support action organised a 
workshop on shared access to marine research infrastructures 
alongside the International Ship Operators Meeting in Anacapri, 
Italy. 

In November, the AORA-CSA supported wider Atlantic 
community participation at International Research Ship 
Operators Forum 2016 Forum in Italy and also presented 
to the AtlantOS workshop on strategies, methods and new 
technologies for a sustained and integrated autonomous in-situ 
observing system for the Atlantic Ocean in Gran Canaria, Spain.  
A full suite of supports followed for the second Atlantic Seabed 
Mapping International Working Group meeting in Rostock-
Warnemünde, Germany, alongside the Hydro2016 conference. 
The learnings of the AORA-CSA workshop on shared access 
to marine research infrastructure were communicated to the 
working group at this meeting. 

The Marine Institute led project, Atlantic Ocean Research 
Alliance Co-ordination and Support Action (AORA-CSA), 
received the first Atlantic Project Award for International 
Cooperation at the Atlantic Stakeholders Conference at the 
Croke Park conference centre in September 2016. Pictured 
(LtoR) Dr Peter Heffernan CEO of the Marine Institute and 
Action Coordinator AORA-CSA; Dr Margaret Rae, Action 
Director AORA-CSA; Karmenu Vella, European Commissioner 
for Environment, Maritime Affairs and Fisheries; and Dr John 
Killeen, Marine Institute Chairman.
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General Administration
Audit Risk Committee 

Membership
During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC) comprised the following non-executive 
members of the Board:  Patricia Barker, David Owens, Donal 
Kelly and Dermot Clohessey.  Both Donal Kelly* and Dermot 
Clohessy* were appointed to the ARC in July of 2016.  

Meetings
Five meetings were held during the year and attendance of 
Directors was as follows

Date Patricia 
Barker

Dermot 
Clohessy*

Donal 
Kelly*

David 
Owens

1  March √ √

26 April √ √

20 September √ √ √ √

8 November √ √ √ √

6 December √ √ √

While all directors have a duty to act in the interests of the 
company, the Audit and Risk Committee has a particular role, 
acting independently from the executive, to ensure that the 
interests of the stakeholders are properly protected in relation 
to the financial reporting oversight, internal control, internal and 
external audit, risk management and corporate governance. 

The Role of the Audit and Risk Committee The role of the ARC is 
to oversee and advise the Board and the Chief Executive Officer 
on matters relating to:

• Financial, operating and governance risks, including 
overall risk management

• The effectiveness of the internal controls and risk 
management

• The effectiveness of internal audit function
• Communication with the Comptroller and Auditor General
• The adequacy of governance procedures, and
• Value for money issues.

While ARCs, in general, have a duty to appoint, monitor the 
work of and receive reports from the External Auditor, the 
Marine Institute is audited by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General.  The main duties of the ARC in exercising oversight 
of the relationship with the external auditor, the Comptroller 
and Auditor General included meeting with the Comptroller 
and Auditor General on one occasion.  Therefore, ARC did not 
discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the 

audit to be undertaken, but met with the external auditor to 
review his findings and the outcome of the audit, along with 
his recommendations contained in the Management Letter.  
The Committee also monitored the integrity of the financial 
statements prepared by the Company. 

Areas identified for focus during 2016
In addition to completing the work related to the roles outlined 
above, the ARC focussed on the following areas during 2016:

• We worked with the Executive and its advisors in moving 
the Company to financial statements prepared under 
FRS102;

• The Committee kept under review the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal controls and risk management 
systems;

• We monitored the Risk Management System and the 
movement of risks on the register.  In this regard, we 
worked with management in establishing the Business 
Continuity Plan;

• We engaged with the internal auditor to discuss the work 
programme and the outcomes of the internal audits 
and we assessed our reliance on the conclusions of the 
internal auditor;

• We worked with the Executive, with the collaboration of 
the Government Procurement Agency, in procuring the 
services of Mazars as our Internal Auditors for a period of 
three years;

• We  monitored the adoption and implementation of the 
recommendations of internal and external auditors

• We engaged with the CFO and CEO to assure ourselves 
as to the accounting judgements applied to the financial 
statements;

• We oversaw the new Policy on Protected Disclosure;
• We oversaw the new Ethics Policy;
• We conducted a deep dive into the procedures and 

policies on Cyber Security;
• We reviewed the 2016 Code on the Governance of State 

Bodies and the supporting guidance relating to ARC and 
revised our Terms of Reference accordingly.

Effectiveness Review
During the year we conducted an Effectiveness Review on our 
own work and reported to the Board on the results, which were 
largely satisfactory.  It was agreed, with the Board’s approval to 
have an independent review conducted in 2017.

GENERAL ADMININISTRATION
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Terms of Reference
The terms of reference of the ARC have been approved by the 
Board and are reviewed on an annual basis and amended as 
appropriate. 

Conflicts of Interest
At each of its meetings, ARC considers the possibility of 
conflicts of interest arising in relation to its agenda and such 
conflicts are dealt with in accordance with the Board’s policy.

The ARC, having considered all relationships between 
the Institute and the internal audit firm, does not consider 
that those relationships impair the auditor’s judgement or 
independence

Liaison
The programme of the Marine Institute covers a wide range of 
activities that require close liaison and cooperation with many 
individuals and organisations. These include the Department of 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine, the Department of Finance, 
Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local 
Government, Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport, 
as well as other government departments and state agencies, 
private enterprise and the higher education sector. The Institute 
acknowledges the continued support and cooperation of all 
concerned.

Health and Safety
In accordance with the Health and Safety and Welfare Act 
(1989), the Marine Institute has up-dated all Health and Safety 
Statements. The Institute continues to implement appropriate 
measures to protect the safety and health of all employees and 
visitors to its premises.

Ethics and Public Office Act
All persons holding a designated position within the Marine 
Institute complied with the requirements of the Public Office 
Commission in accordance with sections 18 and 20 of the Ethics 
in Public Office Act, 1995.

Employment Equality
The Marine Institute is committed to a policy of equal 
opportunity and adopts a proactive approach to equality. The 
Institute operates a number of schemes that provide staff with 
options in relation to meeting their career and personal needs, 
such as job sharing, study leave and educational programmes.

Code of Practice (Reporting)
The Marine Institute adheres to the statutory Codes of Practice 
for Governance of State Bodies as laid down by the Department 
of Finance. The Institute can confirm that Directors and 
employees have adopted and are trained on:

• Formal code of conduct on conflict of interest and 
customer charter

• Properly constituted Audit Committees
• Procurement procedures
• Sensitive Issues

Energy Efficiency Reporting by Public Sector 
Bodies (S.I. 542 of 2009)
The headquarters in Oranmore and the research vessels RV 
Celtic Explorer and RV Celtic Voyager are the Institute’s main 
energy consumers. As the research vessels operate a Fuel 
Usage Minimisation policy there are no additional energy 
reduction opportunities to implement.

The Institute produced an Energy Reduction Strategy and 
Policy in 2016 which focusses on behavioural change within the 
organisation and how energy is consumed on a day to day basis.

Fourteen energy reduction objectives have been set by the Get 
Greener energy team which will be targeted for the duration of 
the four year strategy. 

In 2016 the Marine Institute consumed:

 » 2,578,856 kWh of electricity (estimated)
 » 14,600 litres of Kerosene 
 » 290,839 litres of bulk propane gas for heating 
 » 7,920 litres of road diesel 
 » 2,265,285 litres of Marine gasoil for Marine Institute 

funded research surveys 

A significant reduction (approx. 30per cent) in LPG /bulk 
propane gas from 2015-2016 was gained through adjustments 
to mechanical plant and equipment in Oranmore.  Boiler and 
heating system settings were reduced without affecting the 
daily operations of the plant. Kerosene also reduced due to 
new operating practices implemented for office heating in the 
Newport facility. 

An increase in Marine gasoil was observed between 2015-2016 
due to an increase in survey days and nautical miles travelled.  
However, an overall reduction in energy has been seen through 
the implementation of the variety of operational changes 
shown above. The laboratories are continually looking to make 
improvements and 2016 saw LED Lighting replacement for 
walk-in incubator in one section.

Ongoing plans to improve efficiencies in the laboratories include 
reduced Fumehood operational times and the introduction of 
alternative venting for chemical storage units.

Scéim Gaeilge 2016 Update
The Grúpa Gaeilge was established to prepare the Marine 
Institute’s Irish Language Scheme/Scéim Foras na Mara under 
Section 11 of the Official Languages Act 2003.  The first period 
of the scheme Gaeilge expired in 2012 and preparation and 
development of the second phase of the scheme was overseen 
by the Grúpa Gaeilge in 2012 and 2013.  This was lodged with 
the Irish Language Commissioners office in November 2013. 
The updated scheme was confirmed by the Minister and will 
remain in force for a three year period from 6 October 2014. The 
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second period of the scheme builds on the extensive efforts to 
implement the requirements under the Act which were brought 
about under the first period following identification of areas 
for enhancement of Irish language services provided by the 
Institute.  

The Irish Language Commissioners carried out monitoring 
of the first year of the second period of the scheme between 
December 2015 and April 2016 which involved a review of the 
implementation of the scheme in 2015 followed by a site visit 
by the Commissioners to the Marine Institute in Oranmore.  The 
Commissioners evaluation of the process to date was that the 
scheme was being implemented satisfactorily and provided 
a series of recommendations.  The implementation of these 
recommendations has been discussed at a subsequent meeting 
of the Grúpa Gaeilge.   

The second period will maintain the commitment to assess, on 
an ongoing basis, the level of demand for services through Irish 
and to ensure that the Marine Institute continues to meet this 
demand in a planned, coherent and accessible way.  The Marine 
Institute continues to gauge the level of demand for its services 
in the Irish language by carrying out regular audits through a 
system of counting/measuring the level of queries/requests 
for services through Irish in a given period. However, in order to 
generate requests for services, the Marine Institute documents 
and promotes awareness amongst staff and clients as to which 
services the Institute provides in Irish.

GENERAL ADMININISTRATION

The Marine Institute Get Green team hosted three energy awareness days for staff to learn more about energy saving at work and at home in 
late September early October in 2016. Photograph Andrea Woods
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Research 
Measure

Research 
Programme Project Type Project 

Reference Project Title Grantee / Lead Total Grant-
Aid

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16007/
CV16013/
CV16016

NMCI Shipboard Familiarisation 
and Training

Cork Institute of
Technology €32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16003/
CV16042

SMART Accredited Common
Learning Module 
(Spring and Winter 2016)

Galway-Mayo
Institute of 
Technology

€152,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16002 SMART MaREI Ocean Energy 2016
Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€16,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16046

SMART Science at Sea 2016:
Multidisciplinary Ship-Based
Training for Students of Marine-
Related Sciences

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology €32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16009

Undergraduate Shipboard Training
in Methods of Oceanographic,
Benthic, Megafauna and 
Fisheries Research

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology €72,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16040 MSc Marine Biology 
Training 2016

University College 
Cork €24,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16038 Galway Bay Postgraduate 
Training 2016

National University
of Ireland, Galway €32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16005 SMART NUI Galway SEMRU 2016
Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€8,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16006 SMART AFGDP Fisheries and 
Aquaculture 2016

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€16,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16017 SMART Applied Marine Biological 
Sampling and Data Collection

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16033 SMART AWI-POGO Atlantic Ocean 
Climate Scholars Programme

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16012 SMART AIT MEng MECI Common 
Learning Module 2016

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16004/
CV16011

SMART UCC Practical Offshore       
Geological Exploration 2016

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€32,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Dedicated
Training
Programme

CV16039

Multidisciplinary Survey Planning  
A Peer Assisted Learning Exercise 
Led by Postgraduate and Final
Year Degree Students

Galway-Mayo
Institute of
Technology

€72,000

APPENDIX 1: 

MARINE RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2014 – 2020 
SHIP-TIME  PROGRAMME AWARDS 2016

FUNDED RESEARCH PROJECTS 2015

MARINE RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2014-2020 – SHIP-TIME PROGRAMME 2015
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Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CE16002 Ocean Climate Sections and
Geology: Porcupine, Rockall Areas Marine Institute €162,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CE16003 Mackerel Egg Survey Marine Institute €151,200

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CE16001/
CE16004 Anglerfish and Megrim Survey Marine Institute €302,400

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CE16009 Boarfish Survey Marine Institute €151,200

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CE16007 Transatlantic Added Value 2016 National  University
of Ireland, Galway €234,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CE16006 Submarine Canyon Ecosystem 
Services

National  University
of Ireland, Galway €490,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CE16010 NISS: The Newfoundland
Ice Sheet glaciated Shelf University of Ulster €54,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

N/A
Marine Renewable Energy
Intervention ROV subsystems
testing

University
of Limerick €28,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CV16008 Winter Environmental Survey of 
Programme Irish Coastal Waters 2016 Marine Institute €104,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CV16029 AZBO The Biological Oceanography
of Azadinium Marine Institute €72,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Policy
Support
Survey

CV16014/
CV16019 Sea Bass Survey 2016 Marine Institute €56,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16025 DINO16 (Dinophysis Harmful
Algal Bloom)

National  University
of Ireland, Galway €88,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16034 GATEWAYS III: Internal structure
of the ridges of the Porcupine Saddle

National University
of Ireland, 
Maynooth

€80,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16035 Biogeochemical Survey National University
of Ireland, Galway €64,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16023 Marine Medicines from the Irish Deep National University
of Ireland, Galway €88,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16036/
CE16015

Shallow Sub-Seabed Seismic 
Stratigraphic Survey

University College 
Cork €120,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16001/
CV16030 Rockall OBS Network Dublin Institute for

Advanced Studies €128,000

Infrastructure
Supporting

Research Vessel
Ship-Time

Integrated
Research
Survey

CV16041 Novel Foundation for 
Floating Offshore Wind

University College
Dublin €40,000

TOTAL €2,996,800

APPENDICES 
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Research 
Measure

Research 
Programme Project Type Project 

Reference Project Title Grantee / Lead Total Grant-
Aid

Policy 
Support

Marine
Environment

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/01

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Contaminants in Seabird Eggs as a
higher trophic level indicator of
Contaminants in Irish marine waters

Galway-Mayo
Institute
of Technology

€73,500

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/03

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Monkfish management strategy
evaluation 

Galway-Mayo
Institute
of Technology

€72,000

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/04

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Oceanographic modelling of 
Nephrops populations around Ireland

National University
of Ireland, Galway €72,000

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/05

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Development of Distributional Indicators 
to Support MSFD

Galway-Mayo
Institute
of Technology

€72,000

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/08

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Modelling the food web in the Irish 
Sea in the context of a depleted 
commercial fish community

Scottish 
Association for 
Marine Science

€72,000

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Postgraduate
Fellowship CF/16/09

Cullen Fellowship (PhD):
Population structure of lobster
(Homarus gammarus) in Irish waters

Queen’s
University Belfast €72,000

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Principal
Investigator
funded Award

RESPI/FS/
16/01 Fish Population Genetics University 

College Cork *€500,000

Policy 
Support

Policy, Socio-
Economic and 
Legal

Project-Based
Award

PBA/SE/
16/01

Valuing and understanding the
Dynamics of Ireland’s Ocean
Economy

National University
of Ireland, Galway €523,012

Policy 
Support

Marine
Environment

Project-Based
Award

PBA/ME/
 16/01

Ocean Acidification and
Biogeochemistry: variability, trends
and vulnerability

National University
of Ireland, Galway €649,983

Discovery
Marine 
Biodiscovery/
Biotechnology

Project-Based
Award

PBA/MB/
16/01

A National Marine Biodiscovery
Laboratory

National University
of Ireland, Galway €899,709

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Project-Based
Award

PBA/FS/
16/02

Newport Catchment Research Cluster
BEYOND 2020 (Burrishoole
Ecosystem Observatory Network
 2020)

Dundalk Institute 
of Technology €1,999,996

Industry Fisheries
Resources

Project-Based
Award

PBA/FS/
16/03

Newport Catchment Research Cluster 
Unlocking the archive: using scale
and otolith chronologies to resolve  
climate impacts

Galway-Mayo
Institute of 
Technology

€576,241

Discovery
Marine 
Biodiscovery/
Biotechnology

SFI Investigators
Programme 
(managed by SFI)

15/IA/3100
MI (N)

Exploiting and conserving deep-sea
genetic resources

National University
of Ireland, Galway #€970,075

Industry Fisheries
Resources

SFI Investigators
Programme
(managed by SFI)

15/IA/3028
MI (N)

Wild farmed interactions in a 
changing world: formulation of a
predictive methodology to inform 
environmental best practice to secure
long-term sustainability of global 
wild and farm fish populations

University 
College Cork #€854,793

APPENDIX 2: 
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Innovation
Supporting Innovation Networking

Travel Grants 
NT/16/01 to
NT/16/110

Attendance at or Hosting of Marine
Conferences, Workshops and
Events

Various €69,508

To be confirmed To be confirmed

Capacity Building
(Ireland/USA
Programme)

2017/18 
(managed by     
Fulbright
Commission)

Marine Institute Fulbright 
Fellowship(s) To be confirmed €22,000

Policy 
Support

Policy, Socio-
Economic and 
Legal

Project-Based
Award N/A Fostering Innovation in the

Ocean Economy OECD €20,000

Policy 
Support Ocean Literacy Ocean Awareness

Grant OA/16/01 John Philip Holland
Documentary, English translation Dearcán Media €10,000

Policy 
Support Ocean Literacy Ocean Awareness

Grant OA/16/02 Bringing the “Atlantic” documentary 
to the classroom

Scannáin 
Inbhear Teoranta €10,000

Policy 
Support Ocean Literacy Ocean Awareness

Grant OA/16/03 Oceans of Life Animation University 
College Cork €5,000

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/
16002

Investigating water column scale 
velocity structure using passive 
acoustic measurements (PassVel)

Dublin Institute for 
Advanced Studies €24,940

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16003

Characterising biofouling and 
biocorrosion on deployment 
mooring elastomers and springs 
and review of alternative materials

Dublin City 
University €23,200

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16006

Movement ecology of Irish salmonids: 
seaward migration, near-shore 
residency and energy landscapes

Queen’s University 
Belfast €25,000

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16007

Understanding underwater video 
content: investigating object 
detection and recognition 
for the SmartBay camera platform

Dublin City 
University €24,433

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16008

In-situ installation of a live 
streaming imaging SONAR 
controllable via a web portal

University of 
Limerick €25,000

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16009

Options for expanding the working 
footprint of a deep sea cabled 
observatory node

University of 
Limerick €17,350

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16010

Wave parameter estimation from 
oscillating water column pressure 
Signal

Dundalk Institute 
of Tehnology €25,000

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16011 Buoy Power University College 

Cork €24,500

Infrastructure 
Supporting

National
Infrastructure
Access
Programme

SmartBay Test and
Demonstration
Facility

NIAP/16/ 
16012

JFC Marine buoy as an environment 
data sensor buoy and host for a 
Sea View Systems directional wave 
sensor

Galway-Mayo
Institute
of Technology

€19,898

TOTAL €7,753,138

* This represents the Marine Institute contribution to the project, which is jointly funded with University College Cork.

# This represents the Marine Institute contribution to the project, which is jointly funded with Science Foundation Ireland.

APPENDICES 



42 MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016

The Marine Institute supports Irish researchers and Small and Medium Enterprise participation in a variety of EU competitive funding 
programmes, in particular H2020. The Institute provides a national delegate (John Evans) for the H2020 Programme Committee for 
the Societal Challenge on ‘Food Security, Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry, Marine, Maritime and Inland Water Research, and the 
Bioeconomy’ Societal Challenge 2 (SC2). Dr Fiona Grant acts as NCP for this societal challenge and works with NCPs in other programmes to 
maximise Irish participation in the programme as part of Ireland’s NCP network. SC2 includes the Blue Growth topic area which is dedicated 
to marine topics, and also the Sustainable Food Security, the Innovative, Sustainable and Inclusive Bioeconomy and SME Instrument topic 
areas.

Ireland performed well in the results of those calls launched in 2016 in relation to SC2. Irish performance is summarised below. In Blue 
Growth, NUI Galway and Aqua TT were successful in a highly competitive topic on algae biorefineries – GENIALG (total national budget 
€1,027,172.50). National University of Ireland, Maynooth are also partners in INTAROS, the integrated Arctic Observation System project 
(value €88,339). The table illustrates that the Marine Institute’s catalytic role for marine research in Ireland through the participation in the 
MarTera marine technologies co-fund which will be disbursed to Irish partners in addition to a nominal €1m national contribution. Under 
Sustainable Food Security, Aqua TT are a third party on the EURASTIP project looking at cooperation with South East Asia in the area of 
aquaculture (value €126,248). There were no SME projects under Blue Growth for either Phase 1 or Phase 2 awarded in 2016.

Retained Budget 2016 IE € 2016 IE % 2016 MI € 2016 MI % 2016

Blue Growth - All Marine Topics 73,798,929 1,587,457 2.2% 471,946 29.7%

Sust. Food Security - 1 Marine Topic 31,615,171 126,248 0.4% 0 0.0%

2016 IRISH PERFORMANCE 105,414,100 1,713,705 1.63% 471,946 0.45%

While the success rate in Blue Growth topics at 2.2per cent is lower than in previous years (topics were less suited to Irish marine expertise) 
some very strong results for the marine are evident across other societal challenges and H2020 pillars. In total, for currently available 
data, Irish researchers and companies won €6,661,468 in EU grant aid contributions in 2016. The Marine Institute continued its success 
as an H2020 research performer in its own right in the EMSO-Link (€357,055); SeaDataCloud (€119,375) and OpenGovIntelligence 
projects (€117,362) with total awards of €1,065,738 in 2016 (including the MarTera allocation). The SFI-funded MaREI centre in Cork were 
significantly successful in strategic infrastructure projects for marine renewable energy, namely Marinet 2 (€1,622,610) and Marinerg-i 
(€433,062). GMIT are partners in an International Masters in Marine and Biological Resources (IMBRSea) funded by Erasmus+. Dare 
Technology were successful under the SME Phase 1 instrument (value €50,000) whilst a large award under the Fast Track to Innovation 
Pilot went to OpenHydro looking a tidal turbine industrial capability (value €1,773,297.40).

This is in line with the trend started in FP7 and continued in the 2016 H2020 results which saw strong performance by the Marine Institute 
and the wider marine research community in Ireland. 

The cumulative Irish performance in relation to marine topics across all areas of H2020 to date now stands at €26.2m. These figures 
include, but are not limited to, projects under SC5 (Climate Action), SC3 (Energy), SC7 (Secure Societies) and the Leadership in Enabling and 
Industrial Technologies (LEIT) pillar for marine Research Infrastructures. 
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Fish Census
The Burrishoole fish (salmon, trout, eel) census programme, which includes the upstream and downstream trap census and the 
juvenile stock monitoring in the streams and lakes using electrofishing and beach seine, forms the basis for much of the stock 
assessment and provision of stock and catch advice for salmon and eel.  Research includes stock-recruitment and linking S-R with 
juvenile abundances, run timing, fish production analysis, fecundity and fish behaviour.  Special emphasis is now also being placed 
on evaluation of marine survival and growth, especially in relation to changes in the environment, and on the development of eel 
survey techniques to support the EU Regulation on the Recovery of the Eel Stock.

The fish census programme operated normally after March in 2016, following the damage caused in 2015 by a series of flood events.  
Repairs to the salmon leap downstream trap fish fence were completed in March, so a small number of kelts (spawned salmon) may 
have escaped downstream in the first two months of the year.

Upstream census data for the Burrishoole system, 2016

Species
Salmon Leap
Upstream
2016

Mill Race
Upstream
2016

Totals
Upstream
2016

Totals
Upstream
2015

Totals
Upstream
2014

Totals
Upstream
2013

Wild Grilse 406 124 530 635 271 710

Wild Spring Salmon 16 0 16 11 26 23

Reared Grilse 727 468 1195 1774 1205 1301

Wild Sea Trout 14 1 15 16 16 20

Wild Finnock 59 7 66 43 126 50

Wild Brown Trout   83 12 94 79 91 101

Downstream census data for the Burrishoole system, 2016

Species
Salmon Leap
Downstream
2016

Mill Race
Downstream
2016

Totals
Downstream
2016

Totals
Downstream
2015

Totals
Downstream
2014

Totals
Downstream
2013

Wild Salmon Smolt 6363 999 7362 7034 8150 6357

Wild Sea Trout Smolt 340 16 356 426 427 485

Silver Eel 2189 539 2728 1074 3122 3633

APPENDIX 6:
CENSUS DATA FOR THE 
BURRISHOOLE SYSTEM, 2016



MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016  51

Fleet Activity Summary 2016 

Science Days at sea from 01/01/2016 - 31/12/2016 Days Surveys Scientist Days Student Days

RV Celtic Voyager 310 44 1,622 655

RV Celtic Explorer 327 19 3,493 -

Total Marine Institute vessels 637 63 5,115 655

Charter vessels 45 5 312 -

Overall Total 682 68 5,427 655

Research Fleet Fuel Usage 2016 

Vessel Distance Sailed Fuel Consumption
EEOI  (Efficiency measurement Metric Tonnes 
fuel/Nautical Mile)

RV Celtic Explorer 46,377 Nm 1,918,824 Litres 0.041374 M3/NM

RV Celtic Voyager 26,952 Nm 346,461 Litres 0.012855 M3/NM

RV Celtic Voyager Activity 2016

Survey 
Code Survey Name Start Date End Date Survey 

Days
No. of 
Scientists

Scientist 
Days

No. of 
Students

Student 
Days

Student  
Days &  
Scientist  
Days

CV16001 Rockall OBS Network - 
deployment 13/01/2016 22/01/2016 10 6 60 0 0 60

CV16037 Trials 25/01/2016 26/01/2016 2 5 10 0 0 10

CV16003 SMART Common Module Spring 
2016 NUIGALWAY) 27/01/2016 31/01/2016 5 6 30 17 85 115

CV16002 SMART MaREI Ocean Energy 2016 04/02/2016 04/02/2016 1 4 4 9 9 13

CV16005 SMART NUI Galway SEMRU 2016 05/02/2016 05/02/2016 1 4 4 12 12 16

CV16006 SMART AFGDP Fisheries & 
Aquaculture 2016 06/02/2016 07/02/2016 2 4 8 0 0 8

CV16007 NMCI - Shipboard familiarisation 
and training 08/02/2016 08/02/2016 1 8 8 20 20 28

CV16008 Winter Monitoring Survey 10/02/2016 22/02/2016 13 6 78 0 0 78

CV16009

Undergraduate Shipboard 
Training in Methods of 
Oceanographic, Benthic 
Megafauna and Fisheries 
Research

23/02/2016 02/03/2016 9 2 18 9 81 99

CV16004 SMART/UCC TRAINING 04/03/2016 05/03/2016 2 3 6 12 24 30

CV16010 NMCI- Shipboard and 
familiarisation training 07/03/2016 07/03/2016 1 1 1 20 20 21

CV16011 SMART/UCC Training 2 08/03/2016 09/03/2016 2 4 8 12 24 32

CV16012 SMART Common Module UU 
Spring 2016 10/03/2016 13/03/2016 4 6 24 18 72 96

CV16013 NMCI- Shipboard and 
familiarisation training 14/03/2016 14/03/2016 1 1 1 20 20 21

APPENDIX 7:
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CV16014 Sea Bass I Survey 15/03/2016 20/03/2016 6 4 24 0 0 24

CV16015 INFOMAR 21/03/2016 10/04/2016 21 5 105 0 0 105

CV16016 NMCI- Shipboard and 
familiarisation training 11/04/2016 11/04/2016 1 1 1 22 22 23

CV16017 SMART GMIT AMBS 2016 12/04/2016 15/04/2016 4 6 24 7 28 52

CV16018 INFOMAR 16/04/2016 23/04/2016 8 4 32 0 0 32

CV16019 Sea Bass II Survey 24/04/2016 01/05/2016 8 6 48 0 0 48

CV16045 Langolf TV 2016 04/05/2016 17/05/2016 14 8 112 0 0 112

CV16020 OBSERVE I 2016 19/05/2016 25/05/2016 7 7 49 0 0 49

CV16021 INFOMAR 26/05/2016 08/06/2016 14 4 56 0 0 56

CV16022 Aran/Porcupine Nephrops UWTV 09/06/2016 18/06/2016 10 6 60 0 0 60

CV16023 Marine Medicines from the Irish 
Deep 19/06/2016 29/06/2016 11 7 77 0 0 77

CV16024 Celtic Sea UWTV Survey Leg 1 03/07/2016 12/07/2016 10 6 60 0 0 60

CV16025 DINO16 13/07/2016 23/07/2016 11 4 44 0 0 44

CV16027 INFOMAR 24/07/2016 08/08/2016 16 4 64 0 0 64

CV16028 Celtic Sea UWTV Leg 2 09/08/2016 18/08/2016 10 6 60 0 0 60

CV16029 AZBO (The Biological 
Oceanography Of Azadinium) 19/08/2016 27/08/2016 9 8 72 0 0 72

CV16030 Rockall OBS network - retrieval 28/08/2016 02/09/2016 6 5 30 0 0 30

CV16031
World War I shipwrecks in the 
Irish Sea: commemoration, 
visualization - part II

04/09/2016 10/09/2016 7 4 28 0 0 28

CV16032 INFOMAR 11/09/2016 25/09/2016 15 5 75 0 0 75

CV16046
SMART Science@Sea 
Multidisciplinary Marine Science 
Training 2016

26/09/2016 29/09/2016 4 4 16 10 40 56

CV16034 GATEWAYS III 01/10/2016 10/10/2016 10 6 60 0 0 60

CV16035 Biogeochemical Survey 11/10/2016 18/10/2016 8 6 48 0 0 48

CV16038 Galway Bay post-graduate 
training survey 19/10/2016 22/10/2016 4 4 16 7 28 44

CV16039

Multidisciplinary Survey Planning  
- A Peer Assisted Learning 
exercise lead by postgraduates 
and final year degree students

23/10/2016 31/10/2016 9 2 18 8 72 90

CV16047 Cetaceans on the Frontier 7 01/11/2016 08/11/2016 8 3 24 0 0 24

CV16036 Shallow Sub-Seabed Seismic 
Stratigraphic Survey (Ssssssh) 09/11/2016 16/11/2016 2 7 14 0 0 14

CV16040 UCC MSc Marine Biology 2016 
(Annual request) 18/11/2016 19/11/2016 2 2 4 9 18 22

CV16042 SMART Common Module Winter 
2016 21/11/2016 30/11/2016 10 6 60 8 80 140

CV16049 Cetaceans on the Frontier 7.5 01/12/2016 07/12/2016 7 5 35 0 0 35

CV16048 UWTV Trials 12/12/2016 15/12/2016 4 2 4 0 0 4

310 207 1622 220 655 2277

RV Celtic Explorer Activity 2016

Survey 
Code Survey Name Start Date End Date Survey 

Days
No. of 
Scientists

Scientist 
Days

CE16001 Anglerfish and megrim trawl survey 04/01/2016 24/01/2016 21 5 105

CE16002 Ocean Climate Sections & Geology:  Porcupine & 
Rockall 25/01/2016 03/02/2016 10 13 130
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CE16003 Mackerel Egg survey February 2016 04/02/2016 24/02/2016 21 9 189

CE16004 Anglerfish and Megrim Trawl Survey 25/02/2016 16/03/2016 21 18 378

CE16005 Blue Whiting Acoustic Survey 18/03/2016 07/04/2016 21 11 231

CE16007 Transatlantic Added Value 08/04/2016 21/04/2016 14 8 112

CE16010 NISS - The Newfoundland Ice Sheet Glaciated 
Shelf 22/04/2016 24/04/2016 3 15 45

CE16013 Newfoundland Acoustic Trawl Survey 26/04/2016 11/05/2016 16 10 160

CE16014 TRASNA : Transatlantic Mapping Survey 12/05/2016 21/05/2016 10 12 120

CE16015 Shallow Sub-Seabed Seismic Stratigraphic 
Survey 24/05/2016 28/05/2016 5 8 40

CE16006 Submarine Canyon Ecosystem Services 29/05/2016 15/06/2016 18 8 144

CE16008 Western European Shelf Pelagic Acoustic Survey 
(WESPAS) Leg 1 16/06/2016 30/06/2016 15 10 150

CE16009 Western European Shelf Pelagic Acoustic Survey 
(WESPAS) Leg 2 04/07/2016 30/07/2016 27 12 324

CE16011 BSH Oceanographic Survey 03/08/2016 10/09/2016 39 12 468

CE16012 INFOMAR 14/09/2016 22/09/2016 9 4 36

CE16016 Irish Ground Fish Survey 2016 25/09/2016 06/10/2016 12 9 108

CE16019 Celtic Sea Herring Acoustic Survey 07/10/2016 27/10/2016 21 12 252

CE16018 BSH Oceanographic Survey 2 01/11/2016 09/11/2016 9 9 81

CE16017 Irish Ground Fish Survey 2016 14/11/2016 18/12/2016 35 12 420

Totals 327 197 3493

RV Celtic Voyager Cruise Details 2016

Survey 
Code Survey Name Chief Scientist Organisation Start Date End Date

Su
rv

ey
D

ay
s

CV16001 Rockall OBS Network - deployment Dr Florian Le Pape
Dublin Institute for 
Advanced Studies 
(DIAS)

13/01/2016 22/01/2016 10

CV16037 Trials Mr Kevin Sheehan Marine Institute 25/01/2016 26/01/2016 2

CV16003 SMART Common Module Spring 2016 
(NUI Galway) Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 

of Technology 27/01/2016 31/01/2016 5

CV16002 SMART MaREI Ocean Energy 2016 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 04/02/2016 04/02/2016 1

CV16005 SMART NUI Galway SEMRU 2016 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 05/02/2016 05/02/2016 1

CV16006 SMART AFGDP Fisheries & Aquaculture 
2016 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 

of Technology 06/02/2016 07/02/2016 2

CV16007 NMCI Shipboard familiarisation & 
training Mr Peter Walter

National Maritime 
College of Ireland, 
Cork

08/02/2016 08/02/2016 1

CV16008 Winter Monitoring Survey Dr Evin McGovern Marine Institute 10/02/2016 22/02/2016 13

CV16009
Undergraduate Shipboard Training in 
Methods of Oceanographic, Benthic 
Megafauna and Fisheries Research

Dr Simon Berrow Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 23/02/2016 02/03/2016 9

CV16004 SMART/UCC TRAINING Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 04/03/2016 05/03/2016 2

CV16010 NMCI- Shipboard and familiarisation 
training Mr Peter Walter

National Maritime 
College of Ireland, 
Cork

07/03/2016 07/03/2016 1

CV16011 SMART/UCC Training #2 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 08/03/2016 09/03/2016 2

CV16012 SMART Common Module UU Spring 2016 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 10/03/2016 13/03/2016 4

APPENDICES 
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CV16013 NMCI Shipboard familiarisation & 
training Mr Peter Walter

National Maritime 
College of Ireland, 
Cork

14/03/2016 14/03/2016 1

CV16014 Sea Bass Survey I Ms Helen McCormick Marine Institute 15/03/2016 20/03/2016 6

CV16015 INFOMAR Mr Kevin Sheehan Marine Institute 21/03/2016 10/04/2016 21

CV16016 NMCI Shipboard familiarisation & 
training Mr Peter Walter

National Maritime 
College of Ireland, 
Cork

11/04/2016 11/04/2016 1

CV16017 SMART GMIT AMBS 2016 Mr John Boyd Galway-Mayo Institute 
of Technology 12/04/2016 15/04/2016 4

CV16018 INFOMAR Mr Kevin Sheehan Marine Institute 16/04/2016 23/04/2016 8

CV16019 Sea Bass Survey II Ms Helen McCormick Marine Institute 24/04/2016 01/05/2016 8

CV16045 Langolf TV 2016 Mr Jean-Philippe 
VACHEROT Ifremer 04/05/2016 17/05/2016 14

CV16020 OBSERVE I 2016 Dr Simon Berrow Galway-Mayo Institute 
of Technology 19/05/2016 25/05/2016 7

CV16021 INFOMAR Mr Kevin Sheehan Marine Institute 26/05/2016 08/06/2016 14

CV16022 Aran/Porcupine Nephrops UWTV Ms Jennifer Doyle Marine Institute 09/06/2016 18/06/2016 10

CV16023 Marine Medicines from the Irish Deep Dr Ryan Young National University of 
Ireland Galway 19/06/2016 29/06/2016 11

CV16024 Celtic Sea UWTV Survey Leg 1 Ms Jennifer Doyle Marine Institute 03/07/2016 12/07/2016 10

CV16025 DINO16 Dr Robin Raine National University of 
Ireland Galway 13/07/2016 23/07/2016 11

CV16027 INFOMAR Dr Fabio Sacchetti Marine Institute 24/07/2016 08/08/2016 16

CV16028 Celtic Sea UWTV Leg 2 Dr Colm Lordan Marine Institute 09/08/2016 18/08/2016 10

CV16029 AZBO (The Biological Oceanography of 
Azadinium) Mr Joe Silke Marine Institute 19/08/2016 27/08/2016 9

CV16030 Rockall OBS network - retrieval Dr Florian Le Pape

Dublin Institute for 
Advanced Studies 
(DIAS) (Geophysics 
section)

28/08/2016 02/09/2016 6

CV16031 World War I shipwrecks in the Irish Sea: 
commemoration, visualization - part II Dr Rory Quinn University of Ulster 04/09/2016 10/09/2016 7

CV16032 INFOMAR Mr Kevin Sheehan Marine Institute 11/09/2016 25/09/2016 15

CV16046 SMART Science@Sea Multidisciplinary 
Marine Science Training 2016 Mr John Boyd Galway Mayo Institute 

of Technology 26/09/2016 29/09/2016 4

CV16034 GATEWAYS III Dr Kieran Craven National University of 
Ireland Maynooth 01/10/2016 10/10/2016 10

CV16035 Biogeochemical Survey Mr Allan Grassie National University of 
Ireland Galway 11/10/2016 18/10/2016 8

CV16038 Galway Bay post-graduate training 
survey Dr Audrey Morley National University of 

Ireland Galway 19/10/2016 22/10/2016 4

CV16039

Multidisciplinary Survey Planning - A 
Peer Assisted Learning exercise lead 
by postgraduates and final year degree 
students

Dr Roisin Nash Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 23/10/2016 31/10/2016 9

CV16047 Cetaceans on the Frontier 7 Dr Simon Berrow Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 01/11/2016 08/11/2016 8

CV16036 Shallow Sub-Seabed Seismic 
Stratigraphic Survey (Ssssssh) Prof Andrew Wheeler University College 

Cork 09/11/2016 11/11/2016 2

CV16040 UCC MSc Marine Biology 2016 Dr Rob McAllen University College 
Cork 18/11/2016 19/11/2016 2

CV16042 SMART Common Module Winter 2016 Dr Pauhla McGrane Galway Mayo Institute 
of Technology 21/11/2016 30/11/2016 10

CV16049 Cetaceans on the Frontier 7.5 Mr Niall Keogh Bird Watch Ireland 01/12/2016 07/12/2016 7

CV16048 UWTV Trials Ms Jennifer Doyle Marine Institute 12/12/2016 15/12/2016 4



MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016  55

RV Celtic Explorer Cruise Details 2016

Survey 
Code Survey Name Chief Scientist Organisation Start Date End Date

Su
rv

ey
D

ay
s

CE16001 Anglerfish and Megrim Trawl Survey Dr Eoghan Kelly Marine Institute 04/01/2016 24/01/2016 21

CE16002 Ocean Climate Sections & Geology: 
Porcupine & Rockall Dr Caroline Cusack Marine Institute 25/01/2016 03/02/2016 10

CE16003 Mackerel Egg Survey February 2016 Mr Brendan O' Hea Marine Institute 04/02/2016 24/02/2016 21

CE16004 Anglerfish and Megrim Trawl Survey Dr Eoghan Kelly Marine Institute 25/02/2016 16/03/2016 21

CE16005 Blue Whiting Acoustic Survey Mr Graham Johnston Marine Institute 18/03/2016 07/04/2016 21

CE16007 Transatlantic Added Value Dr George Rose

Fisheries and Marine 
Institute of Memorial 
University of 
Newfoundland

08/04/2016 21/04/2016 14

CE16010 NISS - The Newfoundland Ice Sheet 
glaciated Shelf Mr Paul Dunlop University of Ulster 22/04/2016 24/04/2016 3

CE16013 Newfoundland Acoustic Trawl Survey Dr Dominique Robert

Fisheries and Marine 
Institute of Memorial 
University of 
Newfoundland -

26/04/2016 11/05/2016 16

CE16014 TRASNA : Transatlantic Mapping Survey Mr Xavier Monteys Geological Survey of 
Ireland 12/05/2016 21/05/2016 10

CE16015 Shallow Sub-Seabed Seismic 
Stratigraphic Survey Prof Andrew Wheeler University College 

Cork 24/05/2016 28/05/2016 5

CE16006 Submarine Canyon Ecosystem Services Dr Louise Allcock National University of 
Ireland Galway 29/05/2016 15/06/2016 18

CE16008 Western European Shelf Pelagic Acoustic 
Survey (WESPAS) Leg 1 Mr Ciaran O'Donnell Marine Institute 16/06/2016 30/06/2016 15

CE16009 Western European Shelf Pelagic Acoustic 
Survey (WESPAS) Leg 2 Mr Graham Johnston Marine Institute 04/07/2016 30/07/2016 27

CE16011 BSH Oceanographic Survey Mr Holger Klein BSH 03/08/2016 10/09/2016 39

CE16012 INFOMAR Dr Fabio Sacchetti Marine Institute 14/09/2016 22/09/2016 9

CE16016 Irish Groundfish Survey 2016 Leg 1 Mr Dave Stokes Marine Institute 25/09/2016 06/10/2016 12

CE16019 Celtic Sea Herring Acoustic Survey Mr Ciaran O'Donnell Marine Institute 07/10/2016 27/10/2016 21

CE16018 BSH 3 Ms Sieglinde Weigelt BSH 01/11/2016 09/11/2016 9

CE16017 Irish Groundfish Survey 2016 Leg 2 Mr Dave Stokes Marine Institute 14/11/2016 18/12/2016 35
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Foreign Vessel Activity 2016

Scientist Days Ireland Scientist Days Foreign

5427 3857

Vessel Name Country Survey Name / Code Discipline

No. of 
Days 
in Irish 
Waters

No. of 
Scientists

Scientist 
Days

RV Thalassa France EVHOE 16 Fisheries 22 25 550

FRV Scotia UK West Coast Demersal Survey Fisheries 6 8 48

RRS James Clarke Ross UK JR16001 AMT Oceanography 2 20 40

RV CEFAS Endeavour UK Beam Trawl Survey Fisheries 6 7 42

RV Vizconde de Eza Spain PORCUPINE 2016 Fisheries 33 15 495

FV Den Hoppe / Jasmine Belgium IRIS 2016/01-02 Fisheries 12 2 24

FRV Scotia UK Rockall Haddock Survey  1216S Fisheries 3 12 36

Corwith Cramer USA C286:HSWE- F2016 Oceanography 7 4 28

FV Altaire UK Mackerel Egg Survey 0316H Fisheries 15 6 90

MV Skoven Denmark SCANS 111 Marine Biology 21 10 210

Corwith Cramer USA C267: Transatlantic WH F2015-099 Oceanography 9 4 36

RV L'Atalante France Oceanographic Oceanography 5 16 80

RRS James Cook UK JC 136 Marine Biology 4 31 124

RV Tridens Netherlands Mackerel Egg Survey Period 6 Fisheries 12 8 96

RRS Discovery UK DY 051 Marine Biology 19 15 285

FV Atlantic Lady Netherlands Mackerel Egg Survey Period  5 Fisheries 10 5 50

FRV Scotia UK Mackerel Egg Survey  SC03 Fisheries 18 7 126

FV Fiskebas Norway 2016832 Mackerel tagging Fisheries 28 5 140

RRS Discovery UK DY050 Marine Biology 1 20 20

FV Altaire UK Mackerel Egg Survey 0216H Fisheries 3 5 15

RV Tridens Netherlands Mackerel Egg  Survey Period 4 Fisheries 4 8 32

FRV Scotia UK Anglerfish  Survey  0416S Fisheries 3 12 36

RV Marian s Merian Germany MSM53 Oceanography 2 23 46

FV Brennholm Norway Blue Whiting Acoustic Survey Fisheries 12 6 72

FRV Walther Herwig III Germany Mackerel Egg Survey WH394 Fisheries 20 12 240

B/O Ramon Margalev Spain TRIENAL 2016_1 Mackerel Egg Survey Fisheries 5 12 60

RV Fridtjof Nansen Russia MK 0662 Blue Whiting Survey Fisheries 12 15 180

RV Tridens Netherlands Blue Whiting Survey Fisheries 15 6 90

FRV Walther Herwig III Germany GST90  Testing T90 codends WH393 Gear Technology 12 10 120

RV CEFAS Endeavour UK C-END 5-2016 Beam Trawl Survey Fisheries 8 7 56

FV Altaire UK Mackerel Egg Survey 0116H Fisheries 6 5 30

FRV Scotia UK Groundfish Survey 0316S SCOGFS Fisheries 5 7 35

RV Corystes UK Various Surveys Various 46.5 7 325.5

TOTAL 386.5 355 3857.5

APPENDIX 8:
FOREIGN MARINE SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH 
ACTIVITIES IN IRISH WATERS IN 2016
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Executive Summary
This Plan has been written with the active engagement of the staff and Board of the Marine Institute to provide clarity on our 
operating framework and the strategic approach that will be taken on key decisions that need to be embraced in the period 2013–
2016.

The document sets out the key foundations for the current operations and roles of the Marine Institute through section one and two.

In Section 3 we state our five key high-level Goals—Service Provider; Research Performer; Research Catalyst and Funder; 
Infrastructure Provider; and the operation of an Efficient and Effective Organisation. These Goals support our Vision of A Thriving 
Maritime Economy in Harmony with the Ecosystem and Supported by the Delivery of Excellence in Our Services (Figure 1). Each 
Goal is accompanied by Key Objectives and Priority Actions that inform our detailed Service Area Operational Plans and our 
performance management development systems.  Table 1 provides an overview of the Institute’s five Goals and associated key 
objectives. 

APPENDIX 9:
MARINE INSTITUTE STRATEGIC PLAN – 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

GOAL 5
EFFICIENT AND

EFFECTIVE
ORGANISATION

Implement organisational best-
practice to ensure that we support 

our staff and deliver maximum 
return on our programmes and 

activities as well as achieve 
value for money against 

the investment 
provided.

GOAL 4
INFRASTRUCTURE

PROVIDER
Maintain and enhance critical

infrastructure, data and
information services to underpin
the delivery of Marine Institute

services and national and
international research 

programmes.

GOAL 3
RESEARCH 

CATALYST AND FUNDER
Stimulate, fund and coordinate
marine research, development 
and innovation programmes.

GOAL 2 
RESEARCH 

PERFORMER
Undertake research projects and

programmes that inform and 
add value to the core services 

provided by the Marine Institute, 
as well as meet the evolving 
needs of the marine sector 

and our customers.
VISION

A thriving maritime
economy in harmony
with the ecosystem

and supported by the
delivery of excellence 

in our services.

GOAL 1 
 SERVICE PROVIDER

Provide high quality services
that support the implementation

of national and international
legislative requirements;

underpin sectoral development
in a sustainable manner; as well 

as protect and conserve the 
marine environment 

and resources.

Figure 1

APPENDICES 
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Table 1: Marine Institute Goals and associated Key Objectives

Key Objectives

Goal 1:  
Service Provider

Carry out a suite of statutory environmental, fisheries and aquaculture data collection surveys and 
monitoring programmes assigned to the Marine Institute by Government, to allow Ireland to meet its 
national and international legal obligations.

Deliver scientific, technical and economic data services that inform policy and provide advice to 
Government, underpinning sectoral development and protecting the marine environment.

Maintain international excellence in marine science and research in order to gain a better understanding 
of the health and functioning of marine ecosystems and provide scientific advice to meet the needs of 
decision-makers in the rapidly changing area of ocean governance.

Continue to partner and collaborate with the Higher Education sector and other research performers.

Provide services, data, and publications online, in line with the eGovernment Strategy, to improve 
customer services; including access through mobile devices and the use of social media.

Goal 2:  
Research Performer

Maintain our track record as a research performer in targeted areas and seek further opportunities to 
participate in competitive national and international research projects and programmes.

Engage with key stakeholders to maximise Marine Institute research participation and opportunities to 
add value to existing research programmes.

Goal 3:  
Research Catalyst and Funder

Develop and take the lead role in the implementation of national marine research agenda(s) through 
cross-departmental and agency and Higher Education Institute collaboration.

Drive the further development of national programmes in Advanced Marine Technology and Marine 
Biotechnology.

Maximise Irish participation in, and benefit from, international marine Research, Technology, 
Development and Innovation programmes.

Goal 4:  
Infrastructure Provider

Maintain and, where possible, enhance key Marine Institute facilities and assets.

Maintain and explore opportunities to enhance key national marine infrastructures.

Ensure the necessary data infrastructure, guidance and supports are in place to allow delivery of efficient 
and effective day-to-day ICT operations; support best practice management of Marine Institute data; and 
promote access to national marine datasets.

Goal 5:  
Efficient  and Effective Organisation

Deliver a solution-driven, best practice human resource service with a focus firmly on the needs of all 
individual staff and service teams, using management information systems and effective operational 
practices.

Adhere to the highest levels of corporate governance, while delivering a very high level of value-for-
money customer-driven services.

Maintain and enhance the Marine Institute’s reputation and ability to deliver high standards of analysis 
and services through appropriate quality systems and efficient organisation.

Ensure that external communications are effective, comprehensive and relevant and help promote an 
awareness of Ireland’s marine resource.

Section 4 describes our approach to achieving our goals, within the context of the current operating environment.  Teamwork is key 
to this approach. We will build on our open and inclusive planning processes to address challenges and opportunities that may arise 
in the course of the next three years.  

We will continue to identify ways in which we can implement our adaptive and cost efficiency measures to minimise the impact of 
further budget cuts on the delivery of front-line services.  We will also explore new and innovative solutions to our service delivery 
model and examine the scope for new partnerships with the Higher Education Institutes, other government agencies and the private 
sector.  Furthermore, we will strive to expand on our excellent earnings record as a research performer, through externally funded 
programmes. 

The Institute has identified a number of tools which we can use to address the gaps which have been identified. These are innovative 
and show the flexibility, responsiveness and dedication to public service that is required of a modern, efficient public body. One 
highly cost-effective means to deliver new services is through the leveraging of EU funding and international partnerships. The 
Institute has built up a very strong track record of forming successful partnerships with other European agencies and institutions 
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and a protocol agreed in early 2013 for the recruitment of staff under other public, private and EU funding programmes is most 
welcome and a crucial tool to enable the Institute to achieve its objectives.  

Should we reach a limit on the scope of these measures to absorb the impact of further budget cuts on front-line services, we will 
plan adaptive measures to achieve alignment between budget/capacity and service delivery.  This approach would involve dialogue 
with key clients to clarify service demand prioritisation, in order to identify the most balanced outcome achievable, thus enabling us 
to protect our priority front-line services to the maximum extent practicable.

Finally, this Plan sets out how we will identify and prepare plans to benefit from new opportunities.  There are clear signals of 
an increase in the demand for services from the Marine Institute, in light of economic development opportunities identified in 
Harnessing our Ocean Wealth - An Integrated Marine Plan for Ireland and Government/EU resource management and monitoring 
requirements.  Furthermore, the prospects for an increase in the priority and support for marine research and innovation at an EU 
level are encouraging.

This strategic approach, with its balance of reactive and proactive measures, together with the vision, values and commitment of the 
Marine Institute staff, will help guide the Marine Institute through the challenges and opportunities over the period 2013–2016.

APPENDICES 
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APPENDIX 10:
GALWAY STATEMENT ON ATLANTIC OCEAN COOPERATION – 
LAUNCHING A EUROPEAN UNION – CANADA – UNITED STATES 
OF AMERICA RESEARCH ALLIANCE
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AMT   Advanced Marine Technology Programme

AORA   Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance 

AORA-CSA      Atlantic Ocean Research Alliance 
Co-ordination and Support Action

ARC   Audit and Risk Committee 

ARGO floats Temperature/salinity profiling floats

AsMARA    Arsenic in marine macroalgae and implications 
for commercial uses 

ASP  Amnesic shellfish poisoning

AtlantOS   Optimising and Enhancing the Integrated 
Atlantic Ocean Observing Systems

AZA  Azaspiracid poisoning

BIM   Bord Iascaigh Mhara (the Irish Sea Fisheries 
Board)

BIOTOX   Project on validation of alternative methods for 
marine biotoxins

BLUEFISH Building Resilience into Blue Growth 

Brexit    Commonly used term for the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the European Union 

BL  Bachelor of Laws

BSc  Bachelor of Science

BSc Eng  Bachelor of Science in Engineering 

BSH   Federal Maritime and Hydrographic Agency of 
Germany

CEFAS   Centre for Environment, Fisheries and 
Aquaculture (UK)

CEO  Chief Executive Officer

CMEMS    Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring 
Service 

COOPEUS  (Cooperation EU/US) is a project funded under 
the Research Infrastructures action of the 
7th Framework Programme for Research and 
Innovation of the EU, with the goal of bringing 
together scientists and users being involved in 
Europe’s major environmental related research 
infrastructure projects

DAFM  Department of Agriculture, Food and Marine

DCMAP   Data Collection Multi Annual Plan 

DCCAE   Department of Communications, Climate 
Action and Environment

DCU  Dublin City University

DERI   Digital Enterprise Research Institute 

DHPCLG   Department of Housing, Planning, Community 
and Local Government

DISCARDLESS   The gradual elimination of discards in 
European fisheries 

DkIT   Dundalk Institute of Technology 

DSP  Diarrhetic Shellfish Poisoning

EuroGOOS European Global Ocean Observation System 

EIFAC   European Inland Fisheries Advisory 
Commission

EIRCOD    Project is to design, establish and operate a 

Cod Broodstock and Breeding programme for 
Ireland

EPA  Environmental Protection Agency

ERA-Net  European Research Area Network

ESB International  ESB International, a subsidiary of ESB 
(Electricity Supply Board)

EMODnet   European Marine Observation and Data 
Network 

EMFF   European Maritime and Fisheries Fund

ERA  European Research Area

ERA-MBT Marine biotechnology ERAnet

ERIC   European Research Infrastructure Consortiums

Erasmus+   EU’s programme to support education, 
training, youth and sport in Europe

EMSOdev    European Multidisciplinary Seafloor 
Observatory

EMSO-Link   3-year project underpinning the long-term 
sustainability of EMSO ERIC

EU  European Union

EurOcean    European Centre for Information on Marine 
Science and Technology 

EMODnet   European Marine Observation and Data 
Network

FISHKOSM   Fisheries Knowledge for Optimal Sustainable 
Management 

FixO3    Linking EU activities on fixed point marine 
observatories

FP6  Sixth Framework Programme

FP7  Seventh Framework Programme

FRS  Fisheries Research Service Scotland

FSAI  Food Safety Authority of Ireland

FSS  Fisheries Science Services (Marine Institute)

GENIALG   GENetic diversity exploitation for Innovative 
macro-ALGal biorefinery project

GMIT  Galway-Mayo Institute of Technology

GO-SHIP   Oceans Ship-Based Hydrographic 
Investigations Program 

GSI  Geological Survey of Ireland

H2020   EU Research and Innovation programme (2014 
to 2020)

IBIROOS   Ireland-Biscay-Iberia Regional Operational 
Oceanographic System

ICES   International Council for the Exploration of the 
Seas

ICHTHYOP  A free Java tool designed to study the 
effects of physical and biological factors on 
ichthyoplankton dynamics.

ICT  Information Communications Technology

IDA  Industrial Development Authority

Ifremer   Institut français de recherché pour l’exploration 
de la mer (French Research Institute for the 
Exploration of the Sea)

Glossary of Abbreviations
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IMBRSea   International Master in Marine Biological 
Resources 

IMERC   Irish Maritime and Energy Resource Cluster

IMDO  Irish Maritime Development Office

INFOMAR   Integrated Mapping for the Sustainable 
Development of Ireland’s Marine  
Resources

INTAROS   Integrated Arctic Observation System project

INTERREG EU Inter-Regional Cooperation Programme

INTERREG VA   One of 60 programmes across the European 
Union designed to promote greater levels of 
cross-border cooperation (2014-2020).

JERICO-Next   Towards a joint European research 
infrastructure network for coastal 
observatories

JPI Climate   Initiative of European member states and 
associated countries to align national 
programmes by jointly coordinating 
their climate research and funding new 
transnational research activities.

JPI    Oceans Joint Programming Initiative Healthy 
and Productive Seas and Oceans

LEIT   Leadership in Enabling and Industrial 
Technologies 

MaREI    Marine and renewable energy research, 
development and innovation centre

MARINERG-i   will produce a scientific and business 
plan for an integrated European Research 
Infrastructure, designed to facilitate the future 
growth and development of the Offshore 
Renewable Energy sector

MaRINET2   EU initiative to accelerate the development of 
offshore renewable energy

MarTera   Maritime and Marine Technologies for a new 
ERA - European Research Area 

MEFS   Marine Environment and Food Safety Services

MPAs  Marine Protected Areas

MSc  Master of Science

MSFD  Marine Strategy Framework Directive

MSY  Maximum Sustainable Yield

NASA    National Aeronautics and Space 
Administration

NASCO   North Atlantic Salmon Conservation 
Organisation

NCP  National Contact Points

NDP  National Development Programme

NMCI  National Maritime College of Ireland, Cork

NOAA   National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration

NOOS   North-West European Shelf Operational 
Oceanographic System 

NoV  Norovirus

NUI Galway National University of Ireland, Galway

NutraMara  Marine Functional Foods Research Initiative 

OBS  Ocean Bottom Seismometer

OIE   Office International des Epizooties (World 
Organisation for Animal Health)

OpenGovIntelligence   Project stimulating sustainable 
economic growth in Europe through 
fostering innovation in society and 

enterprises

OPW  Office of Public Works

OSPAR  Oslo and Paris Convention (1992)

OSIS    Ocean Science and Information Services 
(Marine Institute) 

PhD  Doctor of Philosophy 

QUASIMEME  Quality Assurance of Information for Marine 
Environmental Monitoring in Europe

REPOSUS   REducing the impact of Pathogens and disease 
in the Irish Oyster industry to support the 
SUStainability and growth of the sector 

ROV  Remotely Operated Vehicle

RV  Research Vessel

SACs  Special Areas of Conservation 

SC2    Under Horizon 2020, the EU identified seven 
priority challenges where targeted investment 
in research and innovation can have a real 
impact. One of these is Societal Challenge 2 
that addresses a wide range of key EU policy 
priorities

SEAI   Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland

SeaChange Programme   A Marine Knowledge, Research 
and Innovation Strategy for Ireland 
(2007-2013)

SeaDataCloud   H2020 project (2016-2020), advancing 
SeaDataNet Services and increasing their 
usage, adopting cloud and High Performance 
Computing technology for better performance.

SeaFest  Ireland’s Maritime Sea Festival

SEERAC   Spatially Explicit Ecological Risk Assessment 
for Conservation of Coastal waters 

SEMRU  Socio Economic Marine Research Unit

SFI  Science Foundation Ireland

SFPA  Sea Fisheries Protection Authority

SIMCelt   Maritime Spatial Planning Directive in the 
Celtic Seas

SMART   Strategic Marine Alliance for Research and 
Training

SMEs  Small to Medium Sized Enterprises

SPAs  Special Protection Areas

STECF   Scientific, Technical and Economic Committee 
on Fisheries

TAPAS   Tools for Assessment and Planning of 
Aquaculture Sustainability

TCD  Trinity College Dublin

TRASNA  Transatlantic Mapping Survey 

UCC  University College Cork

UCD  University College Dublin

UK  United Kingdom

USA  United States of America

UNESCO   United Nations Educational, Scientific and 
Cultural Organization 

WESPAS   Western European Shelf Pelagic Acoustic 
Survey

VIVALDI   Preventing and mitigating farmed bivalve 
diseases

GLOSSARY 
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Comptroller and Auditor General
Report for presentation to the 
Houses of the Oireachtas

Marine Institute
I have audited the financial statements of the Marine 
Institute for the year ended 31 December 2016 under the 
Marine Institute Act 1991.  The financial statements comprise 
the statement of income and expenditure and retained 
revenue reserves, the statement of comprehensive income, 
the statement of financial position, the statement of cash 
flows and the related notes.  The financial statements have 
been prepared in the form prescribed under Section 12 of 
the Marine Institute  Act, and in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice.

Responsibilities of the Members of the Board
The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements, for ensuring that they give a true and fair view and 
for ensuring the regularity of transactions.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General
My responsibility is to audit the financial statements and to 
report on them in accordance with applicable law.  

My audit is conducted by reference to the special considerations 
which attach to State bodies in relation to their management 
and operation.

My audit is carried out in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) and in compliance with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  
This includes an assessment of 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the Marine Institute's circumstances, and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made in the preparation of the financial statements, and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I also seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial 
transactions in the course of audit. 

In addition, I read the Marine Institute’s annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the 
audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies, I consider the implications for my report.

Opinion on the financial statements
In my opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of  the assets, liabilities and 

financial position of the Marine Institute  as at 31 
December 2016 and of its income and expenditure for 
2016; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice.

In my opinion, the accounting records of the Marine Institute  
were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be 
readily and properly audited.  The financial statements are in 
agreement with the accounting records.

Matters on which I report by exception
I report by exception if I have not received all the information 
and explanations I required for my audit, or if I find
• any material instance where money has not been applied 

for the purposes intended or where the transactions did 
not conform to the authorities governing them, or 

• the information given in the Marine Institute's annual 
report is not consistent with the related financial 
statements or with the knowledge acquired by me in the 
course of performing the audit, or

• the statement on internal financial control does not 
reflect the Marine Institute’s compliance with the Code of 
Practice for the Governance of State Bodies, or

• there are other material matters relating to the manner in 
which public business has been conducted.

I have nothing to report in regard to those matters upon which 
reporting is by exception.

_______________________
Patricia Sheehan
For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General
Date: 29 June 2017
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Comptroller and Auditor General
Report for presentation to the 
Houses of the Oireachtas

Statement of Responsibility 
of the Board
Year ended 31 December 2016

Section 12 of the Marine Institute Act, 1991, requires the Institute 
to prepare financial statements in such a form as may be 
approved by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine 
in consultation with the Minister for Public Expenditure and 
Reform. In preparing those financial statements, the Board of 
the Institute is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

• State whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements;

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Institute will 
continue in operation.

The Institute is responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Institute and which enable it to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with statutory 
requirements.  

The Institute is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Institute’s website.  Legislation in Ireland governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Internal Control and Governance
The Institute continues to adhere to the 2009 Code of Practice 
for the Governance of State Bodies. The Board Member’s 
position in relation to Internal Control and Governance is set out 
in the Statement on Internal Financial Control on page 4 and the 
Audit and Risk Committee section included within the General 
Administration section of the Annual Report.

Accounting Records
The measures taken by the Board Members to secure 
compliance with the Institute’s obligation to keep adequate 
accounting records are the use of appropriate systems and 
procedures and employment of competent persons. The 
accounting records are kept at the Institute’s headquarters at 
Rinville, Oranmore, Co. Galway.

Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies, together with the basis 
of preparation of the financial statements, are set out in the 
Significant Accounting Policies, Critical Accounting Estimates 
and Judgements section of these financial statements. The 
reporting period ended 31 December 2016 and the Institute has 
prepared its financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”.

Health & Safety
In accordance with the Health and Safety and Welfare Act 
(1989), the Marine Institute is compliant with all relevant 
standards. More details on Health and Safety are included under 
the Corporate Services section in the Annual report. 

Going Concern
The Institute’s financial statements have been prepared by the 
Board Members on a going concern basis having considered it 
appropriate by the Board Members to do so. This is included 
under critical accounting estimates and judgements on page 10.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date
The Board is not aware of any events occurring after 31 
December 2016 which affect these financial statements.

_______________________ _______________________
Dr John Killeen  Prof Patricia Barker  
Chairperson  Board Member  
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Statement on Internal 
Financial Control
On behalf of the Board of the Marine Institute I acknowledge our 
responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal 
financial control is maintained and operated.
 
The Board acknowledges that the system of internal financial 
control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
that assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorised, properly 
recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either 
prevented or would be detected in a timely period. 

The Board has taken steps to ensure an appropriate control 
environment is in place by:
• Holding regular Board meetings where the agenda 

includes strategic issues such as corporate governance, 
financial management and corporate strategy.

• Clearly defining management responsibilities, authority 
and accountability;

• Establishing formal processes and procedures for 
monitoring the activities and safeguarding the assets of 
the organisation;

• Developing a culture of accountability across all levels of 
the institute; 

• Engaging with the Internal Audit Committee as part of the 
on-going systematic review of the control environment 
and governance procedures within the Marine Institute.

The risk management system and risk register were reviewed on 
a quarterly basis throughout 2016 including:
• The identification of the nature, extent, financial and 

operational implications of risks facing the Institute 
including the extent and categories which it regards as 
acceptable;

• The assessment of the likelihood and impacts of identified 
risks occurring;

• The assessment of the Institute’s ability to manage and 
mitigate the risks that do occur;

• The development of a business continuity policy and plan 
for the Institute;

• An internal audit review of risk management in the 
Institute.

The system of internal financial control is based on a framework 
of regular management reporting, administration procedures 
including segregation of duties, systems that are designed 
to prevent and detect fraud and a system of delegation and 
accountability. In particular it includes:
• A comprehensive budgeting system with an annual 

budget which is reviewed and agreed by the Board;
• Regular reviews by the Board of periodic and  annual 

financial reports which indicate financial performance 

against forecasts;
• Setting targets to measure financial and other 

performance; 
• The performance of 3-4 internal audits annually; and
• Approval of expenditure in excess of €0.050m at Board 

meetings.

The Marine Institute has an internal audit function that operates 
in accordance with the Framework Code of Best Practice set 
out in the Code of Practice on the Governance of State Bodies. 
The work of internal audit is informed by analysis of the risks to 
which the Institute is exposed, and annual internal audit plans are 
based on this analysis. The analysis of risk and the internal audit 
plan for 2016 was endorsed by the Audit and Risk Committee 
and approved by the Board. The Audit and Risk Committee has 
received the reports of internal audit activity in 2016, and these 
have been presented to the Board. The reports include the Internal 
Auditors assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
system of internal financial control. 

The Marine Institute pays grants to various third parties (i.e. 
third level institutions, companies involved in marine research) 
under the Marine Research programme.  In accordance with the 
provisions of Department of Public Expenditure and Reform 
(DPER) circular 13/2014 (Management of and Accountability for 
Grants from Exchequer Funds) the Institute has applied, via the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, for sanction 
from DPER to continue pre funding these grants. At the date of 
approving the financial statements the Institute had not received 
formal sanction from DPER.

The Board’s monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal financial control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditor, the Comptroller and Auditor General, the Audit and 
Risk Committee which oversees the work of the internal auditor 
and the executive managers within the Marine Institute who have 
responsibility for the development, implementation maintenance 
of the financial control framework.  

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal financial controls for 2016. 

On behalf of the Board:

______________________________
Dr John Killeen
Chairperson
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Statement of Income and Expenditure 
Account and Retained Revenue Reserves 
Year Ended 31 December 2016

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT         

2016 2015

Note   €’000 €’000

Income

Oireachtas Grants 2 29,775 25,995

Other State Grants 3 5,329 5,932

EU and Other Income
Net Deferred Funding For Retirement Benefits

4
17

4,519
2,970

5,104
3,078

42,593 40,109

Expenditure
Salaries & PRSI 5 11,725 10,721
Retirement Benefit Costs 17 2,863 2,998
Vessel Operating Costs 6 7,556 7,265
Travelling Expenses 7 1,115 1,068
Grants and External Service Providers 8 9,375 8,114
Facilities Costs 9 2,010 1,892
IT, Telephone & Communications 1,315 932
Laboratory & Field Costs 1,044 811
Other Administration Costs 10 2,624 2,486

Depreciation 14 4,820 4,702

Total Expenditure 44,447 40,989

Transfer (to)/from Capital Account 13 1,882 993

Surplus for the year 28 113

Balance brought forward at 1 January 2,015 1,902

Balance carried forward at 31 December 2,043 2,015

The Statement of Cashflow and Notes 1 – 22 form part of these financial statements.

  
_______________________    _______________________
Dr John Killeen     Prof Patricia Barker
Chairperson     Board Member
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 December 2016

          

2016 2015

Note   €’000   €’000

Surplus for the year after Appropriations 28 113

Experience (Losses) Gains on Retirement Benefits Scheme Liabilities 17 1,251 1,694

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme 17 (10,101) (8,466)

Adjustment to Deferred Benefits Scheme Funding 8,850 6,772

Total of Comprehensive Income for the year 28 113

The Statement of Cashflow and Notes 1 – 22 form part of these financial statements.

_______________________    _______________________
Dr John Killeen     Prof Patricia Barker
Chairperson     Board Member
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2015

2016 2016 2015 2015

Note   €’000   €’000   €’000   €’000

Property, Plant and Equipment 14 18,830 20,712
Current Assets
Receivables 15 5,129 4,451
Cash and cash equivalents 892 581

6,021 5,032

Current Liabilities
Payables 16 3,978 3,017

Net Current Assets 2,043 2,015

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 

before Retirements Benefits
20,873 22,727

Deferred Retirement Benefits Funding 17 51,870 40,050

Retirement Benefits Liabilities 17 (51,870) (40,050)

Total Net Assets 20,873 22,727

Representing:

Capital Account 13 18,830 20,712

Income and Expenditure Account 2,043 2,015

20,873 22,727

The Statement of Cashflow and Notes 1 – 22 form part of these financial statements.

_______________________    _______________________
Dr John Killeen     Prof Patricia Barker
Chairperson     Board Member
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Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended 31 December 2016

2016

€’000

2015

€’000

Net Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus for the financial year 28 113

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible Property, Plant and Equipment

Transfer to Capital Account

4,820

(1,882)

4,702

(993)

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables (678) 749

Decrease/(Increase) in Payables 961 (1,615)

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,249 2,956

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for tangible Property, Plant and Equipment (2,938) (3,709)

Net cash flows from investing activities (2,938) (3,709)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 311 (753)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 581 1,334

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 892 581
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1.  Accounting Policies
The basis of accounting and significant accounting policies 
adapted by the Marine Institute are set out below. They have 
all been applied consistently throughout the year and for the 
preceding year. The Institute has analysed its expenditure 
based on the nature of the expense as opposed to a 
programme basis. 

a) General Information
The Marine Institute was established on the 30 October 1992 
under the provisions of the Marine Institute Act 1991. The 
Institute headquarters is located in Rinville, Oranmore, County 
Galway H91 R673.

The Marine Institute primary objectives as set out in section 4 
of the Act is 
“to undertake, to co-ordinate, to promote and to assist in 
marine research and development and to provide such 
services related to marine research and development, 
that in the opinion of the Institute will promote economic 
development and create employment and protect the marine 
environment”.

The Marine Institute is a Public Benefit Entity (PBE).

b) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of The Marine Institute for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 have been prepared in accordance 
with FRS 102, the financial reporting standard applicable in 
the UK and Ireland issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC), as promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland. 

c) Currency
The financial statements have been presented in Euro (€) 
which is also the functional currency of the Institute.  In 
instances where amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand Euro, this is indicated by the symbol €’000.

d) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the accruals 
method of accounting and under the historical cost 
convention in the form approved by the Minister for Food 
Agriculture and the Marine with the concurrence of the 
Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, in accordance 
with Section 22(1) of the Marine Institute Act 1991.

The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relation to The Marine Institute’s financial 
statements.

e) Income
Income arising from Oireachtas Grants is recognised on 
a cash receipts basis, except for the Oireachtas income in 
relation to the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) 
expenditure. This is recognised on an accruals basis as the 
Oireachtas income for the direct related expenditure is funded 
in the year after occurrence of the expenditure.

Income received in relation to EU and other contract research 
projects is recognised on an accruals basis whereby the 
income is recognised in the accounting period in which the 
related expenditure is charged. Income received in advance 
is treated as deferred income and included within Payables 
on the Statement of Financial Position. Expenditure incurred 
where the related income has not been received is treated as 
accrued income and shown as a Receivable on the Statement 
of Financial Position.

f)  Property, Plant and Equipment and 
Depreciation

Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, except land, which is carried at 
cost.  Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis at rates 
estimated to reduce the assets to their realisable value by the 
end of their expected lives.  The rates in use are as follows:

Buildings 2%
Fixtures and Fittings 25%
Computers 33%
Research Vessel 4%
Research Vessel Equipment  20 - 25%
Motor Vehicles 20%

The carrying values of the tangible assets are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If 
there is objective evidence of impairment of the value of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves in 
the year. 

g) Leased Assets
Rental expenditure under operating leases is recognised 
in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained 
Revenue Reserves over the life of the lease. Expenditure is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease period, 
except where there are rental increases linked to the expected 
rate of inflation, in which case these increases are recognised 
when incurred. Any lease incentives received are recognised 
over the life of the lease.

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2015
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h) Capital Account
The Institute recognises funding received for capital purposes 
under the Accruals Model specified in FRS102.  The amount 
received is recognised in income on a systematic basis over 
the expected useful life of the asset.

i) Foreign Currencies
The functional currency and presentational currency of the 
Institute is the Euro (€).

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated into the functional currency using the spot 
exchange rates at the date of the transactions.  At the end 
of each financial year, foreign currency monetary items are 
translated to Euro using the closing rate.  Non-monetary 
items measured at historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-
monetary items measured at fair value are measured using 
the exchange rate when fair value was determined.

j) Marine Research Programme 
The Marine Institute enters into commitments in respect 
of contracts awarded for Marine Research Programme 
projects. Expenditure is charged in the financial statements 
on the basis of initial payments made on the signing of 
the project contract, an interim payment may be made 
subject to satisfactory performance and further payments 
are charged on receipt and verification of claims in respect 
of work completed. Costs incurred by the Institute in the 
administration of Marine Research Programme projects are 
funded by the capital vote of the Marine Institute and charged 
to the financial statements as they are incurred.

k) Employee Benefits
Short term benefits
Short term benefits such as holiday pay are recognised as an 
expense in the year, and benefits that are accrued at year-
end are included in the payables figures in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

l) Retirement Benefits
The Marine Institute previously established its own defined 
benefit pension scheme, funded annually on a pay-as-you-go 
basis from monies provided by the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine and from contributions deducted 
from staff and members’ salaries. The Marine Institute also 
operates the Single Public Services Pension Scheme (“Single 
Scheme”), which is a defined benefit scheme for pensionable 
public servants appointed on or after 1 January 2013. 
Single Scheme members’ contributions are paid over to the 
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform (DPER).

Pension costs reflect pension benefits earned by employees, 

and are shown net of staff pension contributions which are 
remitted to the Department of Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine. An amount corresponding to the pension charge is 
recognised as income to the extent that it is recoverable, and 
offset by grants received in the year to discharge pension 
payments.

Actuarial gains or losses arising on scheme liabilities are 
reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and 
a corresponding adjustment is recognised in the amount 
recoverable from the Department of Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine.

The financial statements reflect, at fair value, the assets 
and liabilities arising from The Marine Institute’s pension 
obligations and any related funding, and recognises the costs 
of providing pension benefits in the accounting periods in 
which they are earned by employees. Retirement benefit 
scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using 
the projected unit credit method.

Receivables
Receivables are recognised at fair value, less a provision for 
doubtful debts. The provision for doubtful debts is a specific 
provision, and is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Marine Institute will not be able to collect all amounts 
owed to it. All movements in the provision for doubtful debts 
are recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure 
and Retained Revenue Reserves.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are 
not recognised when (i) it is not probable that there will be 
an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be reliably 
measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
uncertain future events not wholly within the Institute’s 
control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial 
statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources 
is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets 
are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

Related Parties
Related party transactions have been disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102. See note 
19 for disclosure of the related party transactions during 2016.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and 
liabilities as at the reporting date and the amounts reported 
for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the 
nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. The following judgements have had the 
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most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

=Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
=Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less cost to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date.

Depreciation and Residual Values
The Board Members have reviewed the asset lives and 
associated residual values of all fixed asset classes, and in 
particular, the useful economic life and residual values of 
fixtures and fittings, and have concluded that asset lives and 
residual values are appropriate.

Retirement Benefit Obligation
The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuations for 
which the amounts recognised in the financial statements 
are determined (including discount rates, rates of increase in 
future compensation levels, mortality rates and healthcare 
cost trend rates) are updated annually based on current 
economic conditions, and for any relevant changes to the 
terms and conditions of the pension and post-retirement 
plans.

The assumptions can be affected by:
 i.  the discount rate, changes in the rate of return on high-

quality corporate bonds
 ii.  future compensation levels, future labour market 

conditions
 iii.  Health care cost trend rates, the rate of medical cost 

inflation in the relevant regions.
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2. Oireachtas Grants From the Department of Agriculture, Food and Marine

2016 2016 2015 2015

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Current Purposes

Marine Institute - Vote 30,Subhead A.7 15,354 14,345

EMFF Income (Note 15) 4,874 3,576

Less Superannuation contributions repayable (453) (426)

19,775 17,495

Capital purposes

Marine Institute - Vote 30, Subhead A.7 1,890 2,100

Marine Research Programme Vote 30, Subhead A.7 (Note 12) 8,110 6,400

10,000 8,500

29,775 25,995

Since 2014, the EMFF Income has been accounted for on an accruals basis as the direct related expenditure is funded in the year after 
occurrence. By agreement with the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, employee pension contributions are refunded directly 
to the Department and are shown as a reduction in grant levels. Single service pension contributions are remitted to the Department of 
Public Expenditure and Reform.

3. Other State Grants

2016 2016 2015 2015

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

National Seabed Survey – Department of Communications, 
Energy and Natural Resources Vote 29, Subhead D.7 1,751 1,176

Databuoy – Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport Vote 
31, Subhead C.3 413 413

Marine Strategy Framework Directive (DECLG) 260 508

Natura – Department of Agriculture, Food & Marine Vote 30 
Subhead C.7 370 315

Water Framework Directive funded by EPA 1,261 964

FIRM projects funded by Department of Agriculture, Food & 
Marine Vote 154

Wave Energy Test Sites Funded  by SEAI 1,120 1,240

Galway Bay Cable Project – Funded by HEA 0 1,316

TOTAL 5,329 5,932

4. EU and Other Income

2016 2016 2015 2015

€’000 €’000       €’000 €’000

EU Contract Research 1,414 1,928

Other Income

Research Vessel Charterage

Insurance Refund

1,803

316

2,239

0

Sundry and Other Contract Income 986 937

3,105 3,176

TOTAL 4,519 5,104
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5. Wages and Salaries

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Core Staff 7,698 7,556

Contract Staff & Other Payroll Cost 4,027 3,165

11,725 10,721

The average number of employees by location is as follows:

2016 2015

No. No.

Rinville Galway 170 148

Newport 14 16

Wilton Terrace, Dublin 12 14

Ports 8 6

 204 184

       

Wages and Salaries breakdown

2016 2015

No. No.

€60,000  - €69,999 43 33

€70,000  - €79,999

€80,000  - €89,999

€90,000  - €99,999

€100,000 - €109,999

€110,000 - €119,999

€120,000 - €129,999

€130,000 - €139,999

17

2

5

1

0

0

1

15

2

5

1

0

0

1

Total salary costs include an accrual of €0.265m (2015: €0.196m) in respect of accumulated staff annual leave entitlements. Pension 
related deductions of €0.453m were made from salaries and were remitted to the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine.

The Institute has adhered to the 2009 Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies. The total remuneration paid to 
Chief Executive of the Marine Institute for 2016 was €136,496 (2015 €136,496). There were no other benefits paid as part of the 
remuneration package payments to the Chief Executive. The CEO pension entitlements do not extend beyond those of the model 
public sector scheme. The total expenses for business purposes paid to the CEO for 2016 was €15,708 (2015 €25,063) which 
includes foreign travel expenses of €3,215.The total compensation paid to key management in 2016 was €477,347 (2015 €553,996) 
plus expenses of €65,633 (2015 €61,525).
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Board Members
Details of Board Membership are contained within the Board Members section of the Annual Report. The following tables provide 
information relating to the fees and expenses paid to Board members along with details of meeting attendance in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

Board Member Category 3
Gross Fees 

2016

€

Expenses 
2016

€

Total 
2016

€

Applicable  
Board 

Meetings 
2016*

Board 
Meetings 
Attended 

2016

Term  
Commenced 

 or Ended

John Killeen Chairperson 11,970 - 11,970 10 10

Lorcán Ó Cinnéide Board Member 8,315 6,083 14,398 10 9 Term Commenced 
02/12/2015

Owen Lewis Board Member 8,315 1,643 9,958 10 9 Term Commenced 
02/12/2015

David Owens Board Member 7,695 1,477 9,172 10 8

Patricia Barker Board Member 7,695 2,206 9,901 10 10

Donal Kelly Board Member 7,695 0 7,695 10 6

Berna Grist Board Member 8,315 2,601 10,916 10 9 Term Commenced 
02/12/2015

Dermot Clohessy Board Member 8,315 2,172 10,487 10 10 Term Commenced 
02/12/2015

Alan Dobson Board Member 0 3,631 3,631 10 8

68,315 19,813 88,128

*This is the number of Board meetings during a member’s term of appointment. Alan Dobson is employed by UCC and does not 
receive any board fee.

The Audit Committee in 2016 was comprised of Prof. Patricia Barker (Chair), David Owens, Dermot Clohessy and 
Donal Kelly.

6. Vessel Operating Costs

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Payroll and Associated Costs 4,173 3,925

Fuel 843 946

Insurance 236 232

Victualling 179 164

Management Fee 232 232

Port Fees and Safety 89 121

Leases 133 133

Engineering and Maintenance Costs 863 785

Operating and Administration Costs 808 727

 7,556 7,265

The vessel operating costs exclude the cost of vessel equipment and refits which are capitalised per note 14. The vessels are owned 
by the Marine Institute and the operations of the vessels are subcontracted to a vessel management company.
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7. Travelling Expenses

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Travel & Subsistence                      

Domestic 670 626

Foreign 445  442

1,115 1,068

8. Grants and External Service Providers

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Marine Research Programme Grants and support costs (Note 13) 3,828 3,366

Seafarer Training & Education 184 212

Contractors and External Service Providers 3,830 3,375

Sample Analysis 615 431

Other Research Funding 918 730

9,375 8,114

9. Facilities Costs

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Maintenance 855 855

Light & Heat 450 493

Replacements 468 349

Other 237 195

2,010 1,892

10. Other Administration Costs 

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Rent, Rates & Other Property Costs 237 325

Journal Subscriptions, Memberships and Library Costs 138 139

Training 181 151

Stationary & Consumables 127 110

Publications & Promotional Materials 436 152

Insurance 123   200

Audit fee 17 17

Hire of Equipment & Vessels 764 628

Sundry Equipment 136 503

Other Admin Costs 465 261

2,624 2,486

The provisions of the European Communities (Late Payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations 2012 (S.I. No. 580 of 2012 ) 
apply to the Marine Institute.   €3,238 in interest and compensation was paid during 2016 (€2,849 2015).
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11. Taxation
The Marine Institute is specifically exempted under the provisions of Section 32 and Schedule 2 of the Finance Act 1994.  Accordingly, no 
taxation charge has been included in the financial statements.

12. Beaufort and Marine  Research Programme 2014  2020 (NDP 2007-2013)

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Oireachtas Income (Note 2) 10,000 10,000

Other income 61 56

Total Income on Marine Research 10,061 8,556

Expenditure on Marine Research Programme projects

Shiptime Award Payments 2.997 2,998

Marine Research Programme Grants (Note 8) 3,828 3,366

Marine Research Policy Support Payments 1,346 92

Marine Institute Capital, IT and Oceanographic Equipment 1,690 1,400

Marine Institute Vessel Equipment and Refit 200 700

Total Expenditure on Marine Research 10,061 8,556

The investment in marine research under the NDP Marine Research Sub-Programme 2007-2013 was targeted at (i) meeting objectives, (ii) 
research activities and (iii) outputs of Sea Change, the national marine knowledge, research and innovation strategy and Harnessing Our 
Ocean Wealth – An Integrated Marine Plan for Ireland (July 2012).  Funding was targeted at the Research Measures and Programmes of the 
strategy via a range of mechanisms, including competitive calls for research proposals (e.g. project-based awards, desk studies, PhD/Post-
Doctoral Fellowships, access to research vessels) and tendering for the provision of infrastructure/services.

A total of 142 projects have been supported under the Marine Research Sub-Programme of the NDP 2007-2013 with 27 of these projects 
still ongoing at the start of 2016. All of these projects were completed in 2016, except for one project that has been extended to Aug 2017.

Marine Research Programme 2014-2020
In 2014, the Marine Institute launched the Cullen Fellowship Programme, an annual programme call to provide post-graduate research 
training opportunities for students in marine science and related disciplines. Investment in this programme continued in 2015 and 2016, and 
18 Cullen Fellows have now commenced.

In order to address the goals of Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth and to maximise the use of national research facilities and infrastructure in 
2016 five research calls were published that resulted in new investment of just under €5m. This investment will fund 14 research projects 
in marine economics, marine biodiscovery, fisheries, marine technology and climate change in the marine environment. These projects will 
support approximately 25 new researcher posts over four years. 

A total of 131 projects have been supported under the Marine Research Programme 2014-2020 with 70 of these projects still ongoing at the 
end of 2016. 
 
Research Projects awarded are subject to contract which specifies that an initial payment will be made on signing of the contract; an interim 
payment(s) may be made subject to satisfactory performance with final payment made on receipt of and verification of claims. Expenditure 
is charged in the financial statements in accordance with the Marine Research Programme accounting policy. At 31 December 2016 
payments in the amount of €526,180 (2015: €191,000) were outstanding on amounts charged to the financial statements and are included 
within payables.

The total expenditure under the Marine Research Programmes from 2007 to 2016 was €79.7m. Commitments at 31 December 2016, which 
have not yet been charged to the financial statements, were €11.2 m, analysed as follows:
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           Total
           €’000
Commitments as at 1 January 2016        7,246
Committed in 2016          12,094
Paid in 2016          (8,110)
Commitments as at 31 December 2016        11,230

13. Capital Account

2016  2016 2015 2015

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Balance at 1 January 20,712 21,705

Transfer (to) /from Income and Expenditure Account

Income allocated for Capital funding 2,938 3,709

Depreciation charge for the year (4,820) (4,702)

Net Transfer (to)/from Income & Expenditure Account (1,882) (993)

Balance at 31 December 18,830 20,712

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land & 
Buildings

Research 
Vessels

Vessel 
Equipment

Fixtures 
& Fittings

Computers Motor 
Vehicles

TOTAL

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cost or Valuation

Balance at 1 January 2016

Additions

Disposals

3,743

-

-     

33,348

255

-

6,468

708

-

26,316

1,211

(30)

9,263

666

-

341

98

(34)         

79,479

2,938

(64)

Cost at 31 December 2016 3,743 33,603 7,176 27,497 9,929 405 82,353

Depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2016 1,151 20,200 5,177 23,145 8,808 286 58,767

Charge for the financial year

Disposal

75

-

1,626

-

767

- 

1,806

(30)

510

-

36

(34)

4,820

(64)

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,226 21,826 5,944 24,921 9,318        288 63,523

Net  Book Value

At 31 December 2016 2,517 11,777 1,232 2,576 611 117 18,830

At 31 December 2015 2,592 13,148 1,291 3,171 455 55 20,712

The Marine Institute’s headquarters are at Rinville, Oranmore, County Galway. This building, which is owned by the OPW, is provided 
rent free. The facility in Newport was gifted to the Institute by the Guinness Trust. The other various premises used by the Institute 
in Dublin and at the ports are held under either operating leases or rental agreements as outset in Note 18.



82 MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016

15. Receivables

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Trade Receivables 74 392

Contract Income 191 128

EMFF Accrued Income (Note 2) 4,285 3,150

Prepayments 579 781

5,129 4,451

All receivables are due within one year.  Trade receivables are shown net of impairment in respect of doubtful debts.

16. Payables

2016 2015

  €’000 €’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade Payables 1,783 1,242

Deferred Income 841 1,211

Marine Research Programme Accrual (Note 12) 526 191

Accruals 218 134

Payroll and Revenue Accruals

Holiday Pay Accrual (Note 5)

345

265

43

196

3,978 3,017

Included in payables above are the following amounts due to the Revenue Commissioners:

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Professional Service Withholding Tax 124 50

PAYE/PRSI/USC 341 43

VAT 118 49

Relevant Contract Tax 0 5

583 147

218



MARINE INSTITUTE // ANNUAL REPORT 2016  83

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

17. Superannuation Scheme and Spouse & Children’s Contributory Retirement Benefits Scheme
a. General Description of the Scheme
The Marine Institute is a statutory State agency, established under section 3(1) of the Marine Institute Act, 1991 (No. 2 of 
1991). Section 9(1) of the Act provides that the Institute shall make schemes for the granting of superannuation benefits to 
and in respect of staff members, subject to Ministerial approval. Two such approved schemes – the Marine Institute Staff 
Superannuation Scheme 1998 and the Marine Institute Spouses’ and Children’s Contributory Pension Scheme 1998 are being 
operated by the Institute. The former scheme provides retirement benefits (lump sum and pension) to staff members and 
death gratuity benefits in respect of death in service. The latter scheme provides pension benefits for the surviving spouses 
and dependent children of deceased members. Normal retirement age is a member’s 65th birthday. Both schemes are defined 
benefit superannuation schemes. Staff Superannuation contributions are paid to the Department of Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine.

For the purposes of reporting in accordance with FRS102, the Institute has been advised by a qualified actuary who has 
prepared a full valuation in order to assess the liabilities of the superannuation schemes at 31 December 2016.

The principal actuarial assumptions, per annum, are as follows:

       
 2016 2015 2014
Inflation rate increase 1.90% 1.65% 2%
Salary rate increase 2.90% 2.65% 4%
Pension rate increase 2.40% 2.15% 4%
Scheme liabilities discount rate 1.96% 2.55% 5.5%

As pension increases under the Marine Institute schemes are based on salary increases rather than on price increases, a price 
inflation assumption is not necessary for the purposes of this valuation. However, since FRS 102 requires reference to an 
assumed rate of inflation, the above rate would be appropriate for this purpose.

The average remaining future life expectancy according to the mortality tables used to determine pension liabilities, is as 
follows:
 2016 2015
Male aged 65 21.1 20.9
Female aged 65 23.6 23.5

On the basis of these and other assumptions and applying the projected unit method prescribed in FRS 102, the deferred 
funding asset and retirement benefits liability are as follows:

 2016 2015
Total accrued retirement benefits liability €51.8m €40.05m
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b. Analysis of the Total Pension Costs charged to Expenditure

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Current Service Cost 2,299 1,772

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 1,017 1,652

Employee Contributions (453) (426)

2,863 2,998

c. Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

2016 2015

€’000 €’000

Experience gains 1,251 1,694

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme (10,101) (8,466)

Actuarial gain and (loss) recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (8,850) (6,772)

d. Net Deferred Funding for Pensions Recognised in the year

2016 2015

€’000  €’000

Current Service and Interest Cost 3,316 3,424

Less benefits paid in the year (346) (346)

2,970 3,078

The Marine Institute recognises amounts owing from the State as an asset corresponding to the unfunded deferred liability for 
pensions on the basis of the set of assumptions described above and a number of past events. These events include the statutory 
basis for the establishment of the superannuation scheme and the policy and practice in relation to funding public service pensions, 
including contributions from employees and the annual estimates process.  In common with the generality of public service 
superannuation schemes, no separate fund is maintained, or assets held, to finance the payment of pensions and gratuities.

In line with the custom and practice as adopted by the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine to date, the Marine Institute 
has no evidence that this funding policy will not continue to meet such sums in accordance with current practice. The deferred 
funding asset for pensions as at 31 December 2016 amounted to €51.8million (2015: €40.5million). The quantification of the liability 
is based on the financial assumptions set out in this note. The assumptions used, which are based on professional actuarial advice, 
are advised to the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine but are not formally agreed with the Department.

e. Analysis of movement in net pension liability during the year

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Liability at the beginning of the year 40,050 30,200 28,200 27,501 26,004 25,900

Current Service Cost 2,299 1,772 1,800 1,900 1,900 2,200

Interest on Scheme Liabilities 1,017 1,652 1,500 1,500 1,400 1,400

Actuarial (Gain)Loss recognised in the  
Statement of Comprehensive Income 8,850 6,772 (816) (2,339) (1,360) (3,080)

Benefits paid in the year (346) (346) (484) (362)   (443)   (416)

Liability at the end of the year 51,870 40,050 30,200 28,200 27,501 26,004
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f. History of Defined Benefit Obligations

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Deficit benefit obligations 51,870 40,050 30,200 28,200 27,501

Experience Gains/ on Scheme Liabilities 1,251 1,694 816 2,339 1,360

Percentage of Scheme Labilities 2.4% 4.2% 2.7% 8.29% 4.96%

Assumption Gains/(Losses) on Scheme Liabilities (10,101) (8,466) - - -

Percentage of Scheme Liabilities 19.4% 21.1% 0% 0% 0%

The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income amounts to €8,370,000.

18. Operating Lease commitments
The Marine Institute occupies leased and rented premises at the following locations:

• Lease 1: Wilton Park House, Dublin 2, commenced in 2015 for a period of 4 years and 3 months and is due to terminate on 31st 
October 2019. 

• Lease 2: Parkmore Office Park, Galway, commenced in 1999 for a period of 25 years with five yearly rent reviews.

• Lease 3:  Red Sail Warehouse, Galway Harbour, commenced in 2013 for a period of 11 years with a rent review in 2018.

• Lease 4:  Industrial Land, Galway Harbour, commenced in 2014 for a period of 5 years with the option to extend to August 2024.

• Lease 5:  Industrial Land, Galway Technology Park, commenced in 1988 for a period of 999 years, with five yearly rent reviews.

• Lease 6: Foreshore lease in Spiddal, commenced in 2006 for a period of 10 years.

• Rental Agreements: The Institute has a number of rental agreements relating to piers, labs and sheds, all of which are renewable 
on an annual basis.

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, all of which relate to Land & Buildings, 
are as follows:

2016 2015

Relating to leases: €’000 €’000

Payable within 1 year 308 308

Payable between 2 and 5 years 900 1,055

Payable thereafter 342 495

1,550 1,858

Operating lease payments recognised as an expense in 2016 amounted to €308,750 (2015: €363,407).

19. Related Party Transactions
Smartbay (Ireland) Ltd, was established to implement the Programme for Research in Third-Level Institutions (PRTLI) Smartbay project 
to develop a Marine Research, Test and Demonstration Platform consisting of a communications and sensing infrastructure deployed in 
Galway Bay. The company was established as a company limited by guarantee by PRTLI project partners Dublin City University (DCU) and 
National University of Galway in Feb 2012. 

The Institute’s CEO was a Board member until May 2016 and the Head of Corporate Services of the Institute is the Secretary.  During 2016, 
the Institute advanced funding of €350,585 to Smartbay Ltd (2015 €330,125).  This expenditure is included within research expenditure in 
Note 8 to these financial statements. The payment is in respect of a contract to provide operational support in respect of the development 
of the Ocean Energy Test Site in Galway and the Atlantic Test Site at Belmullet and the balance outstanding to Smartbay Ltd at 31st Dec 
2016 was €0.
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20. Register of interests
The Institute has adopted procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and 
Reform in relation to the disclosure of interest by Board members and the Institute has adhered to these procedures. There were no 
transactions in the year in relation to the Institute’s activities in which Board members had a beneficial interest. 

21. Events after the end of the financial year
The Board is not aware of any events occurring after 31 December 2016 which affect these financial statements.

22. Board Approval
The financial statements were approved by the Board on the 30 May 2017. 
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